



Medicinal Chemistry of Isocyanides

Alberto Massarotti,[§] Francesca Brunelli,[§] Silvio Aprile, Mariateresa Giustiniano,^{*} and Gian Cesare Tron^{*}

Cite This: Chem. Re	v. 2021, 121, 10742–10788	🔇 Read	Online	
ACCESS	Metrics & More		E Article Recommendations	

ABSTRACT: In eons of evolution, isocyanides carved out a niche in the ecological systems probably thanks to their metal coordinating properties. In 1859 the first isocyanide was synthesized by humans and in 1950 the first natural isocyanide was discovered. Now, at the beginning of XXI century, hundreds of isocyanides have been isolated both in prokaryotes and eukaryotes and thousands have been synthesized in the laboratory. For some of them their ecological role is known, and their potent biological activity as antibacterial, antifungal, antimalarial, antifouling, and antitumoral compounds has been described. Notwithstanding, the isocyanides have not gained a good reputation among medicinal chemists who have erroneously considered them either too reactive or metabolically unstable, and this has restricted their main use to technical applications as ligands in coordination chemistry. The aim of this review is therefore to show the richness in biological activity of the isocyanide-containing molecules, to support the idea of using the isocyanide functional group as an unconventional pharmacophore especially useful as a metal coordinating warhead. The unhidden hope is to convince the skeptical medicinal chemists of the isocyanide potential in many areas of drug discovery and considering them in the design of future drugs.



CONTENTS

1. Introduction	10742
2. Chemical Features of the Isocyanide Group	10743
2.1. Structural Features	10743
2.2. Reactivity	10744
2.3. Coordinating Properties	10744
3. Isocyano Group in Natural Products	10745
3.1. Biosynthetic Origin and the Ecological Role	
of Isocyanide	10745
3.2. Isocyanides in Fungi and Their Biological	
Activity	10747
3.3. Isocyanides in Bacteria and Cyanobacteria	
and Their Biological Activity	10752
3.4. Isocyanides in Marine Organisms and Their	
Biological Activity	10756
4. Biological Activity of Synthetic Isocyanides	10767
4.1. Antibacterial and Antifungal	10767
4.2. Antimalarial	10767
4.3. Antiviral	10768
4.4. Plant Fungicides	10768
4.5. Insecticides and Acaricides	10768
4.6. Antitumoral	10769
4.7. Herbicides	10770
4.8. Antifouling Agents	10771
5. Interaction with Metalloproteins	10773
6. Conclusions	10777
Author Information	10778
Corresponding Authors	10778
Authors	10778

Author Contributions	10778
Notes	10778
Biographies	10778
Acknowledgments	10778
Abbreviations	10778
References	10779

1. INTRODUCTION

"Ishi no Ue nimo Sannen. . .". This is a typical Japanese proverb which can be literally translated as "on a stone for three years. .." meaning that perseverance will win at the end. We feel that this ancient wisdom suits perfectly the medicinal chemistry of isocyanides. Indeed, while isocyanides were considered barely more than an oddity at the beginning of the XX century, the latest generation of chemists has started to include them in virtually every applied field involving molecular design, and nowadays the time is ripe for their full exploitation in medicinal chemistry.

In 1950, the discovery of the potent antibiotic compound xanthocillin $(1)^1$ from the broth of *Penicillium notatum*, whose structure was solved in 1956 by Ilse Hagedorn,² violated the

Received: February 17, 2021 Published: July 1, 2021





© 2021 The Authors. Published by American Chemical Society



Figure 1. Examples of isocyanides.

taboo of the presence of isocyanides in natural products. Immediately after, it followed the seminal work of Professor Lamberto Malatesta, who reported for the first time a tetraalkyl isocyanide complex with a zerovalent nickel³ marking the beginning the modern isocyanide coordination chemistry. Thanks to the discovery of the Ugi reaction in 1959,⁴ the isocyanide moiety achieved over the following decades the status of an important reactive functional group in organic and combinatorial chemistry, and today it is widely employed in both photocatalysis and transition metal chemistry.⁵⁻⁷ It is foreseeable that the electro-invisibility of isocyanides in electrochemistry will be surely explored and exploited in the near future.⁸ The identification of methyl isocyanide (2), in interstellar clouds,^{9,10} associated with the idea of being a fossil molecule which might have participated in the reactions at the basis of origin of life,^{11,12} expands the potentiality of this fascinating and unique functional group in organic chemistry. Our recent findings have shown that, in specific molecular frameworks, the isocyanide group is metabolically stable.¹² Finally, the use of this functional group as a probe in biorthogonal reactions¹⁴ qualifies it as an unusual pharmacophoric group (according to the definition given by Prof. Ryan Shenvi). Unfortunately, isocyanides do not have a good reputation among the majority of chemists, because of their atrocious odor. However, while the repellent smell issue is real for volatile low molecular weight isocyanides (from 1 to 10 carbon atoms), higher molecular weight isocyanides are generally odorless and chemically stable. Indeed, the human nose can hardly or at all detect a molecule containing more than 15 carbon atoms. Interestingly, the unpleasant odor of light molecular weight isocyanides is lost with efficient steric hindrance, such as in the case of 2-isocyanophenyl benzoate (3)¹⁵ It has been shown recently that, by mixing an aromatic isocyanide with iodoperfluorobenzene, a solid adduct is formed by halogen bond, reducing the detection of its odor threshold by 50-fold, leaving unaltered the reactivity of the functional group.¹⁶

It is worth noting that even some liquid, low molecular weight isocyanides with less than 15 carbon atoms do not stink. For example, in one of our medicinal chemistry programs, we synthesized the two epimers of isocyano-menthol (4 and 5). While both compounds were oils, they displayed a delicate smell of grapefruit! (Figure 1).

In this review article, we aim to fill in an existing void associated with the use of isocyanides in medicinal chemistry, advocating for their renaissance supported by the vast amount of literature reporting them as structural moieties of naturally occurring products, and their associated biological activity in living systems. To the best of our knowledge, this is the very first review on the medicinal chemistry of isocyanides. However, we would like to provide the readers essential literature covering other aspects of this functional group, which has been a key inspiring source in the writing of this article.^{17–23}

2. CHEMICAL FEATURES OF THE ISOCYANIDE GROUP

2.1. Structural Features

The isocyanide is the most strange, fascinating, and unique functional group in organic chemistry. Its chameleonic nature allows for its carbon atom to be virtually the subject of all reactivities in organic chemistry. Indeed, it can act as a nucleophile attacking activated electrophiles, as an electrophile being intercepted by different nucleophiles, as a carbene involved in formal [4 + 1] cycloaddition, and as a radical acceptor to form imidoyl radicals reaction intermediates.^{6,7} Finally, the presence of a lone pair on the terminal carbon atom accounts for its strong metal coordinative properties allowing for the preparation of an endless number of coordination complexes.²⁴

The strong coordinative nature of isocyanides is probably the most important feature displayed by isocyanide containing compounds in order to exert their biological activity. Because of all the described properties of isocyanides encompassing a wide range of chemical applications, one of the authors (G.C.T.) would like to paraphrase a sentence taken from the legendary organic chemistry textbook by Morrison and Boyd (his first one, read at the age of 20 years old) by stating that "if a chemist were allowed to choose ten aliphatic compounds with which to be stranded on a desert island" today he could decide to pick isocyanides instead of alcohols.²⁵

With a length of only 1.167 Å, the small isocyanide is a linear functional group which can exist in two main resonance forms. Computational studies indicated that the carbenoid form is the most stable (Figure 2).²⁶

Figure 2. Two most important resonance forms of isocyanide account for the 84% of the weight of all resonance forms.

With the same spatial size with respect to nitrile, the isocyanide shares a very similar dipole moment (e.g., phenyl isocyanide, 3.44 D; benzonitrile, 4.51 D; methyl isocyanide, 3.83 D; and acetonitrile, 3.92 D),²⁷ an important similitude and feature a medicinal chemist should consider. Indeed, although isocyanides compounds are lipophilic, their large dipole moment aids in formation of favorable interactions in the protein binding pocket and enhances interactions with charged metalloproteins. Nitriles are poor coordinating groups in metal complexes, while isocyanides are strong chelators. Along these lines, it has also been suggested that that faint fruity odor of acetonitrile, opposed to the vile and atrocious odor of methyl isocyanide, is due to the strong ability of isocyanides to form complexes with metal ions in olfactory receptors.^{28,29}

Not only can the isocyanide group act as a potential dipole, but it has been shown it can form hydrogen bonds at the carbon terminal atom. For example, phenyl isocyanide forms a stable hydrogen bond with alcohols, and this was demonstrated both via IR and NMR spectroscopy.^{30,31} The formation of hydrogen bonds has also been observed between isocyanides and chloroform, water, phenols, and even with phenyl-acetylene.^{30–32} It is important to highlight that the formation of such a hydrogen bond does not activate the isocyanide moiety for a nucleophilic attack and therefore they could be useful in protein binding interactions.

From a chemical perspective the isocyano group is isoelectronic with the carbon monoxide group, however displaying marked differences in the nature of the coordination bonds as we will see later.

It has been shown recently that, after coordination with a metal, both the nitrogen and the carbon atom of isocyanides can act as π -hole acceptors to the electron lone pairs of various kinds of atoms.^{33,34} In the same article, the authors propose that the interaction with the nitrogen atom of isocyanide is more electrostatic and longer, while the interaction with the carbon atom of isocyanide is predominantly a charge-transfer complex which requires shorter distance in order to favor the n- π^* electron transition. This interesting interaction should not be missed in medicinal chemistry, whenever an isocyanide acts as coordinative group with a metal ion present in an active site (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Different type of π -hole interactions of metalated isocyanides (formal charges were omitted).

2.2. Reactivity

Notwithstanding the intrinsic reactivity of the isocyano group as delineated above, isocyanides are inert at physiological pH toward water, thiols, alcohols, and amines, the most common nucleophilic groups present inside a cell. The reaction with amines can only take place by means of catalytic activation by a metal and under increased temperature.5-7 Reactions with electrophiles (carbonyl and imine groups) require activation by protons or other Lewis acids. Below pH 5, isocyanides are hydrolyzed to formamides and the mechanism of hydrolysis has been debated.^{35,36} Under basic conditions the scenario is strikingly different. Although aromatic isocyanides are susceptible to be attacked by hydroxide ion,^{37,38} both aliphatic and aromatic isocyanides are in general able to withstand strong alkaline conditions. Indeed, our group successfully employed isocyanides under the strongly basic Bargellini reaction conditions without observing the formation of the amine component.³⁹

2.3. Coordinating Properties

As previously anticipated, the isocyano group has strong coordinating properties. The carbon atom is usually providing the coordination with the metal atom. However, complexes where both nitrogen and carbon are engaged, as well as ones where one isocyanide engages two vicinal metals, have been reported (Figure 4).

Regarding the interaction with the metal, aliphatic isocyanides are markedly more σ -donors and weaker π -

Review

Figure 4. Metal-isocyanide bonding interactions.

pubs.acs.org/CR

E

М

acceptors than carbon monoxide, and this reflects their ability to form complexes with different oxidation states of the metals.²⁴ When the isocyano group is directly linked to a phenyl moiety, the extended conjugation provided by the aromatic ring allows for a better delocalization for the backdonating electrons, making aromatic isocyanides better π acceptors than aliphatic ones.

As a confirmation, when electron withdrawing groups are present on the phenyl ring this property is enhanced.^{40,41} When the back-donation prevails, the linearity with the metal is lost and such complexes display a dihedral angle of $130-140^{\circ}$ between the metal and the isocyano ligand. In comparison, a standard metal methylisocyanide complex is linear with a dihedral angle of 180° .⁴² To put it in a nutshell, the σ donor of isocyanide is the lone pair on the terminal carbon atom, while the π -acceptor is the unoccupied antibonding 2 π^* which can overlap with the occupied d orbitals of the metal. It is intriguing that, by varying the nature of the alkyl/aryl substituent, it is possible to switch the electronic features of isocyanides toward either carbon monoxide-like or cyanide anion-like behaviors.

Unlike carbon monoxide and its strong backdonation leading to a quasi-irreversible bond with the metal, isocyanides are able to dissociate when the backdonation is moderate.

As a rule of thumb, it is easy to remember that aromatic isocyanides form stronger bonds with the metal compared to aliphatic ones because of their enhanced backdonation (e.g., phenyisocyanide is a stronger ligand than methylisocyanide; Figure 5).⁴³

$$M \stackrel{\mathsf{R}}{\leftarrow} C=N \stackrel{\mathsf{R}}{\longrightarrow} 0 \stackrel{\mathsf{O}}{\longrightarrow} 0$$

Figure 5. Old vs new representation of a metal-isocyanide bond.

It is important to highlight the notable differences between carbon monoxide, cyanide anion, and isocyanides in the formation of iron complexes. CO binds exclusively to ferrous (Fe II) heme with an affinity 220 times greater than oxygen and a half-time between 200 and 360 min.44,45 On the contrary, the cyanide ion has a preference for binding the ferric (Fe III) heme (methemoglobin) and other cytochromes with ferric ion (e.g., cytochrome c oxidase). Isocyanides lay halfway between CO and CN⁻, and according to the nature and steric bulk of R, they can interact only with specific iron proteins, either with ferric or ferrous heme. The nature of the metal also plays a decisive role on the quality of the backdonation. Usually, metals of group IB and IIB like copper, silver and zinc form essentially only σ -bonds with isocyanides, resulting in unstable complexes with high dissociation propensity. On the other hand, iron can actively participate to the backdonation forming stable complexes. However, one should keep in mind that the interaction between the metal and the isocyano group can alter its reactivity, as discussed earlier. Actually, two situations are possible where ligands can be (i) innocent, where the isocyano group is unreactive, and complexes of this type are indefinitely air-stable, and (ii) noninnocent, where an activated isocyano group will react with nucleophiles (alcohols, amines, and thiols).⁴⁶ In the latter, the coordination with the metal has changed the electron density on the isocyanide carbon atom, which is now prone to insertion reactions via nucleophilic attack. Infrared analysis can reveal the innocent vs the noninnocent scenario. Upon spectra collection, it is possible to calculate the result of the related stretching peaks from the following equation:

$$\Delta v(\text{NC}) = v(\text{NC})_{\text{coord}} - v(\text{NC})_{\text{free.}}$$
(1)

A value greater than 40 cm⁻¹ indicates that the isocyanide can be intercepted by nucleophilic agents (Figure 6).^{47,48}

$$\begin{array}{c} \bigcirc & \oplus \\ M-C\equiv N-R & \xrightarrow{NuH} & M=C \\ & & Nu \\ & & Nu \\ Nu= 0, N, S \end{array}$$

Figure 6. Metal-assisted isocyanide insertion.

This increased reactivity of the metal-coordinated isocyano group could be exploited in medicinal chemistry by employing the isocyano moiety as a strategic group for the design of covalent inhibitors directed to the active site against a wide range of metalloproteins.

3. ISOCYANO GROUP IN NATURAL PRODUCTS

After the identification of xanthocillin in the fifties, hundreds of secondary metabolites containing the isocyano group have been isolated both from prokaryotes (bacteria and cyanobacteria) and eukaryotes (fungi and marine sponges). It is interesting to note that the majority of the isocyanide metabolite producer organisms are sponges and cyanobacteria. Sponges are primitive organisms originated around 500 000 years ago, with fossils dating back to the Precambrian, while cyanobacteria are older, with fossil records unambiguously dated at 1.89–1.84 Ga.⁴⁹ Although, the ecological role of the said metabolites is barely known, many of them have been shown to possess potent antibacterial, antifungal, and antiprotozoal activities when tested. Isocyanoterpenes have also been found on the skin of nudibranchs, brightly colored marine mollusks devoid of a protective shell. Interestingly, it has been shown nudibranchs are not able to synthesize these compounds on their own, but they acquired them through their diet from specific sponges.^{50,51} It is reasonable to ascribe a defensive role to these metabolites, since many isocyanoterpenes possess ichthyotoxicity. Indeed, predators for nudibranchs are quite rare.^{52,53} Although it is generally believed that plants are not able to synthesize isocyanides, a 2012 publication reported the identification of the isocyanide named isocyalexin A (6) produced by Rutabaga roots (Brassica napus, Figure 7), as the first phytochemical isocyanide.⁵⁴ It should be noted that the authors were able to isolate only tiny



isocyalexin A

amounts of this compound from the rutabaga roots, therefore being unable to provide a full characterization at first. However, once they exposed to UV-light for 90 min rutabaga root slices, compound 6 was isolated in higher quantities and finally fully characterized. Compound 6 showed antifungal activity by inhibiting the mycelia growth, especially against the plant pathogenic fungi Rhizoctonia solani,54 suggesting the possible ecological role played by this isocyanide. In a following publication, the study of the biosynthesis of 6unveiled its corresponding O-sulfatated aldoximes as the intermediate which undergoes a Beckmann rearrangement resulting in the formation of the isocyano group.⁵⁵ Formation of isocyanides via Beckmann rearrangement of activated aldoximes has already been reported in literature.^{56,57} Although this is the only article to date reporting the occurrence of isocyanides in plants, it can serve as a source of inspiration for phytochemists aiming for the finding of novel secondary metabolites.

3.1. Biosynthetic Origin and the Ecological Role of Isocyanide

Several studies have shown the presence of at least three different operating mechanisms used by cells to graft the isocyano group in a secondary metabolite. Contrary to the simpler assumptions: (i) the cyanide ion is not the sole group involved in the formation of the isocyano moiety; (ii) the classic synthetic workbench procedure for the synthesis of isocyanides (that is amine \rightarrow formamide \rightarrow isocyanide), is not at work in Nature. Although in many cases isocyanoterpenes are also accompanied by the corresponding formamides, landmark was the work of Professor Giulio Sodano in Naples using a ¹⁴C of the formamide axamide-1, the precursor of the isocyanide axisonitrile-1 previously isolated by the sponge Axinella cannabina. Indeed, after 5 days of feeding with the radioactive formamide, no radiolabeled isocyanide was detected, but only ¹⁴C-axamide-1. This experiment proved that formamides are not the precursor of isocyanide but are the result of decomposition of isocyanide.⁵⁸ Similar results were later obtained using the radiolabeled formamide of 2isocyanopupukeane. Even in this case no detection of the related isocyanide has been detected.59

The first general biosynthetic pathway is characterized by a late-stage functionalization, with the insertion of the isocyano group at the end of the synthesis. This is a common case scenario for the terpene-isocyanides of marine origin. This pathway was shown for the first time by Professor Mary Garson, unveiling the biosynthesis of 7,20-diisocyanoadocian, a terpene isolated from the *Amphimendon terpenensis* sponge. In these organisms, hydrogen cyanide is formed by the action of glycine dehydrogenase decomposing glycine in HCN and CO₂. Hydrogen cyanide intercepts the generated tertiary carbocation of sesquiterpenes reacting in a stereocontrolled way through an enzyme assisted mechanism.^{60,61} It is possible that these sponges have developed cyanide resistant respiratory systems in order to survive the highly toxic cyanide ion (Figure 8)



Figure 8. Typical mechanism for the formation of marine isocyanides.



Figure 9. Typical biochemical pathway for the synthesis of terrestrial isocyanides.



Figure 10. Biosynthetic routes of tyrosine derived isocyanides.



Figure 11. Biochemical pathway for the synthesis of isocyanides produced by Actinobacteria.

Further studies confirmed the same synthetic pathway for the 2 and 9-isocyanopupukeanane and for the kalihinol F.^{59,62} The thiocyanate group also plays a great role as precursor of marine isocyanides. Indeed, while some thiocyanoterpenes derive from isocyano analogues, it has been demonstrated that for sponges of genus *Axynyssa* the reversed pathway is at work (from isothiocyanoterpene to isocyanoterpene).⁶³

The second general biosynthetic pathway is characterized by an early stage functionalization where the formation of the isocyano group derives from the nitrogen of amino acids, especially tyrosine and tryptophan, followed by an ironmediated decarboxylation. Further diversification reactions increase the structural complexity. This pathway occurs mainly in fungi and bacteria. Historically, early studies on xanthocillin allowed for the discovery of this path by feeding *Penicilllum notatum* strains with tyrosine-2-¹⁴C-¹⁵N and in turn isolating ¹⁵N xanthocillin.⁶⁴ Recently two genes involved in the synthesis of the indole antibiotic B371 (**11**) named *isnA* and *isnB* revealed the origin of the isocyano group. These two enzymes are generally known as isonitrile synthases (ISNs) or isocyanide synthases (ICSs), and they can convert the amino group of aromatic amino acids into an isocyanide. Surprisingly, the carbon atom of the isocyanide derives from the C-2 carbon atom of ribulose-5-phosphate (8)^{65,66} and the two key mechanistic steps are the imine formation between the keto group of ribulose and the amine of tryptophan (7), and the decarboxylative step mediated by an iron containing enzyme (Figure 9).

Similar enzymes named PvcA and PvcB are involved in the synthesis of tyrosine derived isocyano compounds, and studies for the decarboxylative step by the PvcB enzyme have been reported.^{67,68} The enzyme PvcB is like the InsB enzyme a α -ketoglutarate dependent oxygenase. In the case of the compound paerucumarin (15) a third gene PvcC is involved. It catalyzes the conversion from the open form to paerucumarin by hydroxylation-oxidation and cyclization (Figure 10).⁶⁸

Several other related genes implicated in the mechanisms of isocyanide formation in fungi, bacteria, and cyanobacteria have been identified from other species.

The third general biosynthetic pathway for the formation of the isocyano group has been reported in the synthesis of natural product SF2369 (20) from *Actinobacteria*. In this case the isocyano group solely derives from glycine. The nonheme iron(II) α -ketoglutarate decarboxylase ScoE catalyzes the formation of the isocyano group through an oxidative decarboxylation.⁶⁹ Recent evidence indicates that after dehydrogenative formation of the imine, the decarboxylation proceeds via enzyme mediated H-abstraction⁷⁰ (Figure 11).

Do note that, due to the abundance of such gene orthologues in other species, it is foreseeable to expect future discoveries of several isocyanide containing natural products.^{68,71–73}

Beyond isocyanide synthases, many microorganisms have acquired the ability to degrade the isocyano group to formamide by using a family of enzymes called isocyanide (isonitrile) hydratase. To date, three of those enzymes have been characterized: one obtained by *Pseudomonas putida*, one from *Streptomyces thioluteus*, and the other by *Arthrobacter pascens*.^{74–76} The said enzymes are inducible, and they can also transform simple synthetic isocyanides such as cyclohexyl-, benzyl-, pentyl, *tert*-butyl isocyanide, methyl-, and ethyl-isocyanoacetate. Interestingly, it was shown that isocyanides can be converted to amine by a nitrile hydratase from *Rhodococcus*.⁷⁷

Although it is impossible to know all the ecological roles associated with every isocyanide Nature has synthesized, researchers have found the main function for some of them. For example, some insect-pathogenic Gram negative bacteria (*Xenorhabdus nematophila* and *Photorhabdus luminescens*) synthesize and display on their cell surface rhabduscin (21), an amidoglycosil vinyl isocyanide, which has been shown to inhibit the enzyme phenoloxidase at low nM digits. This enzyme is critical for the innate immune system of insects as it is responsible for the production of the hard polymeric compound melanin, which can trap microbial pathogens. A similar behavior has been described for byelyankacin (22) isolated from *Enterobacter* species, which is able to inhibit phenoloxidase as well (Figure 12).⁷⁸

This inhibitory action has been reported both on insect phenolooxidases as well as mushroom and human tyrosinases.



Figure 12. Chemical structure of rhabduscin (21) and byelyankacin (22).

Interestingly the aglycone part of rhabduscin (21) maintains its activity, and it is the most potent tyrosinase inhibitors⁷⁸ (Table 1). Beyond their natural role, these compounds can be used as skin-whitening agents as they are by far more active than kojic acid, a successful commercial cosmetic skin whitening. The replacement of the isocyano group with a nitrile in this family of compounds, is associated with the complete loss of inhibitory activity toward the copper containing enzyme tyrosinases for this family of compounds. It is therefore plausible to envision an inhibitory mechanism of action enabled by the isocyano functional group, acting as a copper-coordinating moiety.

Finally, paerucumarin **15** is responsible for two roles. It regulates the events in the biofilm synthesis and facilitates the induction of bacterial siderophores in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, chelating and reducing the iron levels within the extracellular environment.⁷⁹

3.2. Isocyanides in Fungi and Their Biological Activity

As discussed in the introduction, the very first isolated natural isocyanide was xanthocillin X (1), a deeply yellow, light sensitive compound discovered in 1950 by Rothe from the mold of *Penicillum notatum* Wrestling.^{1,80,81} Later related analogues were isolated, displaying point variations for the substituents on the aromatic rings, such as xanthocillins Y1 (23) and Y2 (24; Figure 13).

Early studies on the metabolic origin of xanthocillin X demonstrated that the isocyanide nitrogen atom derives from tyrosine.⁶⁴ Unsurprisingly, xanthocillin X proved to possess a potent antibiotic activity against both Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria, as well as against yeasts and fungi, inducing slow onset of bacterial resistance in serial passages (Table 2).^{82–84} It was sold for more than 15 years under the commercial name of Brevicid and used as topical antibiotic.⁸⁴ It showed a synergistic effect with the antibiotic tyrothricin⁸⁵ and this mixture was used topically.⁸⁶

Recently, the genes involved in its biosynthesis were identified in the fungi Aspergillus fumigatus, a well-known opportunistic human pathogen. Interestingly copper deprivation causes an increased transcriptional activity of these genes, indicating a pivotal role for xanthocillin X in maintaining copper homeostasis. Xanthocillin X acts then as a chalkophore to bind copper in the environment and transport it back inside the fungus for its employment in copper-dependent enzymes. Four isocyanide synthases were identified within the fungus genome and four xanthocillins derivatives were abundantly produced, while in the presence of copper their production was highly reduced. More specifically, the enzyme named XanB converts tyrosine in intermediate 14, and then XanG catalyzes the oxidative dimerization to give xanthocillin X. XanG is a cytochrome P450 monooxygenase, homologue of the yeast enzyme Dit2, which is involved in the dimerization of tyrosine resulting in N,N-bisformyl dityrosine, a constituent of the

Table 1. IC₅₀ Value for the Inhibition of Mushroom Tyrosinase and Phenoloxidase from Galleria mellonella (Waxmoth Larvae)





Figure 13. Xanthocillin X (1) and its derivatives.

E. coli

B. subtilis

C. tetani

C. albicans

M tuberculosis

Table 2. Partial Antibiotic Spectrum of Xanthocillin X (1)

MIC ($\mu g/mL$) MIC ($\mu g/mL$) microorganism microorganism E. coli 0.2 1.6 P. aeruginosa 0.2 S. aureus < 0.1 0.5 B. subtilis < 0.1 0.4 0.2 K. pneumonia

P. aeruginosa

C. albicans

spore wall. Hydrolysis of the isocyano group to give the formamido analogue is mediated by the isocyanide hydratase XanA which can aid with the isocyanide detoxification.^{87,88} Interestingly, the coculture of Aspergillus fumigatus and the bacteria Streptomyces peucetius, in competition for nutrients, stimulated the production of secondary metabolites such as the xanthocillin analogue BU-4704 (27) along with its diformamide analogue fumiformamide. Fumiformanide revealed strong cytotoxic activity (IC₅₀ between 0.65 and 1.12 μ M) against a panel of cancer cell lines.⁸⁹

5.0

4.0

The biological activity of BU-4704 was previously reported indicating broad spectrum activity against Gram + and Grambacteria and fungi (Table 3). Furthermore, this compound was cytotoxic against human colon carcinoma cells (HCT-116) and murine melanoma B16–F10 with an activity of 0.63 μ g/ mL and 4.3 μ g/mL.^{90,91}

Recently xanthocillin X was isolated from Penicillum commune in a deep-sea sediment. The study of its antibacterial and antitumoral profile confirmed its strong antibacterial activity against Staphylococcus aureus (MIC = $2 \mu g/mL$) and Escherichia coli (MIC = 1 μ g/mL), together with being cytotoxic against several cancer cell lines (e.g., MCF-7, HepG2, MDA-MB-231, Du145, HeLa, and H460) with an activity

between 7.0 and 12 μ g/mL.⁹² Further studies revealed that its cytotoxicity against HepG2 cancer cells is ascribed to a significant induced autophagy via a noncanonical signal pathway involving class III PI3K/Beclin 1 and MEK/ERK signaling pathways.⁹³ On the other hand, when a phenotypic screening method based on changes in cell morphology of Penicillium oryzae was carried out, xanthocillin X was shown to induce vacuolization, a signal of apoptosis. Possible biological targets might be complex V, PLC, and prostaglandin synthetases.

Table 3. Partial Antibiotic Spectrum of BU-4704 (27)

To this point, a very recent publication disclosed the mechanism of action of xanthocillin X. At first, the authors confirmed the broad antibacterial activity of 1, both on Gram + and -, in particular against Acinetobacter baumannii (MIC 0.25–0.5 μ M), while being inactive against *Enterococcus* faecalis. Despite its ability to chelate copper(II), demonstrated via metal-ligand fluorescent titration, this seems not to be the mechanism responsible for its antibacterial activity. Indeed, xanthocillin dimethyl ether 26 is not able to chelate copper(II) but, in an Acinetobacter baumannii knockout strain of two efflux pumps, maintains antibacterial activity. Sequencing the xanthocillin-resistant strains of Acinetobacter baumannii, they were able to identify a mutation in the protein porphobili-

>50

>50

	tibacteriar (mic µg	g/ IIIL) and Cytotox	$10^{10}_{50} \mu m$) of 1 and 20			
	A. baumannii	K. pneumoniae	P. aeruginosa	SF-268	MCF-7	HepG2	A549
1	0.1	0.1	0.1	1.23	0.26	1.34	0.38
23	0.5	0.5	8	2.11	3.65	4.50	5.04
	MeO	Me CN OMe		MeO-		ОМе	
		28	29		30		
	MeO-		MeO-CN	MeO-	CN CN		
		31	32		33		
	МеО	Mec NC		MeO—⟨ ⊢OMe		—OMe	
		34	35		36		

Table 4. Antibacterial (MIC μ g/mL) and Cytotoxic Activity (IC₅₀ μ M) of 1 and 23

Figure 14. Simplified analogues of xanthocillin X dimethyl ether (26).

Chemical Reviews

nogen synthase, the enzyme which catalyzes the formation of porphobilinogen from 5-aminolevulinic acid. Porphobilinogen is the key intermediate in the formation of all tetrapyrroles such as heme and the latter acts as negative feedback for the activity of the enzyme. They were able to demonstrate that xanthocillin X binds the iron atom of iron protoporphyrin X, sequestrating it. Reduced levels of heme leads to a misregulation in heme-dependent enzymes, including suppressed inhibition of porphobilinogen synthase. The net consequence is a high production and accumulation of porphyrins, thus generating toxicity.⁹⁵

A series of metabolites, including xanthocillin Y1 (3), were isolated from an Antarctic derived *Penicillium chrysogenum* strain, with xanthocillin X (1) displaying dominant activity with a titer of 0.9 g/L (Table 4). These two compounds demonstrated significant cytotoxicity on four cancer cell lines, as well as antibacterial activity against Gram-negative bacteria (*Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Acinetobacter baumannii*, and *Klebsiella pneumonie*) with a MIC of 0.125 μ g/mL.⁹⁶

Xanthocillin X monomethyl ether (25) was isolated from the fungus Dichotomyces albus.97 This compound displayed wide antibacterial activity against Gram-positive and negative bacteria as well as against certain fungi. Cytotoxic activity on HeLa cells was also reported with a LD₅₀ of 0.3 μ g/mL as well as an in vitro antiviral activity against plaque formation of the Newcastle disease virus (NDV), which is responsible for an avian disease transmissible to humans. Unfortunately, the compound proved to be toxic on mice. The acute LD₅₀ was 40 mg/kg, but at doses higher than 200 μ g/mouse/day, a rapid decrease in body weight followed by animal death was recorded, and for this reason its development was discontinued. Its antiviral activity is to ascribe to the inhibition of protein synthesis in virus infected cells. In more detail, complete inhibition of the synthesis of hemagglutinin (HA) was reported 1 h after the treatment with xanthocillin X monomethyl ether.98

Xanthocillin X monoethyl ether was also shown to reversibly inhibit prostaglandin synthesis by blocking the conversion of arachidonic acid into endoperoxide prostaglandin H₂ at 20 μ M.⁹⁹

Xanthocillin X dimethyl ether (26) was shown to be efficacious against many solid tumors maintaining a low toxicity in mouse models. IC₅₀ against several cancer cell lines have been reported (e.g., Lung Lewis carcinoma $IC_{50} = 0.46$ μ g/mL/Meth-A, IC₅₀ = 0.71 μ g/mL). Peritoneal injection on Balb/c mice with a daily dose of 30 mg/kg for 4 consecutive days allowed for an 88.5% reduction of tumor growth. In the same patent, acute toxicity of xanthocillin X dimethyl ether was reported at 120 mg/kg.¹⁰⁰ Recently cytotoxicity of xanthocillin X dimethyl ether on other cancer cell lines has been reported, showing significant activity against A2780T (IC₅₀ = 0.45 μ M), Calu3 (IC₅₀ = 0.52 μ M), HepG2 (IC₅₀ = 1.21 μ M), MDA-MB-435 ($IC_{50} = 1.78 \ \mu\text{M}$), ACHN ($IC_{50} = 6.87 \ \mu\text{M}$), and RD ($IC_{50} = 48.70 \ \mu\text{M}$).¹⁰¹ To note that the diformamide analogue of xanthocillin Y2, named cordyformamide has been isolated from fungus Cordyceps brunnearubra. Conversely to its parent compounds, this compound has only a modest cytotoxicity against human breast cancer (IC₅₀ = 39 μ M) and no cytotoxicity against other cancer cell lines (e.g., KB cells, NCI-H187) and Vero cells.¹⁰² Xanthocillin monomethyl ether mimics the action of thrombopoietin (TPO) to the same extent, inducing cell proliferation of TPO sensitive human leukemia cell lines with an EC_{50} of 4.0 ng/mL.¹⁰³ A recent synthesis of xanthocillins^{104,105} enabled the preparation of natural and unnatural xanthocillins and their evaluation as agonists on the thrombopoietin receptor (Figure 14).

Review

While xanthocillin X and compound 34 were inactive, compounds 25 and 26 displayed activity. The E,E isomer of xanthocillin dimethyl ether (36) was also inactive, suggesting that the configuration Z,Z found in the natural products is essential for the activity. The removal of one isocyanide group (28), reduced the activity without suppressing it. Compound 29 was still active, while compound 30 was inactive. Compounds 32 and 33 were still active but with a reduced potency. Interestingly the light stable terphenyl derivative 35 showed the same potency of xanthocillin X dimethyl ether 26.¹⁰⁶

Xanthoascin (37) was isolated from *Aspergillus candidus*.¹⁰⁷ The compound is cytotoxic toward HeLa cells, but it was shown to be highly hepatic and cardiotoxic and teratogenic in animal models (Figure 15).



Figure 15. Xanthoascin (37), leptocillin (38), and its degradation product 39.

Interestingly, xanthoascin demonstrated activity against phytopathogens by displaying low inhibition levels (MIC = $0.31 \,\mu$ g/mL) against the bacteria *Clavibacter michiganense*. This bacterium is responsible for the potato ring rot, one of the most important seed potato diseases.¹⁰⁸

Leptocillin (38; Figure 15; previously known as MK4588) was isolated by *Leptosphaeria*. This compound has a limited antibiotic activity and is moderately stable under neutral conditions but unstable under acidic and basic media. Under basic conditions, it is degraded to the more potent compound 39 (Figure 15 and Table 5).¹⁰⁹

Table 5. Selected Antibacterial Activity (MIC μ g/mL) of 38 and 39

compound	S. aureus	B. anthracis	E. coli	K. pneumoniae	P. aeruginosa
38	25	6.25	>100	1.56	>100
39	6.25	6.25	>100	0.78	>100

Recently, antibiotics related to leptocillin were isolated from the filamentous fungus *Ophiosphaerella korrae* and named MDN 0057/0058/0059/0060 (**40–43**; Figure 16). These



compounds possess a potent antibacterial action against Gram negative bacteria with a MIC of 0.2 μ g/mL against *Klebsiella* pneumonia, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Acinetobacter baumannii, and Escherichia coli. No antibacterial activity was observed against *Staphylococcus aureus* and on eukaryotic cells like HepG2 and Fa2N4. Although the mechanism of action is not fully elucidated, these compounds seem to act by inhibiting the cell wall synthesis.¹¹⁰

Other analogues of xantocillin named darlucin A (44) and B (45; Figure 17) were isolated from *Darluca filum*. In this case, these molecules feature a 1,2-diisocyanoalkene moiety instead of a bis-vinylen diisocyanide. This set of darlucin compounds was also characterized by a strong antimicrobial activity against several bacterial strains (MIC between 2.5 and 5 μ g/mL), while displaying a weak cytotoxicity on several cancer cell lines (IC₅₀ between 25 and 50 μ M).¹¹¹



Figure 17. Darlucin A (44), darlucin B (45), and L970843/L970844 (46).

From an unidentified fungal strain, two novel isomeric xanthocillin-like derivatives were isolated and named L970843 and L970844 (46). They displayed good activity against bacterial and fungal strains.¹¹²

From genus *Trichoderma*, a series of rather unstable and reactive cyclopentane isocyanides antibiotics have been isolated and named isonitrin and isonitric acids (47–60; Figure 18 and Table 6).^{113–117} In these compounds an isocyanide moiety is grafted on a cyclopentane ring, along with the presence of one or more reactive epoxides or Michael acceptors. Interestingly, in the 1970s the ingestion of grass containing *Trichoderma* species has been associated with the ovine ill thrift, a sheep disease characterized by a slower growth rate of livestock. This phenomenon is to ascribe to the antibiotic action of these isocyanides against bacteria in the rumen involved in the cellulose digestion.^{118–120} The biological effect of these isocyanides was blocked when nickel salts were added to broth culture, due to the induction of metal assisted isocyanide polymerization.

The chemical complexity of these low molecular weight isocyanides is noteworthy. For example, isonitrin C is characterized by six contiguous chiral centers. Isonitrin A appears to be the best antibiotic of this family, with a good activity against both Gram positive and negative bacteria, yeast, and fungi. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* was not killed by these antibiotics. The acute toxicity of these antibiotics was also evaluated by injection into mice and LD₅₀s calculated (isonitrin A = 160 mg/kg; isonitrin B = 300 mg/kg; isonitrin C = 100 mg/kg; isonitrin E = 240 mg/kg; Figure 18).¹²¹

A novel cyclopentane isocyanide named MR304A (58) was isolated in 1995 from the culture broth of *Trichoderma harzianum*. This compound was shown to inhibit mushroom tyrosinase in a noncompetitive way with respect to tyrosine, displaying an IC₅₀ of 7.5 μ g/mL and a K_i of 40 μ M. The compound was also able to inhibit the melanogenesis of B16 melanoma cells with an IC₅₀ of 1.0 μ g/mL.¹²²

Review



Figure 18. Isocyanides isolated from Trichoderma species.

Table 6. Selected Antibacterial-Antifungal Activity (MIC μ g/mL) of 47–50 and 57

microorganism	47	48	49	50	57
S. aureus	1.56	200	25	>200	6.25
K. pneumoniae	6.25	>200	100	>200	50
P. aeruginosa	>200	200	100	>200	100
C. albicans	6.25	>200	25	12.5	>200
S. cerevisiae	3.13	50	25	ND	>200

Other compounds derived from *Trichoderma* (55 and 59) showed to be able to block the synthesis of melanin with an IC₅₀ on mushroom tyrosinase of 1.72 and 47 μ M, respectively. Furthermore, they were able to inhibit melanin synthesis in B16 melanoma cell with a MICof 0.1 and 2.2 μ M and a cytotoxicity of 9.8 and 54.3 μ M. Compound 55 was able to inhibit tyrosinase with an IC₅₀ of 1.4 nM being thousands of times more active than kojic acid and hydroquinone (IC₅₀ = 9.1 μ M)¹²³ and to block the PdrSP multidrug transporter in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, although high concentration were required (IC₅₀ = 225 μ M).¹²⁴

The isocyanide natural product named A-32380A (61) was isolated from *Pyranochaeta*, a genus of fungal plant pathogen,¹²⁵ while the compound brassicicolin A (62) was isolated from *Alternaria brassicicola*,¹²⁶ a phytopathogenic fungus responsible for the black spot disease in *Brassica* species (Figure 19). A recent study has shown that brassicicolin A is responsible for the foliar lesions on crucifer plants.^{127,128}

Both molecules derive from the chemical manipulation of mannitol. Notwithstanding the poor absorption of these polar compounds, the antimicrobial activity of these isocyanides is excellent with a broad activity against Gram positive bacteria. A-32390A was also fungistatic against *Candida albicans* with a minimal inhibitory concentration of 2.5 μ g/disc while brassicicolin A was inactive against *Candida. Cryptococcus neoformans* and *Histoplasma capsulatum* were also killed by A-32390A but at higher concentration (MIC = 10 μ g/disc).





Furthermore, A-32390A was able to inhibit dopamine β -hydroxylase in a noncompetitive manner, a copper-containing protein, with an IC₅₀ of 1.7 μ g cm⁻³ and a K_i of 3 μ M,¹²⁹ while displaying an acute toxicity (LD₅₀) on mice greater than 1 g/kg.¹²⁵

Two novel isocyano metabolites closely related to brassicicolin A, named maculansins A (63) and B (64), were discovered from *Leptosphaeria maculans* (Figure 20).¹³⁰ No biological activity has been reported for these metabolites



Figure 20. Maculansin A and B.

Chemical Reviews

pubs.acs.org/CR

3.3. Isocyanides in Bacteria and Cyanobacteria and Their Biological Activity

Bacteria and cyanobacteria produce many isocyano derived compounds, using the same biosynthetic pathways as fungus. The previously discussed paerucumarin (15) is a coumarin containing isocyanide, isolated for the first time from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*.^{66,68} The name derives from the contraction of *P. aeruginosa* and coumarin. The bacteria release this isocyanide in the surrounding environment.⁷⁹ There, it is involved in the generation of biofilm on solid surfaces. Paerucumarin is also able to bind iron ions without acting as a siderophore.¹³¹ Its role is therefore to lower the environmental concentration of iron ions, inducing the production of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* siderophores.

The compound named SF2768 (65) has been isolated from Streptomyces thioluteus. This compound contains two isocyanide moieties and it primarily acts as chalkophore and tyrosinase inhibitor, with an activity comparable with those of kojic acid.¹³² The presence of the two isocyano groups is mandatory for the chalkophore action as the mono isocyanide derivative is 30-fold less active, while its diformamide analogue was completely unable to chelate copper. Copper ions are bound with a 1:2 ratio to SF2768. The activity of SF2768 against a range of bacteria is usually moderate (inhibitory rate of 60% at 100 μ M) and it could be ascribed to its activity as chalkophore resulting in an unselective depletion of copper toward most microorganisms. This copper shortage translates into a reduced activity of copper dependent enzymes such as cytochrome c oxidase. As a comparison, the copper chelating activity of SF2768 has an EC₅₀ = 82.2 μ M with respect to an EC_{50} of 358.3 μ M of EDTA. Other analogues of SF2768 have been identified (SF2768I, SF2768K, SF2768L) and probably they share a similar mechanism of action.¹³³ Streptomyces thioluteus also produces an isonitrile hydratase SfaF which serves as detoxifying enzyme for the bacteria.⁷⁵ The total synthesis of SF2768 along with the synthesis of related acyclic analogues (66-68) has also been reported (Figure 21)),¹³⁴ together with a possible binding mode (69) for the synthesized acyclic analogues (Figure 22).



Figure 21. SF2768 and its open-ring analogues.

Hazimycin 5 and 6 (70) are a class of moderately active antibiotics isolated from the bacterial strain *Micromonospora echinospora*. Chemically speaking, they are tyrosine dimer analogues containing two isocyano groups. The bis-isocyano group is fundamental for the antimicrobial activity. Hazimycins have shown a broad antibiotic spectrum against *Pseudomonas*, *Candida, Staphylococcus, Sarcina,* and *Escherichia coli* (Table 7).^{135,136} It is important to highlight that the subcutaneous LD₅₀ for this type of molecules is 4–20 times higher than PD₅₀.¹³⁶

Indisocin (71) is a highly unstable compound obtained from *Nocardia blackwellii* which showed to be strongly active against



Figure 22. Proposed copper binding mode for a ring-opened analogue of SF2768. The square planar geometry was reported in the original paper, but probably it should be tetrahedral (4-coordinate d10 metal).

Table 7. Selected Antimicrobial Activity (MIC μ g/mL) of Hazimycin 5 and 6 Mixture (70)

microorganism	hazimycin 5 and 6 (70)
Staphylococcus sp.	8
S. griseus	17.5
Klebsiella sp.	>128
Pseudomonas sp.	>128
C. albicans	17.5
S. cerevisiae	17.5
Salmonella sp.	>128

Gram + and – bacteria and fungi. Unnatural *N*-methylidisocin was also prepared and the compound maintained similar potency to the parent compound (Figure 23; Table 8).¹³⁷



The antibiotic aerocyanidin (72) was isolated from bacillus *Chromobacterium violaceum*. It is a fatty acid analogue,

Table 8. Selected Antimicrobial Activity (MIC μ g/mL)) of
Indisocin and N-Methylindisocin	

microorganism	indisocin (71)	N-methylindisocin
B. anthracis	0.2	1.56
S. aureus 209P	0.05	0.1
E. coli K-12	0.2	0.78
K. pneumoniae	0.2	0.39
P. auruginosa	25	25
S. typhi	0.78	3.12
A. niger	10	ND
C. albicans	10	ND
S. cerevisiae	2.5	ND

containing an isocyano epoxide. This compound shows a potent activity against Gram positive bacteria, especially against Staphylococcus aureus (MIC < $0.05 \ \mu g/mL$; Table 9).

Table 9. Selected Antimicrobial Activity (MIC μ g/mL) of Aerocyanidin (72)

microorganism	aerocyanidin (72)
S. aureus	<0.05
S. faecalis	0.2
K. pneumoniae	>50
P. mirabilis	1.6
P. aeruginosa	>50
E. coli SC10909	1.6

One of its mode of actions is correlated with its ability to release cvanide anions under basic and acidic conditions (pH >8 and <4). Indeed, the increased pH activates the secondary alcohol triggering a Payne rearrangement with the formation of a pseudocyanidrin, which collapses liberating the cyanide ion (Figure 24).¹³⁸ Although its toxicity is similar to that sodium cyanide, its activity against S. aureus in an agar diffusion assay is larger than sodium cyanide suggesting that the release of the cyanide anion cannot be the only mechanism of action.

YM-47515 (75) from Micromonospora echinospora is a homologue of aerocyanidin displaying the same mechanism of action and spectrum of activity.¹³⁹

Another related antibiotic is amycomicin (76; Figure 25), discovered by employing an approach that exploites the ability of microbial communities to produce antibiotics that are not produced by any single member. In the said experiment, Amycolatopsis sp. AA4 was the producing strain while Streptomyces coelicolor M145 was the inducing strain. Antibiotic 76 differs from aereocyanidin for the presence of a keto group on the paraffinic chain and a slightly different pattern of substitution for the epoxide. Its antibiotic activity is similar to those of aerocyanidin, being highly potent against S. aureus (MIC approximately 30 nM). This compound is able to inhibit the enzyme β -ketoacyl-acyl carrier protein synthases III (FabH) which is involved in fatty acid biosynthesis. The

pubs.acs.org/CR

high specificity of this antibiotic for Staphilococcus aureus and its inefficacy against other bacteria (e.g., Bacillus subtilis) is ascribed to structural modifications of FabH enzyme which prevent the binding between the antibiotic and the enzyme.⁷¹ A recent work was carried out with the goal of demonstrating the role of the epoxyisocyanide as a pro-drug, generating the epoxyketone 77 in vivo. A series of epoxyketones were therefore synthesized and evaluated for their antibacterial properties. Compound 77 was still active but with a highly reduced potency in comparison to amycomicin, highlighting that the presence of the isocyano group is fundamental for the antibiotic potency of the latter (Figure 25).¹⁴⁰

The indole acryloisonitrile (11), originally named as B371, was isolated from Pseudomonas and displayed a potent antimicrobial and antifungal activity¹⁴¹ (Table 10). Another indole derivative was then isolated from the actinomycete Nocardia brasiliensis and named brasilidine A (79; Figure 26). This compound showed to be cytotoxic against several tumor cell lines (e.g., CHO IC₅₀ = 3.26 μ g/mL; KB IC₅₀ = 0.75 μ g/ mL; L1210 IC₅₀ = 0.25 μ g/mL; P388 IC₅₀ = 0.44 μ g/mL). It also displayed potent activity against Aspergillus niger and Mycobacterium smegmatis with MICs of 0.39 and 0.78 μ g/mL, respectively. It was inactive against Staphylococcus aureus 209P $(MIC = 100 \ \mu g/mL).^{142}$

Thirteen synthetic analogues of indole 11 were then prepared and biologically tested. Their antibacterial and antifungal activity was evaluated via a disc diffusion test at the concentration of 1 mg/mL against Escherichia coli, Bacillus subtilis, and the fungus Rhizomucor miehei. All compounds tested retained antibacterial and antifungal activity and the SAR is represented in Figure 27. A series of alkyl-2isocyanoacrylated molecules were also evaluated. It is interesting to note the lack of aspecific toxicity of these compounds, where compounds 80 and 81 displayed 1.4 and 2.1 g/kg acute toxicity in mice respectively, while the reported MIC values for compound 82 were 1.56 μ g/mL against Staphilococcus aureus and Tricophyton mentagrophytes.^{143,144}

Recently the enzymes (Ambl1-3/AmbP 2/AmbP3) involved in the biosynthesis of these alkaloids have been



Figure 24. Mechanism of formation of HCN from aerocyanidin (72) and structure of YM-47515 (75).



Figure 25. Amycomicin and its product of degradation.

Table 10. Selected Antimicrobial Activity (MIC $\mu g/mL$) of 11



isolated⁷³ and their uses for preparing unnatural *cis*-indolyl vinyl isocyanides have been reported.1

Isocyanides are also produced by some genus of cyanobacteria. The main difference between bacteria and cyanobacteria is that the latter contain chlorophyll a, and they are phototrophic organisms. The majority of isocyanides isolated from cyanobacteria are associated with tryptophan^{53,146-155} and therefore they are classified as indole alkaloids. Their biosynthetic precursors are cis-indolyl vinyl isocyanide and geranyl pyrophosphate, and at least three hypotheses for the biosynthetic formation of the tri- and tetracyclic cores have been made.^{72,155-15}

For the sake of simplicity, we have divided them into six main groups: (a) trycyclic hapalindoles; (b) tetracyclic hapalindoles; (c) hapalindolinones; (d) tetracyclic ambiguines; (e) pentacyclic ambiguines; and (f) fisherindoles and welwitindolinones (Figure 28-33).

We collected the antimicrobial activities and the cytotoxicity against several cell lines for all of the isocyanide containing indole alkaloids reported in patent and journal literature (Table 11).^{148-150,158-160}

Aside from the antibacterial activity, additional studies aiming to define the mechanism of action of some isocyanide indole alkaloids have been reported. For example, 12-epihapalindole E (85) inhibits RNA synthesis in Bacillus subtilis, blocking the RNA polymerase with a K_i of 1.3 mM. The low potency against RNA polymerase associated with the high activity against Bacillus subtilis (MIC = $3 \mu M$) suggests that this cannot be the only mechanism of action at play for the antibiotic activity of this compound.^{161,162} When 12-epihapalindole H was tested on zebrafish (Danio rerio) embryos, it showed to be teratogenic at a concentration similar to those previously observed for the antimicrobial activity.¹⁵² In order to identify the biological mechanism responsible for the insecticidal action of hapalindoles,¹⁴⁷ a study on four hapalindoles [12-epi-hapalindole J (96), 12-epi-hapalindole C (86), hapalindole L (97), and 12-epi-hapalindole E (85)] was carried out. These four compounds were not cytotoxic on mammalian cells like Clone-9 hepatocyte cell line and human neuroblastoma BE(2)-M17 cancer cells at concentrations of 10 μ M. They were able to block the sodium voltage dependent channels blocking the depolarization induced by veratridine with a mechanism similar to neosaxitoxin. The IC_{50} required to inhibit the veratridine-induced fluorescence was calculated for 12-epi-hapalindole C (86), hapalindole L (97), and 12-epi-



Figure 27. SAR for antibacterial isocyanides and structures of three synthetic analogues of B371 (80-82).

Review



Figure 29. Tetracyclic hapalindoles.



hapalindole E (85) being 4.8, 6.7, and 10.6 μ M, respectively [Table 11].

Ambiguine I (113) was reported to be a potent inhibitor of NF-kB with an IC₅₀ of 30 nM. This molecular activity is translated into its cytotoxicity against HT-29 colon cancer cell

(EC₅₀ of 4.35 μ M) and against MCF-7 breast cancer cell line, with an EC₅₀ of 1.7 μ M, by blocking the cell in G1 phase.¹⁶³

Hapalindolinone A (102) is an antagonist of vasopressin with a IC₅₀ of 37.5 μ M [Table 12].^{154,164}

The 12-epi-hapalindole (96) was isolated from the biofilm formed by the cyanobacteria of genus Fischerella, and its ecological role was unveiled. Indeed, this compound was shown to be able to kill all the larvae of the dipteran Chironomus riparius at 26 μ M in 48 h. As insect larvae are grazers of freshwater cyanobacterial biofilm, it is reasonable to imagine that the bacteria biofilm of Fischerella is rich in this insecticidal substance for its protection. The possibility of using specific isocyanides as novel insecticidal compounds should therefore be considered by chemists.¹⁴⁷

Ambiguine D (110) also exerts a phytotoxic action, for example suppressing the growth of the lettuce root. At least two pathways can be responsible for its action: the inhibition



Figure 32. Pentacyclic ambiguines.



Figure 33. Fisherindoles and welwitindolinones.

of mitosis and the increased formation of reactive oxygen species [Table 13]. 165

A completely different class of compounds was isolated from cyanobacteria *Scytonema mirabile*, comprising mirabilene-A-isonitrile (123), mirabilene-B-isonitrile (124), mirabilene-C-isonitrile (125), mirabilene-D-isonitrile (126), mirabilene-E-isonitrile (127), and mirabilene-F-isonitrile (128).¹⁶⁶ Although no compound specific biological activity for this fascinating class of isocyanides has been reported, general cytotoxicities

against LoVo and Kb cells were 5 and 1–10 μ g/mL, respectively (Figure 34). A weak antimicrobial (Gram +) and antifungal activity against Aspergillus oryzae e Penicillium notatum has been shown.

3.4. Isocyanides in Marine Organisms and Their Biological Activity

The marine world is the most prolific environment for the synthesis of natural products containing the isocyano functional group. These types of compounds are found in sponges (above all of genus *Axinellida, Haplosclerida*, and *Halichondria*) and nudibranchs of genus *Phyllidia*. Because of their soft bodies, sponges are unable to escape from predators, and during evolution they have developed defensive mechanisms based on the production of toxic chemicals. For this reason, sponges are nowadays considered one of the most diverse sources of chemicals for researchers.¹⁶⁷ Marine isocyanides are associated with sponge cell membranes, and beyond defense roles, additional ones involved with the membrane functions have been postulated.¹⁶⁸ As already stated at the beginning of the review, nudibranchs are usually colored, shell-less mollusks

Review

Гabl	le :	11.	Sel	ected	Antimicrob	oial	Activity	of	Hapa	lindol	les and	Fisc	herind	ole	L	(MIC	μM	i)
------	------	-----	-----	-------	------------	------	----------	----	------	--------	---------	------	--------	-----	---	------	----	----

compound	M. tuberculosis	C. albicans	S. aureus	E. coli	A. baumannii	A. fumigatus	vero cells IC_{50} (μM)
hapalindole A (87)	<0.6	1.2	3.9	8.0	>100	80	25.6
hapalindole C (83)	ND	0.6	16	>64	ND	ND	ND
hapalindole E (84)	ND	0.3	4	16	ND	ND	ND
hapalindole G (90)	6.8	10	>128	ND	ND	>128	ND
hapalindole H (95)	58.8	5.1	>128	ND	ND	>128	ND
hapalindole I (94)	2.0	>100	>100	>100	>100	ND	>100
hapalindole J (88)	4.3	0.7	8.4	>100	>100	ND	31.9
hapalindole X (92)	2.5	2.5	9.1	>100	>100	ND	35.2
fischerindole L (120)	22	1.2	6.4	>100	>100	ND	<9.2
12-epi-hapalindole E (85)	ND	ND	11	3	ND	ND	ND

Table 12. Selected Cytotoxic Activity of Hapalindoles (IC₅₀ μ M)

compound	HT-29	MCF-7	SF-268	myeloma
hapalindole A (87)	31.3	30.7	16.3	ND
hapalindole C (83)	52.6	>100	88.6	ND
hapalindole H (95)	10.8	16.3	10.6	ND
hapalindole I (94)	ND	>100	93.1	ND
hapalindole J (88)	28.6	43.7	16.9	ND
hapalindole X (92)	24.8	35.4	23.5	ND
hapalindole U (100)	52.6	>100	>100	ND
12-epi-hapalindole E (85)	ND	ND	ND	45

Table 13. Selected Antimicrobial Activity of Ambiguine and Fischambiguines (MIC μ M)

compound	M. tuberculosis	B. anthracis	S. aureus	C. albicans	vero cells IC ₅₀ (µM)
ambiguine A (104)	46.7	1.0	1.8	<1.0	26.0
ambiguine B (105)	ND	3.7	10.9	1.7	58.6
ambiguine C (106)	7.0	16.1	7.4	<1.0	78.3
ambiguine D (110)	ND	ND	ND	1,25	ND
ambiguine E (111)	21.0	3.6	1.5	<0.9	42.6
ambiguine F (112)	61.2	ND	ND	1.25	57.9
ambiguine I (113)	13.1	>128	8.9	1.7	>128
ambiguine K (115)	6.6	7.4	4.6	<0.9	53.2
ambiguine L (116)	11.7	16.2	10.5	<1.0	44.6
ambiguine M (117)	7.5	28.5	4.7	1.1	79.8
ambiguine N (118)	27.1	30.9	5.5	<1.0	118.4
ambiguine O (119)	ND	13.8	ND	ND	80.7
fishambiguine A (108)	>100	ND	82.3	15.3	ND
fishambiguine B (109)	2	28.7	19.4	15.3	>128

and do not synthesize isocyanides on their own, but they obtain them from dietary sources and repurpose them as protective agents against predators.

One of the first isocyanides to be isolated in nudibranchs was 9-isocyanopupukeanane (129) from *Phyllidia varicosa*, ¹⁶⁹ later found to also occur in the sponge of genus *Ciocalypta*. In the years to follow, the C-9 epimer of 9-isocyanopupukeanane (130), 2-isocyanopupukeanane (131), ⁵⁹ 9-isocyanopupu

keanane (132),⁶² and 2-isocyanoallopupukeanane (133)⁵² was isolated (Figure 35).

The anecdote reported by the late Prof. Paul J. Scheuer renders a clear picture for the potent ichthyotoxicity of 9isocyanopupukeanane (129). Prof. Scheuer's interest in chemical marine ecology began when a friend added the nudibranch Phyllidia varicosa to his aquarium. To their surprise, as time went by they witnessed the death of all the fish and shrimp in the aquarium, while the nudibranchs appeared alive and well!¹⁷⁰ Shortly after, 9-isocyanopupukeanane (129) was isolated from the skin secretion of the nudibranch. This compound is more ichthyotoxic than its epimer with an LD_{s0} of 1.0 μ g/mL versus 2.0 μ g/mL.¹⁷¹ 2-Isocyanoallopupukeanane (131) showed an ichthyotoxicity of $10 \ \mu g/mL \ (LC_{50})$ against *Oryzias latipes*.⁵² In other cases, the isocyanide is not released but concentrated on the skin behaving as a feeding deterrent, protecting the nudibranchs from predators. Indeed, no predators for Phyllidia varicosa are known. The lipidic isonitrile compound actisonitrile (134) was isolated from the nudibranch Actinocyckus papillatus, and its total synthesis was reported, including its enantiomer. Cytotoxicity was evaluated for the two enantiomers. Both showcased a similar biological profile. In detail, their biological activity was tested against tumor C6 rat glioma cells ($IC_{50} = 41$ μ M), HeLa human cervical cancer cells (IC₅₀ = 35 μ M), nontumor H9c2 rat cardiac myoblasts ($IC_{50} = 23 \ \mu M$) and 3T3-L1 murine fibroblasts ($IC_{50} = 73 \ \mu M$).¹⁷² Additional isocyanides have been isolated from other Phyllidia; however, those molecules had been already isolated from sponges. It is important to note that many of these isocyanides are highly volatile oils, a property complicating their isolation from natural sources.

The very first marine isocyanide was discovered by a group of talented Neapolitan researchers lead by Professor Ernesto Fattorusso in 1973 from the Mediterranean sponge Axinella cannabina. The compound was named axisonitrile-1 (135).¹⁷⁴ This compound was shown to be toxic against marine fish Chromis chromis and Carassius carassius at a concentration of 8 ppm. One year later, still in Naples, the isocyanide achantellin-1 (136) was isolated from the same sponge¹⁷⁵ (Figure 36). From this moment on, numerous isocyanides were isolated and characterized from said sponge and many others (Halichondria, Pseudaxinella, Acanthella, Bubaris, Cribochalina, Cymbastela, Amphimedon, Ciocalypta, Geodia, Phakellia, and Svenzea) and evaluated for their biological activity whenever possible, with an emphasis on their cytotoxicity against cancer cell lines and their antimalarial activity. For the sake of simplicity, we are grouping those isolated isocyanides as shown



Review





Figure 36. Hydrindane derivatives.

in the figures, and for each represented group we report their published biological activities. $^{61,62,176-206}$

Axisonitrile-3 (138) displayed a strong activity against HepG2 cell line with an IC₅₀ of 1.3 μ M, 2.44 μ M on A549, 0.7 μ M on P388 cells, and KB and LoVo cells with a cytotoxicity <1 μ L/mL, while its formamide analogue was inactive (Figure 37). On the other hand, this isocyanide was not cytotoxic against other cancer cell lines (e.g., HeLa, HuCCA-1, A549, and MDA-MB-231).^{207–210} The same compound was active against *Plasmodium falciparum* with an IC₅₀ of 142 and 16.5 ng/mL on D6 and W2 strains, respectively (SI = 1212). No cytotoxicity on KB cell at a concentration >20 μ M was reported. The compound is also active against *Mycobacterium*



Figure 37. Spiro[4.5] decane derivatives.

tuberculosis with an MIC of 2 μ g/mL.²¹¹ When the isocyano group was replaced with an isothiocyanate, the activity dropped by a factor of 500.²¹² The 10-epiaxisonitrile-3 (**139**) was isolated from the marine sponge *Geodia exigua*. This molecule was able to inhibit the fertilization of sea urchin and starfish gamete at a concentration of 0.4 μ g/mL, due to its ability to immobilize the sperm, by inhibition of the phosphocreatine shuttle. Its formamido analogue was completely inactive. It is interesting to note that in this work, the Authors synthesized simpler isocyanides like benzyl isocyanide, cyclohexyl isocyanide, and 6-isocyanospiro[4.5]decane. All of them were devoid of activity against the mobility of sperm.²¹³

Haliconadin C (144) is an eudesmane sesquiterpenoid containing the isocyanide moiety, isolated from the marine



Figure 38. Eudesmane and trans-decalin derivatives.

sponge of genus *Halichondria* (Figure 38). This compound has the strongest antifungal activity against *Micrococcus luteus* (MIC 0.52 μ g/mL) and *Cryptococcus neoformas* (MIC = 0.0625 μ g/mL) while being inactive as antibacterial.²¹⁴ It was also isolated in complex with copper(I) **154** (Figure 39). This



Figure 39. Copper complex of halicondin C.

complex showed a reduced antimicrobial activity when compared to the copper-free halicondin C against *Micrococcus luteus*, and *Cryptococcus neoformans*, with MICs of 4 and 16 μ g/mL, respectively.²¹⁵ Compound **148** was cytotoxic against P388 cells with an IC₅₀ of 8.3 μ g/mL.²¹⁶

10-Isocyano-4-amorphene (155; Figure 40) was isolated from nudibranchs of the family *Phyllidiidae* along with 10isocyano-4-cadinene (145). These compounds have a potent antifouling activity against the larvae of the barnacle *Balanus* *amphitrite* (EC₅₀ = 0.7 and 0.14 μ g/mL, respectively).²¹⁷ The total synthesis of **145** (+), its enantiomer (-), and the diasteroisomers have been reported along with their biological activity. The single enantiomer (+) was the most potent, with an EC₅₀ of 0.06 μ g/mL, the enantiomer (-) had an EC₅₀ of 0.08 μ g/mL while both the diasteroisomers were less active, with an EC₅₀ between 0.21 and 0.40 μ g/mL.²¹⁸ The antimalarial activity of compounds **145** is 705 nM (EC₅₀) against *Plasmodium falciparum* 3D7, 247 nM against Dd2 strain.²¹⁹

The hydroxyl functionalized isocyanosesquiterpene **158** was isolated from the sponge *Phyllidia pustolosa*. This compound showed antifouling activity against cypris larvae of the barnacle *Balanus amphitrite* with an EC₅₀ of 0.17 μ g/mL and a lethality below 5% at the same concentration (Figure 40).²²⁰ The isocyanide sesquiterpenes halichon C (**156**) and 4-epihalichon C (**159**) were isolated from the sponge *Halichondria*. The compounds were evaluated for their cytotoxicity against a panel of cancer cell lines resulting in poor levels of activity.²²¹ We are perplexed regarding the presence of the hydroperoxide moiety in **156** and **159**.

1-Isocyanoaromadendrane (160) proved toxic for the fish *Lebistes retisulatus* with an LD₅₀ of 30 mg/L. Compound 165 was the first isocyano derivate with a guai-6-ene skeleton and displayed high levels of cytotoxicity: $ED_{50} = 0.19 \ \mu g/mL$ (L-1210) and 0.27 $\ \mu g/mL$ (HeLa; Figure 41).²²² Regarding



Figure 40. Eudesmane and cis-decalin derivatives.



compound **164**, the presence of a primary isocyanide is quite strange in light of the biosynthesis of marine isocyanides. Indeed, they are only formed via cyanide trapping of stabilized secondary or tertiary alkyl carbocations.

More than 50 isocyanide functionalized molecules, named kalihinols, have been isolated from the sponge of genus *Acanthella*. It is possible to divide the kalihinols into two main groups: (a) kalihinols with a *trans*-decalin and a tetrahydropyranyl ring (Figure 42) and (b) kalihinols with a *trans*-decalin and a tetrahydrofuranyl group (Figure 43). It is interesting to highlight that only few of them have been tested for their biological activity and generally only as antimalarial compounds. The lack of biological data around the kalihinols is a consequence of their scarce availability. For instance, the yield of kalihinol A **166** from the tissues of *Acanthella cavernosa* is 0.0016% of the wet weight of the sponge.²²³

Kalihinols were shown to inhibit the settlement of cyprid larvae of the barnacle *Balanus amphitrite*. For example, Kalihinol A (**166**) displayed potent antifouling activity with an EC₅₀ = 0.087 μ g/mL^{224,225} against larvae of *Balanus amphitrite*. Kalihinol E (**167**) inhibits larval settlement and metamorphosis with an EC₅₀ of approximately 0.5 μ g/mL.¹⁹⁶ Kalihinols showed a marked antimalarial activity (see Table 14) as well as antibacterial activity against *Bacillus subtilis*, *Staphylococcus aureus* and antimycotic against *Candida albicans*, while being inactive against *Escherichia coli*.^{183,184} Although at the very high concentration of 115 μ g/mL, Kalihinol F (176) was shown to be a topoisomerase I inhibitor, preventing the chromosome separation in fertilized starfish *Asterina pectinifera*.²²⁶ Kalihinols A (166), X (168), and Z (170) were also very active as anthelmintic against *Nippostrongylus brasiliens* at 50 μ g/mL, while isokalihinol F (180) was inactive.

Kalihinol A (166) is the most potent antimalarial agent for this class of compounds. Simplified analogues of kalihinol A have been prepared and evaluated for their biological activity. Many of these derivatives maintain their antimalarial activity against Plasmodium falciparum Dd2 strain even when the THP ring of kalihinol A was removed, as well as when configuration of tertiary isocyanide was reversed. In detail, compound 193 with an IC₅₀ of 1.6 nM on Dd2 strain maintained the same potency of kalihinol A, while its monoisocyanide analogue 194 lost potency (Figure 44). While a precise pharmacophore model for kalihinols is not clear, the role played by the isocyano group appear pivotal: when it was replaced by a cyano, an azide, a formamide, or an isothiocyanate group, the compounds were inactive. The structure-activity relationships that emerged from this study highlight the fact that the extreme structural complexity of the kalihinols is probably not essential in order to achieve high levels of antimalaria activity (see also paragraph 6.2). It would also appear that the configuration of the C-10 isocyano group does not play a significant role. Interestingly, racemic 192 was evaluated for its microsomal metabolic stability in human and rat liver microsomes, resulting in a half-life of 142 min in human and 87 min in rat, respectively.²¹⁹

Kalihinol A (166) was also reported to exert inhibition activity against COX2 with an IC₅₀ of 1.07 μ M.²⁰⁴

The antibacterial and cytotoxic activity for several kalihinols is reported in Tables 15 and 16.

It was shown that a possible mechanism for the antimicrobial action of kalihinols is the inhibition of the



Figure 42. Kalihinols with a *trans*-decalin and a tetrahydropyranyl ring.

Review



Figure 43. Kalihinols with a trans-decalin and a tetrahydrofuranyl group.

Table 14. Antimalarial Activities of Kalihinols ¹⁷⁹							
compound	P. falciparum FCR3 (EC ₅₀) (nM)	FM3A EC ₅₀ (nM)	selectivity index				
kalihinol A (166)	1.2	380	317				
kalihinene A (181)	10	37	4				
kalihinol B (182)	4.6 (on Dd2 strain) 8.4 (on 3D7 strain)	ND	ND				

bacterial folate biosynthesis. While kalihinol A (166) was poorly active, kalihinol Y (169) and kalihinol X (168) were the most potent compounds with an MIC of 1.56 μ g/mL. Rescue assay using folic acid did not revert the action of kalihinols, pointing out that this class of compounds is endowed with more than one antibacterial mechanism of action.²²⁹

The ability of kalihinol F (176) to chelate copper has been studied in detail. Kalihinol F interacts with Cu (II) and this was demonstrated via NMR by exploiting the paramagnetic nature of copper, broadening the width of the peaks of its organic ligand. Furthermore, it was demonstrated how the kalihinol F complexing ability can reverse embryo defects caused by high copper concentration. At the concentration of 5





 μ M/mL, kalihinol F was able to prevent the harmful effect of copper excess (chloride 5 μ M) in the embryos of zebrafish.

Table 15. Antibacterial and Antifungal Activity of Kalihinols (MIC $\mu g/mL$)

compound	B. subtilis (PY79)	T. rubrum	C. albicans
kalihinol A (166)	50	ND	ND
kalihinol X (168)	1.56	ND	ND
kalihinol Y (169)	1.56	ND	ND
kalihinol F (176)	12.5	ND	ND
kalihinol G (177)	3.12	ND	ND
kalihinene A (181)	6.25	ND	ND
183	ND	8	ND
184	ND	4	8

Similar results were obtained when hepatocarcinoma cells (HepG2) were exposed to high concentration of copper. In this case, it was possible to verify the upregulation of MT1B, MT1E, MT1F, MT2A, HMOX, HSPA1B and HSPCA proteins and the downregulation of COMMD1 and COMMD2. Furthermore, it was shown that kalihinol F is a weaker binder for copper than penicillamine, but it should display a better plasmatic membrane penetration in virtue of its higher hydrophobicity. An X-ray supported model for the kalihinol F copper chelation has been proposed (Figure 45). In these X-ray crystallographic structures, the two-isocyanide functional groups are parallel to each other and at a distance of 4.1 Å.²³⁰

3-isocyanotheonellin (196) was mildly cytotoxic against several cancer cell lines $[GI_{50} = 27 \text{ (MDA-MB-231)}, 36.4 \text{ (A549)}, \text{ and } 33.4 \ \mu\text{M} \text{ (HT-29)}]^{231}$ furthermore it showed a weak virucidal activity against the A59 coronavirus in mouse liver cells. Interestingly, in another publication different cytotoxities were reported for the same compound (e.g., IC_{50} = 8.6 μ M (A549), 3.35 μ M (HT-29).²³² The isocyanide 198 from sponge Ciocalypta was endowed with activity against Bacillus subtilis.²³³ Both 196 and 198 were cytotoxic against SNU-398 with an IC₅₀ of 0.50 μ M.²³²

Two novel isocyanides (197 and 199) were identified from the sponge Axynyssa isabela. Cytotoxic evaluation on three cancer cell lines pointed to compound 196 as being weakly cytotoxic, with GI₅₀'s of 27 (MDA-MB-231), 36.4 (A549), and 33.4 µM (HT-29; Figure 46).²³¹

Pustolosaisonitrile-1, -2, and -3 (202-204) were isolated from nudibranch Phyllidiella pustolosa. Pustolosaisonitrile-1 (202) has an activity against Plasmodium falciparum 3D7 of 1.08 µM.²³⁴

Compound 220 (Figure 47) was evaluated for its activity against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. This compound has an MIC of 8 μ g/mL and a cytotoxicity on Vero cell of 19 μ g/mL. Interestingly, when the isocyano group was replaced with an amine the antimicrobial activity was maintained (MIC 6 μ g/ mL) but the compound showed no more cytotoxicity on Vero cells $(IC_{50} < 128 \ \mu g/mL)$.²³⁵ Compounds **221** and **223** were weak cytotoxic with an IC₅₀ of 20.0 and 11.2 μ M respectively on HeLa cells.²³



Review

Figure 45. Copper complex with kalihinol F (176).

Some isocyanide amphilectanes are potent anti-inflammatory agents. Compound 215 (DINCA, 8,15-diisocyano-11(20)-amphilectene) inhibits the synthesis of TXB₂ by a cyclooxygenase-dependent mechanism with an IC₅₀ of 0.20 μM on rat microglia. Interestingly, this compound is not cytotoxic with a LD_{50} > 10 μ M. An initial SAR study demonstrated the pivotal role played by the two isocyano groups as well as the importance of the diterpenoid skeleton. This compound could be a lead candidate for the generation of novel anti-inflammatory agents which reduced the overproduction of TXB₂ in neuroinflammatory disorders.²³⁷ This ability is reported for other compounds of these class, along with an antiproliferative activity.²³⁸ Compound **205** also showed an antiproliferative effect against lymphocytes T and B stimulated by allogenic feeders or phytohemeagglutin.²³⁹

Antitubercular and antimalarial activity of some amphilectanes is reported in Tables 17 and 18.

Compound 215 has an antiplasmodial activity against Plasmodium falciparum Dd2 strain of 3.1 nM and 3D7 strain of 1.2 nM with SIs of 32 and 83, respectively.²⁴² The same compound was isolated from nudibranch Phyllidia coelestis. It displayed antifeeding properties against the shrimp Palaemon elegans with a minimum dose effect of 2.0 mg/mL. Interestingly, it seems that in the isocyano groups in DINCA are not of great importance for antimalarial activity. Indeed, when both of them were replaced with isoselenocyanate moiety the resulting compound maintain potent antimalarial activity $[IC_{50} = 6.6 \text{ (Dd2; SI} = 7356) \text{ and } 2.5 \text{ nM} \text{ (3D7; SI} =$ 19)].

The same isoselenocyanate compound proved to be active against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* with an MIC of 3.9 μ M respect to 9.8 μ M for DINCA (215).^{242,243}

Compound 215 showed cytotoxitities against A549, HT-29, and P388 of 13.0, 1.2, and 0.7 μ g/mL, respectively.²⁴⁴

Diisocyanoadociane (DICA) 228 showed to be cytotoxic against the following cancer cell lines: A549 (EC₅₀ = 13.0 μ M) HT-29 (1.2 μ M), and P388 (0.7 μ M). It also possesses an antimalarial activity against Plasmodium falciparum, with IC50's of 14 (SI = 1000) and 13.2 nM (SI = 1100) against D6 and W2, respectively.²⁴⁵ 225 was moderately active against Plasmodium falciparum strains with IC₅₀'s of 0.2 (FCR3F86), 0.6 (W2), and 0.5 μ g/mL (D6) and with a cytotoxicity against KB cell >5 μ g/mL.¹⁸⁵ **228** showed to have an antitubercular activity of 8 μ g/mL (Figure 48).²⁴⁶

Table 16. Cytotoxicity $IC_{50} \mu M^{200,227,22}$

compound	HCT116	A549	HeLa	QCY-7701	MDA-MB-231	P388 (µg/mL)
epi-kalihinol X (171)	ND	9.30	ND	ND	ND	ND
isokalihinol B (179)	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	0.8
183	>50	17.53	14.74	16.39	>50	ND
184	>50	6.98	13.30	14.53	6.84	ND

Chemical Reviews

pubs.acs.org/CR

Review





Figure 47. Amphilectane derivatives.

NC

Table 17. Antitubercular Activity MIC μ g/mL and Cytotoxicity IC₅₀ μ g/mL of Some Amphilectane Isocyanides²⁴⁰

compound	M. tuberculosis	M. avium	KB cell
206	8	32	3.2
217	4	ND	>20
224	4	ND	15.2

Table 18. Antimalarial Activities of Amphilectanes Derivatives (IC₅₀ ng/mL)²⁴¹

compound	P. falciparum D6	P. falciparum W2	KB cell
206	14.1	9.3	3200
210	520	242	>20 000
217	470	109	>20 000
220	90	29.7	19 100
224	58.5	25.6	15 200

The epi-isomer at C-20 of DICA was prepared and evaluated for its antimalarial activity. It maintained activity with a little reduction of potency being 78 nM on Dd2 strain and 51 nM on 3D7 strain with respect of values of 15 and 2 nM for DICA.²⁴⁷ These result highlights the importance of the isocyanide at the 7 position being equatorial, while the isocyano group at the 20 position is not directly involved in the interaction. Other activity of adociane derivatives as antimalarial compounds are reported in Table 19.

Compound 231 was antibacterial with an activity against *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Bacillus subtilis* of 5 μ g/disk.¹⁹¹

Adociane 225 and the two already known amphilectanes 215 and 205 were isolated from *Pseudoaxinella flava*. Their activity was assayed on human cancer lines, displaying activity against PC3 cancer line with IC₅₀'s of 7 for 225, 2.1 for 215, and 3 μ M for 205. Similar results were shown for LoVo colon cancer cells while higher cytotoxic values were shown for U373 glioblastoma cells (10–25 μ M), Hs683 (4–50 μ M), SK-MEL-28 (6–32 μ M), and A549 NSCLC (16–42 μ M). Although the biological target of these compounds is still unknown, it was shown how compound 225 induces marked vacuolization leading to cell death. These four compounds seemed to respond well against both apoptosis sensitive cancer cell lines and cancer cell lines resistant to pro-apoptotic stimuli.²⁴⁸

Table 19. Antimalarial Activities of Amphilectanes Derivatives $(IC_{50} ng/mL)^{241}$

compound	P. falciparum D6	P. falciparumW2	KB cell
228	4.7	4.3	4700
229	62.5	19.5	18 200
220	90	29.7	19 100

The biological activity of other marine isocyanides was further evaluated against three *Plasmodium falciparum* strains (Table 20). The antibacterial, antifungal and antialgae properties are also represented.

A possible mode of action as antimalarial for some of the isocyanides discussed above have been investigated without reaching a definitive conclusion. In 2001, it has been suggested that ferriprotoporphyrin IX was the candidate receptor.²⁴⁹ In particular, it was suggested that diisocyanoadociane (228) and axiisonitrile-3 (138) could form a coordination complex between the Fe(II) of heme and the isocyano group. For instance, it was shown that axiisonitrile-3 and diisocyanoadociane were able to modify the UV Soret peak for the heme, without interacting with heme of oxyhemoglobin, probably due to steric reasons. ESI-MS studies showed a stochiometric ratio of 1:1 between heme and axiisonitrile-3 and of 2:1 between heme and diisocyanoadociane.²⁵⁰ The interaction of the isocyano group with the iron of heme should inhibit the formation of the highly insoluble brown crystals of β -hematin (hemozoin). Formation of hemozoin is indeed the classic method of heme-detoxification used by the Plasmodium to avoid the toxicity associated with the free heme. Unfortunately, the authors did not use other hydrophobic compounds devoid of the isocyano group in order to demonstrated whether they were still able to disrupt or not the heme crystallization in vivo. In their own words they "have empirically proven that inhibition of heme polymerization is in fact the reason for the potent antiplasmodial activity". In 2015, the remarkable ability of DICA to completely inhibit the β -hematin crystallization (IC₅₀ of 13 nM) was demonstrated by using the Egan's β -hematin inhibition assay. Other isocyanides maintain this ability without completely inhibiting the β hematin crystallization (e.g., for example compound 206 inhibits at 86% the β -hematin crystallization with an IC₅₀ of 31 nM).²⁵¹ When ab initio molecular modeling studies were performed, it was showed that the previously suggested



Figure 48. Adociane derivatives.

_	
_ U	

Cpd	FCR3F85	D6	W2	KB cytotox.	E. coli	B. megaterium	M. microspora	C. fusca
228	ND	4.7	4.3	4700	1	3	4	2
233	ND	74.1	23.8	14 500	inactive	1	6	3
206	ND	14.1	9.3	3200	inactive	2	10	3
224	ND	58.5	25.6	15 200	inactive	2	12	3
225	200	800	700	>20 000	inactive	2	5	inactive
138	ND	142	165	>200	1	2	2	inactive

Table 20. MIC (nM) for the Antimalarial Activity, against H	FCR3F85, D6 and W2 Strains and for KB Citotoxicity
-------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------

 ${}^{a}IC_{50}$ (μ g/mL) for antibacterial and antifungal activities. Antialgal activity at a concentration of 50 μ g/disk (inhibition was measured in mm from edge of disk).

interaction between the isocyano group and the iron of heme was not stable. In this study, the molecules appear rather oriented by displaying the isocyano group away from the porphyrin ring, while the hydrophobic terpene scaffold is engaged in ring stacking interactions (a mixture of van der Waals and hydrophobic interactions) with the heme group (Figure 49). Even for this paper, we recommend prudence for the same reasons listed above.



Figure 49. To be or not to be. Different hypotheses for the isocyanoterpenes binding to heme.

In this regard, the Shenvi group has synthesized and then tested amphilectanes 206 and 228 and simple isocyanides 235, 236, and 237 not only against the *Plasmodium* active during the blood stage, but also against the liver schizont of *Plasmodium* (Figure 50). These schizonts do not use



hemoglobin as a nutrient and therefore do not require the detoxification of the heme group. Interestingly, all the isocyanides were active both on blood and liver stage plasmodium, although at higher concentration (Table 21).²⁵² The antimalarial activity of these isocyanides against liver schizonts undermine the hypothesis of heme biocrystallization inhibition. In our opinion the true mechanism of action of the potent antimalarial isocyanides lies dormant waiting for being discovered.

Three isocyanides named monamphilectine A (238), B (239), and C (240), belonging to the amphilectane-type, were

Fable 21. Activity	y against P. fa	ilciparum ((IC ₅₀ nM)	
--------------------	-----------------	-------------	-----------------------	--

compound	asexual blood-stage P. falciparum	liver stage P.berghei	HepG2
206	992	932	27 960
228	16	1296	24 130
235	>50 000	104 800	>50 000
236	150	221	1546
237	9	1546	27 960

isolated from the *Svenzea flava* sponge. Interestingly, they have a side chain with a beta-lactam ring (Figure 51).

Compound **238** was active on *Plasmodium falciparum* W2 with an IC₅₀ of 0.6 μ M, while **239** and **240** displayed an antiplasmodial activity against *Plasmodium falciparum* 3D7 strain of 44.5 and 43.3 nM.^{253,254} The synthetic alcohol derivative **241** was the most active with an IC₅₀ of 24.1 nM. This natural product was obtained by semisynthesis via Ugi reaction starting from DINCA (**215**). It is interesting to note that the bridgehead isocyanide did not react, allowing for a regioselective Ugi reaction. This feature was later exploited for the generation of a library of hybrid compounds of antimalarial properties, prepared via Ugi reaction using DINCA as the isocyanide component and different isoniazid or chloroquine analogues as amine or carboxylic acid component (Figure 52).

Hybrids 243 and 244 were active, but unfortunately their activity was not balanced. Indeed compound 243 displayed an antimalarial activity of 11 nM (IC₅₀ against *Plasmodium falciparum* 3D7, SI = 1721) and an antitubercular activity against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* H37Rv strain of 15 μ g/mL. As a comparison, isoniazide has a IC₅₀ = 0.44 μ g/mL. Compound 244 had an antimalarial activity of 3.6 nM (IC₅₀ against *Plasmodium falciparum* 3D7, SI = 7154) and an antitubercular activity of 52 μ g/mL. However, this data is interesting because it highlights that the presence of a single isocyanide group is enough to impart potent antimalarial activity. Compound 244 was indeed 11 time as potent as DINCA and twice as chloroquine (IC₅₀ = 6.6 nM). None of the synthesized compounds appeared to be toxic on Vero cells.²⁵⁵

The geranyl linalool **245** was isolated from marine sponges of the genus *Halichondria*. No biological activity has been reported (Figure 53).^{182,256}

A series of cinnamic acid derivatives were isolated from the sponge *Botrylloides tireum*. The botryllamide J (**246**) and H (**247**) were claimed to contain for the first time an aromatic isocyanide. (Figure 54).²⁵⁷ The Authors remain skeptical about this report, as in our hands we have never been able to prepare 2-isocyanophenol derivatives but only the benzo[*d*]oxazole derivatives as products of the isocyanide intramolecular α -addition to the hydroxyl group. However, this class of

Review



Figure 51. Monamphilectines.



Figure 52. Ugi reaction using DINCA (215) as isocyanide input, with structures of hybrids 243 and 244.







Figure 54. Botryllamides.

compounds is reported to inhibit the multidrug transporter ABCG2. Botryllamide J has an IC₅₀ of 26.9 μ M.²⁵⁸

Finally, isocyanides 248 and 249 (Figure 55) were isolated from the nudibranch *Phyllidia ocellata*. They displayed



Figure 55. Isocyanides isolated from nudibranch Phyllidia ocellata..

antimalarial activity against *Plasmodium falciparum* Dd2 (IC₅₀ 0.36 and 0.83 μ M respectively) and 3D7 (IC₅₀ 0.30 and 0.29 μ M respectively), without showing toxicity against mammalian cells (NFF cells).²⁵⁹



Figure 56. Simplified analogues retain biological activity.

4. BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITY OF SYNTHETIC ISOCYANIDES

As previously described, several natural isocyanides have been discovered. Unfortunately, the biological activity evaluation was possible for only a limited set of them because of the very low isolated amounts. Their structural complexity prevents a scale up of their synthesis, and although some exceptions are known,²⁶⁰ mass production of these compounds is not feasible. On the other hand, we have already seen that structural simplification is possible and can lead to simplified analogues owing to similar levels of potency. Just as an example, let us consider the case for hapalindole A 87. This intricated compound has an antibacterial activity of 3.9 μ M on Staphilococcus aureus. The related simplified indole 11, which is a natural product, displays an antibacterial activity of 47.6 μ M being 12-fold less active. Finally, the totally synthetic compound 82 maintains levels of activity comparable to those of hapalindole A. (Figure 56). This example shows that contributions from medicinal chemists are needed to design and synthesize simplified analogs of natural bioactive isocvanides.

In this section, we report the synthetic isocyanides which are endowed with biological activity. We decided not to limit the group to synthetic isocyanides from the medicinal chemistry realm but to include examples from the agricultural and antifouling fields, providing a fuller picture around this class of molecules.

4.1. Antibacterial and Antifungal

Due the well-known antibacterial activity of several natural isocyanides, simplified molecules containing an isocyanide as war-headgroup were synthesized and tested as antibacterial compounds. The starting point of this work was the identification of compound **250** during an HTS campaign, which was able to inhibit bacterial growth at a concentration of 32 μ M against a panel of *Staphylococcus aureus* methicillin resistant (MRSA) and *Staphylococcus aureus* vancomycin resistant (VRSA) strains. Removal of the isocyano group or its replacement with a cyano group lead to complete loss of activity. The most active compound was isocyanide **251** with a MIC of 2 μ M and no cytotoxicity against mammalian cells (e.g., murine macrophage J774) up to a concentration of 64 μ M (Figure 57).²⁶¹

However, compound **251** suffered of some drawbacks. Indeed, it was not able to permeate across Caco-2, cells and it was subjected to an extensive metabolism in the presence of human liver microsomes (e.g., 24% remains after 1 h).

In a following paper, other 20 stilbene like mono and diisocyanides were synthesized and tested. Four compounds (253-256) emerged from this screening as potent antibacterial compounds, able to inhibit MRSA at concentrations



Figure 57. Stilbene isocyanides endowed with antibacterial activity.

between 2 and 8 μ M with the bis-isocyanide **256** the most potent (MIC = 2 μ M against MRSA USA300). Interestingly, the same compound was active against other pathogenic Gram positive bacteria such as *Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* while inactive against Gram negative bacterial pathogens (e.g., *Acinetobacter baumannii, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Escherichia coli,* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*). Although in silico pharmacokinetic predictions were reported in the paper, no metabolic studies in vitro have been disclosed rendering difficult a conclusive evaluation (Figure 58).²⁶²

In a novel study, compound **252**, which was previously synthesized and tested,²⁶¹ was shown to maintain a high antibacterial activity against MRSA and VRSA strains with an MIC of 4 and 8 μ M, with null toxicity on mammalian keratinocytes. This compound was permeable to Caco-2 cell and demonstrated a good hepatic metabolic stability with a half-life of 11 h. Interestingly, bacterial resistance to this compound was not observed after ten serial passage. Used in a neutropenic thigh infection mouse model at a concentration of 20 mg/kg (two dose) a 75% reduction of infection was recorded, against a 92% reduction obtained with linezolid.²⁶³

Selected compounds also showed antifungal activity against *Candida albicans* and *Cryptococcus* and *Aspergillus* without being toxic against mammalian cells even at concentration >256 μ M. The most potent compound for this set displayed an SI of 512 (Table 22).^{264,265}

A simplified SAR for these isocyano stilbene derivatives as antibacterial and antifungal agents is represented in Figure 59.

Among a panel of derivatives of 2-phenylethylamine tested as inhibitors of the growth of attaching bacteria, the isocyanide derivatives **264** and **265** displayed inhibition growth with an IC₅₀ of 0.49 and 1.5 μ g/cm² (Figure 60).²⁶⁶

Synthetic isocyanoalkenes of formula **266** and **267** (Figure 61) were synthesized and evaluated for their fungicidal properties. Some of them showed good antifungal activity, especially against *Tricophyton, Candida albicans,* and some plant molds.²⁶⁷

4.2. Antimalarial

In 2002, simple isocyanides were prepared and tested as antimalarial compounds against *Plasmodium falciparum* and *Plasmodium yoelii*. Amantadine isocyanide **272** (ED_{50} of 10.7



Figure 58. Second generation of stilbene isocyanides endowed with antibacterial activity.

mg/kg) was the most active, with an ability to induce the 100% inhibition of parasitemia after 4 days of treatment using 50 mg/kg on infected Swiss mice (Figure 62). Considering its proved metabolic stability,¹³ compound **272** appears as a promising starting point for lead optimization programs (Figure 62).²⁶⁸

Simplified analogues (277-279) of complex isocyanide natural products with antimalarial activity were synthesized along with a nitrile derivative (280). The nitrile derivative was inactive, but all the synthesized isocyanides exhibited activity against *Plasmodium falciparum* (Figure 63 and Table 23).²⁶⁹

The same stilbene isocyanides (250-263), previously cited for their antibacterial and antifungal properties, were evaluated as antimalarial agents.

Interestingly, compounds **252**, **256**, and **281** (Figure 64) were the most active against *P. falciparum* Dd2 strain, with EC_{50} 's of 88, 68, and 27 nM, respectively. This data is extremely important, as it highlights how these really simple mono and di-isocyanides have antimalarial activity levels similar to those of the structurally complex 7,20-diisocyanoa-dociane (**228**; $EC_{50} = 13$ nM W2) and kalihinol A (**166**; $EC_{50} = 1.2$ nM FCR-3), while maintaining a very high selectivity index.

The isocyano group is pivotal for the antimalarial activity of these stilbenes. The mechanism of action for these class of compounds is unknown. It is however possible they could share a similar mechanism of action to the one proposed for the antimalarial marine isocyanides, that is the ability to interact with iron protoporphyrin IX. Author hypothesized that bis-isocyanides could interact with two different heme-iron due to the high density of heme in the parasitic environment. This rationale could explain why symmetrical diisocyanides are such potent compounds against *Plasmodium falciparum*.²⁷⁰

4.3. Antiviral

Starting from the well-known amantadine antiviral agent and the replacement of the amino group for an isocyanide, a series of amantadine and amantadine-like derivatives were tested for their aniviral proprieties against H5N1 influenza virus. Interestingly, compound 272 not only maintains antiviral activity, but was more potent than amantadine 282 (Figure 65) with a 10-fold improvement (EC₅₀ = 0.487 μ M vs 3.9 μ M of amantadine) in a MTT assay performed on MDCK cells infected with H5N1 virus. As indicated by the authors, the NH₂-NC replacement increases the lipophilicity of the molecule and it could help the molecule crossing the plasmatic membrane. To confirm if these isocyanides maintain the same biological target of amantadine, the M2 protein channel of the virus, compounds were tested on A/M2 channels expressed in Xenopusoocytes using the TEVC technique and evaluated at 100 μ M. Amantadine inhibits 91%, of the A/M2 channel activity, while the inhibition level for compound 272 was 60%. This result could suggest that the antiviral activity of these

isocyanides is due to different mechanism of action other than the blockage of M2 channels. $^{\rm 271}$

Isocyanide analogues of thymine nucleoside were synthesized and evaluated as DNA chain terminator. Interestingly, the compound **290** proved to be cytotoxic with a cytotoxic dose (CD_{50}) of 8 and 20 μ M against CEM and MRC-5 cells, while the formamide analogues were devoid of activity.²⁷² The same compound and the uridine analogue **291** were tested as antiviral drugs against the HIV virus, but they proved to be inactive.²⁷³ Compound **290** showed to be cytotoxic against MT-4 cell, with a CD_{50} of 0.88 μ M (Figure 66).²⁷⁴

The replacement of the primary alcoholic group with an isocyanide was also attempted on thymidine and uracile nucleosides and evaluated against HIV (**292–295**). Once more, the compounds were devoid of any activity.²⁷⁵ 2-Deoxy-2-isocyano-1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine (**296**) was moderately toxic on different cancer cell lines (IC₅₀ between 5 and 90 μ M; Figure 67).²⁷⁶

4.4. Plant Fungicides

 α -Isocyanoacetic acid derivatives (297) were evaluated as fungicides against several plant fungi. Many of them were protective against *Cladosporium fulvum*, *Phytophthora infestans*, and *Sphaerotheca fulginea*. Compounds 299 was the most potent, being equally active on the fungicid dinocap against *Sphaerotheca fulginea* and *Cladosporium fulvum*. Another class of compounds, that is, the α -isocyano- β -phenyl propionamides 298, was evaluated. Compound 300 was twice as active as dinocap (Figure 68).^{277,278}

Prochloraz (301) is an imidazole containing fungicide inhibiting the sterol 14 α -demethylase. In a case study, it was employed as the lead compound and the replacement of imidazole for isocyanide (302) was attempted. The isocyanide analogue resulted less active than 301, however the authors pointed to the low metabolic stability as a cause of its reduced activity (Figure 69 and Table 24).²⁷⁹

As a series of isocyanides of general structure R-A-CN was reported to display fungitoxic activity, and they could therefore be employed in combating phytopathogenic fungi. Because of their good compatibility with higher plants, this set of molecules could be used to spare crops from plant fungus diseases.²⁸⁰

4.5. Insecticides and Acaricides

Isocyanophenyl carbamate (303) were tested as insecticides and acaricides. It is interesting to note that the introduction of the isocyano group (304) on the insecticidal promecarb (305) increases the activity against the Southern armyworm of 10fold (Figure 70).²⁸¹

Quaternary ammonium salts containing two isocyanides (306) were reported in a patent as plant insecticides. As a representative example, compound 307 was protective in a 24 h window at a concentration of 0.2% against the *Myzus* persicae, also known as green peach aphid (Figure 71).²⁸²

Chemical Reviews

pubs.acs.org/CR

Table 22. MIC (μ M) Values for Fluconazole: Candida albicans ATCC 29351 < 0.5, Cryptococcus neoformans NR-41292 8, and Aspergillus fumigatus NR-3501 > 64



Aliphatic isocyanides with at least 12 carbon atoms are useful as insecticides and acaricides. Specific examples with n-dodecyl isocyanide and stearyl isocyanides have been reported.²⁸³



Figure 59. SAR of stilbene isocyanides as antibacterial and antifungal agents.



Figure 60. 2-Phenylethylisocyanides as antibacterial agents.



Figure 61. Fungicidal isocyanoalkenes.



Figure 62. Synthetic isocyanides evaluated as antimalarial compounds. In brackets the MIC (μ g/mL) against *Plasmodium falciparum* NF-54.

4.6. Antitumoral

Erbstatin (293) is produced by *Streptomyces*. Analogues containing an isocyano group in place of the formaldeyde (294-300) were reported as tyrosine protein kinase inhibitors.²⁸⁴ Synthetic formamide analogues displayed higher inhibitory activity against tyrosine kinase (not shown in Table 25) with respect to isocyanides, with the latter maintaining cytotoxic properties on L1210 leukemia cells and antimicrobial activity (Figure 72 and Table 25).



Figure 63. 2,3,3a,4,5,6-Hexahydro-1H-phenalene isocyanide derivatives.





A chemical space of novel β -glucuronidase inhibitors was obtained via in silico drug design and claimed in a patent. Inhibition of β -glucuronidase represents an antitumoral strategy since this enzyme is overexpressed in several type of cancers. From this set of molecules, the aromatic isocyanidebearing compound **316** showed and IC₅₀ of 15.3 μ M and a cytotoxicity against fibroblast 3T3 greater than 30 μ M (Figure 73).²⁸⁵

4.7. Herbicides

Artificial isocyanides derivatives have also been used in agricultural not only as antifungal and antibacterial agents, but also as herbicides. For example, isocyanoacetamides (317 and 319) and ester of isocyanoacetic acid (318 and 320)



Figure 66. Nucleoside analogues containing an isocyano group.

showed inhibitory action on the growth of broadleaf plants (Figure 74).²⁸⁶

The same classes of compounds proved to be active against the germination of rice, cucumber, and radish seeds. The most potent compound was the isocyanoacetic acid anilide **321**.²⁸⁷ A German patent claimed a role in the regulation of plant growth for the sodium and potassium salts of α -isocyanoacetic acids as well.^{288,289}

Isocyanoacetamides were reacted with cyclic ketone, and the tertiary hydroxyl group resulting from the addition was dehydrate, furnishing double bond linked exocycloalkyl- α -isocyanoacetamides **319**. The synthesized compounds were then evaluated for their germination inhibitory activity against rice, cucumber, and radish seeds as well as for their herbicidal effects on rice, tomato, and weed seedlings. Above all, compound **322** emerged as a selective herbicidal against broad-leaf plants with activities equaling to the commercial herbicides acid 2,4-dichlorophenoxy acetic and 2,4-dichlorophenyl-4'-nitrophenyl ether.²⁹⁰

Isocyanide dipeptides **323** were synthesized and evaluated for their inhibitory germination properties at 100 and 10 ppm against rice, cucumber and radish seeds. In this case, the



Figure 65. Amantadine derivatives as antiviral agents.

Chemical Reviews

Review



Figure 67. Nucleoside analogues containing an isocyano group.



X= OR, NHR, NRR, NHAr



Figure 68. α -Isocyanoacetic acid derivatives as plant fungicide.



Figure 69. Imidazole replacement with an isocyano group.

Tab	le	24.	Biol	logical	Activit	y of	Compo	unds	301	and	302
-----	----	-----	------	---------	---------	------	-------	------	-----	-----	-----

compound	B. cinerea (EC_{50})	IC ₅₀ ^a	P. italicum (EC_{50})	IC_{50}^{a}		
301	33 nM	2.6 nM	31 nM	8.0 nM		
302	17000 nM	100 nM	38 000	920 nM		
^{<i>a</i>} Inhibitory effect on 4,4-demethyl sterol synthesis.						



Figure 70. Isocyanophenyl carbamate as insecticides and acaricides.

compounds did not exhibit marked inhibitory effects on germination in comparison with the previous reported α -isocyanoacetic acids (Figure 75).²⁹¹

4.8. Antifouling Agents

The ability of marine organisms, especially mussels, hydroids, and barnacles, to colonize human made marine immersed



Figure 71. Isocyanide quaternary ammonium salts.

Table 25. Activity of Some Erbstatin Isocyanides

compound	TPK-I IC ₅₀ , μg/mL	cytotoxicity on L1210 IC ₅₀ , μg/mL	S. aureus MIC, μg/mL	P. aeruginosa MIC, μg/mL
309	6.25	1.4	25	50
310	>6.4	0.25	6.25	12.5
311	>10	0.65	3.12	25

structures (e.g., ship hulls, fishing nets, and the cooling systems of power stations) is a well-recognized problem. This characteristic is known as biofouling. Broadly speaking, biofouling is only a part of a greater ecological process known as epibiosis. Epibiosis refers to the colonization of microorganism on living surfaces without entailing symbiosis, parasitism, or commensalism. Notwithstanding, in specific cases this phenomenon can damage the host tissues or impair its ability to get nutrients. Interestingly, many living organisms, especially in the marine world, such as sponges, and soft corals are not subjected to the phenomenon of biofouling. Over the years it was shown that they produce antifouling compounds, preventing biofouling or blocking larval settlement. Their study could be a source identification of environmentally friendly antifouling agents. Indeed, compounds containing tin (bis-(tributyltin) oxide) or copper (copper(I) oxide and copper(II) suphate) are commonly employed as part of protective coatings for ship surfaces to contrast the growth of marine organisms. The use of these metals is currently considered unacceptable from an ecological point of view because of their toxicity against marine organisms and the related introduction in the marine and global food chain. Specific natural compounds containing the isocyano group can suppress the growth of microorganisms and the larval settlement without showing toxic effect on larvae,²²³ like kalihinol A from the sponge Acanthella cavernosa (EC₅₀ = 0.087μ g/mL on Balanus amphitrite) and 3-isocyanotheonellin (EC₅₀ of 0.13 μ g/mL against cypris larvae of the barnacle Balanus amphitrite).²⁹² Both compounds possess antibarnacle activity with a potency comparable to those of copper sulfate. Initially, point modification analogues of 3-isocyanotheonellin (196) were synthesized and evaluated (324-326; Figure 76). All of the synthesized compounds maintained antifouling properties.^{293,294}



Figure 72. Erbstatin isocyanides.



Figure 73. β -Glucuronidase inhibitor containing an isocyanide.

Considering the highly chemical complexity of these compounds, structurally simplified synthetic isocyanides were prepared and tested, reveling that simple linear alkyl isocyanide possess similar levels of antifouling activity. The first set of 12 novel linear isocyanides was synthesized and evaluated for its antifouling properties. The larvae settlement was inhibited at concentration between 0.046 and 1.90 μ g/mL with a toxicity (LD₅₀) of 21.28 μ g/mL, with compound **327** being the best performer (EC₅₀ = 0.046 μ g/mL; Figure 77).²⁹⁵

The dansyl, hence fluorescent, modified compound **328** was employed as a probe in order to observe via fluorescence microscope in which district of *Cypris larvae* the compound was accumulated. Although to less extent than the most potent artificial isocyanide previously described, compound **328** maintained good activity against *Balanus amphitrite* (EC₅₀ = 2.80 μ g/mL) with no toxicity (LD₅₀ > 100 μ g/mL). Fluorescence microscope analysis showed high compound concentrations on the oil cell area of cypris larvae, a compartment functioning as food storage (Figure 78).²⁹⁶

Interestingly, starting from the widely available and cheap chemical commodity citronellol (329), the same Authors prepared 20 artificial isocyanides and evaluated them as antifouling agents against *Balanus amphitrite*. The use of citrollelol allows for the introduction of a tertiary isocyano group. As previously shown, tertiary alkyl isocyano compounds were indeed more active than primary or secondary alkyl isocyano groups Interestingly some of the synthesized isocyanides (330 and 331) maintained antifouling properties being only 1.7 fold less active than 327 without showing any sign of toxicity against larvae (Figure 79).²⁹⁷

In order to identify the possible biological target of the most promising antifouling isocyanide agent **327**, its activity was



Figure 75. Isocyanoacetamides which inhibit the germination of rice, cucumber, and radish seeds.

evaluated on three marine organisms: Bugula neritina, Balanus amphitrite (two well-known, taxonomic distant marine fouling organisms), and Danio rerio, a zebrafish not involved in the settlement of marine devices. Using the polymer bound compound 332, it was possible to highlight via SDS-PAGE-LC-MS/MS techniques that the compound binds to three proteins of *B. neritina*. Specifically, two are similar to voltage dependent anion channels (VDAC), which are located on the outer part of mitochondrial membrane and are involved in cell metabolism and cell survival. The third one remains unknown (Figure 80).

The target protein for *B. amphitrite* was a cytochrome P450 and similar to a NADH-ubiquinone oxidoreductase-like protein, a mitochondrial enzyme located into the inner part of the mitochondrial membrane, which is involved in the oxidative phosphorylation, where it catalyzes the electron transfer from NADH to coenzyme Q. Although is unknown which cytochrome P450 isoform interacted with the isocyanide, the authors speculated on similitudes with the CYP15A1 of *Tribolium castaneum*, a beetle species, involved in the insect hormone biosynthesis by catalyzing the transformation of methyl farnesoate into the juvenile hormone III. Finally, the presence of compound **327** in the zebrafrish embryo causes the typical signature due to copper deficiency (e.g., pericardial edema, poor blood circulation, pigmentation defects, andf defect on hematopoiesis).²⁹⁸

Aromatic isocyanides with a hydrophobic tail at the para position (333 and 334) exhibited antifouling properties (Figure 81).²⁹⁹

Un-natural amino acids where the α amino group was replaced with the isocyano moiety were prepared and evaluated for their antifouling activity. Interestingly three of them (335–337; Figure 82) were extremely potent against



Figure 74. Isocyanoacetamides and ester of isocyanoacetic acids as herbicides.

Review









Figure 78. Fluorescent probe.

settlement of cypris larvae *Balanus amphitrite*, without being cytotoxic.³⁰⁰

Since the above-mentioned amino acids were obtained in their racemic form, other isocyanide amino acid derivatives containing two identical functional group at the alpha position were synthesized and tested. Even in this case three potent antifouling agents (338–340) were identified (Figure 83).³⁰¹

Glucosamine isocyanides (**341** and **342**; Figure 84) were proved to exhibit antifouling activity with EC₅₀ of 0.23 and 0.25 μ g/mL, respectively, against cypris larvae of the barnacle *Balanus amphitrite*, without showing any sign toxicity (LC₅₀) over 10 μ g/mL.³⁰²

5. INTERACTION WITH METALLOPROTEINS

As stated at the beginning of the review, isocyanides are potent metal ligands, and therefore they could be used to perturb



Figure 80. Formation of polymer bound antifouling compound 332.











Figure 79. Citronellol and isocyano containing derivatives.

 S
 S
 NC

 NC
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0

Figure 83. α -Isocyanoacids as antifouling agents.



Figure 84. Glucosamine isocyanides as antifouling compounds.

metalloproteins function. Unfortunately, rather than being a feature to capitalize from, this added property has been considered only as a drawback by medicinal chemists, and the studies on the binding of isocyanides with hemoglobin perpetuated the idea of their toxicity. Actually, isocyanides were exploited as tool compounds in many studies on hemoglobin and other metalloproteins, with the goal of defining the topology of their binding site and verifying the effects of ligand binding on the chemical environment around the metal. Those studies were carried out on the purified and isolated proteins, far from a real in vivo context. Just as an example, Professor Malatesta was misled and in his classic paper on metal complexes of isocyanides when he wrote: "They [isocyanides] are extremely toxic, probably because of their ability to combine with hemoglobin".²⁴ This is apparently not true. Isocyanides are not gaseous compounds like oxygen and carbon monoxide, making the necessary fast cross of membranes and interaction with heme of hemoglobin a far more difficult process to achieve. In this context, it is important to remember that the isocyano group has a large dipole moment (3.85 D) with respect to oxygen (0 D) and carbon monoxide (0.11 D), facilitating the attraction and interaction

pubs.acs.org/CR

with the positively charged iron atom of heme. This property finds its empirical correspondence in the better association rate of methyl isocyanide with respect to carbon monoxide in apolar solvents. However, when the heme was dissolved in a detergent based solution mimicking a real-life environment, the effect of the large dipole moment for isocyanide was largely attenuated resulting in similar association constants to heme for the isocyanide ligand and carbon monoxide.³⁰³

Unfortunately, it is not possible to compare the LD_{50} of carbon monoxide with that of methyl isocyanide due to the lack of data availability for the latter. On the other hand, *tert*-butyl isocyanide toxicity by inhalation was evaluated on rats and mice. Death was caused only at high concentrations with an LC_{50} of 356 and 583 mg/m³ for male and female rats. Embryotoxic and antispermatogenic effects have been reported.³⁰⁴ In our view, the in vitro studies for the ability of isocyanides to interact with the metallic prosthetic group of proteins must be seen as the potential demonstration of a putative role for isocyanides as metal binding agents for certain metalloproteins, but not just as warning alert of their potential toxicity.

Linus Pauling was the first to demonstrate the ability of alkyl isocyanides to interact with hemoglobin by competing with oxygen and respecting the same cooperative effect. $^{305-308}$ He also demonstrated marked differences of different alkyl isocyanides for their ability to interact with the hemoglobin because of steric hindrance at the heme pocket. Ethyl isocyanide, isopropryl isocyanide and tert-butyl isocyanide were evaluated both on free heme and in hemoglobin. In free heme all the isocyanides had the same binding affinity, while large differences in affinity were observed when the compounds were tested on hemoglobin. Indeed, ethyl isocyanide was the best binder compared to isopropryl isocyanide and tert-butyl isocyanide. The latter was 200 hundred time less active than ethyl isocyanide (K_d ethyl isocyanide = 0.1 mM, K_d isopropyl isocyanide = 0.3 mM, and $K_{\rm d}$ tert-butyl isocyanide 22.0 mM). The hydrophobic interaction at the heme pocket favored binding, while bulky substituents reduced binding due to steric hindrance. In another paper, 13 alkyl isocyanides were reacted with isolated α and β hemoglobin. Methyl and hexyl isocyanides exhibited the faster association rate, while the propyl isocyanide was the slowest.³⁰⁹ Aromatic isocyanides are even better ligands for myoglobin and hemoglobin. 2,6-dimethylphenylisocyanide (K_d



Figure 85. Modern representation of the Reisberg and Olson binding model for aliphatic (A) and aromatic (B) isocyanides in the heme pocket of hemoglobin.

Review



Figure 86. In (A) and out (B) conformations of alkyl isocyanides bound to hemoglobin.³¹⁴ X-ray crystal structures 105M and 104M, from Protein Data Bank, were used as in and out example, respectively. Heme structure is depicted as a green stick, butyl isocyanide is shown as cyan sticks, and the Fe ion is represented as an orange sphere.

= 10 nM) and 2,6-diethylphenylisocyanide ($K_d = 1$ nM) bind to the horse myoglobin with an affinity up to 5000 times greater than ethyl isocyanide. This result ascribes to the important back-donation of the iron ion to the more electronic deficient aromatic isocyanide, which favors the formation of the complex.³¹⁰ The affinity of the isocyanides for the iron group also depends on the electron withdrawing properties of the R group. With electron withdrawing groups, such as tosylmethyl, the π acceptor properties of isocyanides are improved, enabling a better and stronger binding between the isocyanide and the metal. The binding to myoglobin is always poor compared to hemoglobin and this can be ascribed to distal steric effects due to the restricted pocket of myoglobin.³¹¹

We believe it is relevant to repropose the model of Reisberg and Olson regarding the interaction of aliphatic and aromatic isocyanides with the mammalian hemoglobin. The Authors provided a model for the interaction between the iron and the isocyanide in the heme. Four carbon atoms can be accommodated in an unhindered region close to the heme iron. Methyl isocyanide is affected by steric hindrance compared to carbon monoxide. While this contribution could seem marginal at first, the explanation lies in an unfavorable interaction occurring between the isocyanide methyl group and a valinic isopropyl and/or a hystidinic imidazole from the protein chain. Furthermore, the presence of specific distal amino acids can enable or impede the interaction of isocyanides with the heme group. For example, isocyanides bind lesser extent to cytochrome c peroxidases than hemoglobin, and this could be due to the presence of polar amino acids such as Trp, His, and Arg acting as a shield toward the isocyanide, reducing in turn its ability to reach the sixth coordination site (Figure 85).³¹²

X-rays showed that isocyanides can interact with heme using two conformations. In the in conformation the alkyl group is directed toward the protein interior with the distal histidine forming a hydrogen bond with the isocyanide. In the out conformation the alkyl group is directed toward the solvent exposed region. (Figure 86).³¹³

Alkyl and aromatic isocyanides can interact with the ferrous cytochrome P450 to form a stable complex. In detail, methyl and ethyl isocyanide interact with CYP both in the oxidized and reduced form.^{315,316} Ethyl isocyanide complexed with the Fe(III) hemeproteins render a single Soret peak at 434 nm, while Fe(II) hemeprotein complexes return two bands at 430 and 455 nm. This is a common pattern for all the published studies on isocyanides.^{315,316} The different binding affinities between isocyanides and the CYP450 oxidation states are shown in Table 26.³¹⁷

Table 26. Dissociation Constant of Isocyanides on Reducedand Oxidized Forms of CYP450

compound	CYP450 (Fe III), μM	CYP450 (Fe II), µM
methyl isocyanide	4700	8.2
ethyl isocyanide	390	8.5
tert-butyl isocyanide	40	6.9
phenyl isocyanide	9.8	4.5

The data in Table 26 highlights the strong binding between isocyanides and the iron heme in its reduced form. However, with the increase of the alkyl chain, more favorable interactions with the Fe (III) state start to arise because of the favorable hydrophobic interactions with the heme frame, resulting in overall lower K_d values.

Isocyanides have a different behavior toward hemocyanins, the proteins involved in the oxygen transport in the invertebrates. These metalloproteins contain two copper atoms able to bind to oxygen. Ethyl isocyanide coordinates with the copper atoms preventing and facilitating the expulsion of oxygen.³¹⁸

The metal-coordinating properties of isocyanides can be further exemplified by the ability of cyclohexyl isocyanide to inhibit [Fe]hydrogenase $(K_i < 1 \text{ nM})$,³¹⁹ the inhibition of methyl isocyanide for nitrogenase $(K_i = 158 \ \mu\text{M})$,³²⁰ and of *n*butyl isocyanide toward carbon monoxide dehydrogenase $(K_i = 1.66 \text{ mM})$.³²¹

The interaction between isocyanides and indolamine-2,3dioxygenase has been studied and K_d values were calculated. Ethyl isocyanide, butyl isocyanide and benzyl isocyanide were tested, and their affinities are reported in Table 27.³²²

Table 27. Dissociation Constant of the Ferrous Indolamine 2,3-Dioxygenase with Isocyanides

compound	$K_{\rm d}~(\mu{ m M})$
ethyl isocyanide	12.6
butyl isocyanide	0.29
benzyl isocyanide	0.1

The ability of 2,6-dimethylphenyl isocyanide to act as a ligand toward the copper ions complexed in the dopamine- β -monooxygenase was investigated. This enzyme contains a binuclear Cu–Cu center. IR studies showed that, at low concentration of isocyanide, this group can coordinate with only one of the two copper ions in a random manner, and the interaction resulting in two IR bands (2148 and 2129 cm⁻¹). By increasing the concentration of the isocyanide, the previous peaks coalesced into one IR peak (2160 cm⁻¹) still in the isocyanide region, suggesting that both copper ions have been coordinate with two or three isocyanides containing molecules.³²³

The enzyme cystathionine- β -synthase (CBS) is involved in the metabolism of homocysteine. This enzyme contains two prosthetic groups: a) pyridoxal phosphate, b) an iron protoporphyrin IX. When studying the interaction of isocyanide ligand via EPR spectroscopy, if *tert*-butyl isocyanides failed to interact with the ferric heme group of CBS, it would slowly complex with the ferrous heme group of CBS. This complex appeared to be very stable. The rate of interaction is dependent on the nature of the R group, where aromatic isocyanides are more prone to interact with the ferrous heme group of CBS. The relative rate is phenyl isocyanide > benzyl isocyanide = cyclohexyl isocyanide = butyl isocyanide > *tert*-butyl isocyanide.³²⁴

2,6-Dimethylphenyl isocyanide was shown to interact with the reduced form of peptidylglycine monooxygenase by complexing the methionine-bound copper.³²⁵

Guanylate cyclase is a heme containing enzyme without the ability to bind oxygen. Butyl isocyanide coordinates the ferrous heme of GC, activating the enzyme by 2-5 fold.³²⁶

Heme oxygenase is the enzyme responsible for the degradation of heme into biliverdin, iron, and carbon monoxide. Two isoforms are known: the inducible form HO-1 and the constitutive HO-2. HO-1 gained attention from a medicinal chemistry point of view as it is upregulated in oxidative stress and hypoxia. HO-1 has been shown to play an important role in tumor development and progression. Indeed, HO-1 is very often upregulated in tumors and in immune cells such as macrophages and T regulatory cells, highlighting its role in the modulation of tumor microenvironment and cancer cells evasion from the immune response. In fungal pathogens like Candida albicans or in bacteria like Staphylococcus aureus, HO is primarily used for iron acquisition. It is therefore evident that HO selective inhibitors are potentially anticancer, antibacterial, and antifungal agents. Three isocyanides (isopropyl isocyanide, butyl isocyanide and benzyl isocyanide) were evaluated for their ability to inhibit HO by means of electronic absorption spectroscopy. The results are shown in Table 28.

Heme-oxygenase is characterized by a large hydrophobic cavity close to the point where heme is degraded. It is possible to explain the better inhibitory activity of benzyl isocyanide (K_i = 0.15 μ M) by virtue of favorable hydrophobic and π interactions of the phenyl ring, resulting in ligand stabilization. The isocyano group is then able to interact with the heme iron preventing its degradation. The isocyano group can coordinate both with the ferrous and ferric state, however, with a 200 to 300 fold tighter binding for Fe(II). It is interesting to note that benzyl isocyanide does not block the first step of heme degradation, but it coordinates with the verdoheme intermediate, blocking the continuation of heme degradation to bilirubin. In the same work, the inhibitory activity to CYP3A4 was also investigated. All three isocyanides were able to inhibit CYP3A4, with benzyl isocyanide being the better inhibitor with a K_d of 0.40 μ M, 15-fold weaker than HO-1.³²⁷

The reported interaction of TosMic and 2-naphthylisocyanide with the [Fe]-hydrogenase, an enzyme involved in the archaeal methane forming pathway, is an interesting one. This enzyme contains an iron guanylpyridinol cofactor and it is able to bind to molecular hydrogen and favor its scission. TosMic and NIC are both able to inhibit the enzyme by coordinating with iron, by virtue of K_i values of 2 and 10 nM respectively. Xrays analysis of the complex between the enzyme and the isocyanide reveled that the isocyano group was covalently bound to the pyridinol hydroxy oxygen of the cofactor. This C-O covalent bond takes place after the isonitrile coordinates with the iron ion. The formation of this covalent bond could explain the strong inhibitory effect of these two isocyanides. Despite the formation of the covalent bond, the described inhibition was found to be reversible. This fact could be

Table 28. Dissociation Constant and IC₅₀ Values in μ M of Isocyanides Bound to HO-1 and CYP3A4

comp.	K _d hHO-1 (Fe III)	K _d hHO-2 (Fe III)	K _d HO (Fe III) C. albicans	K _d hHO-1 (Fe II)	K _d HO (Fe II) C. albicans	K _d CYP3A4 (Fe II)	IC ₅₀ hHO-1	IC ₅₀ hHO-2
isopropyl isocyanide	250	170	3800	0.54	4.3	3.7	0.72	1.17
butyl isocyanide	29	33	ND	0.07	0.5	1.3	0.25	0.34
benzyl isocvanide	6	8	ND	0,03	0.03	0.40	0.13	0.10

Review

ascribed to the severe distortion of the newly formed fivemembered ring, which can be released by reconstituting the original isocyanide (Figure 87).³²⁸



Figure 87. Inhibitory mechanism of isocyanides with the [Fe]hydrogenase.

Ethyl isocyanide was shown to irreversibly inhibit xanthine oxidase, the enzyme catalyzing the oxidation of xanthine to uric acid. In detail, the isocyano group complexes molybdenum. Interestingly other isocyanides such as *tert*-butylisocyanide and phenyl isocyanide were not able to inhibit this enzyme.³²⁹

Sterol 26-hydroxylase is a CYP450 (CYP27A1) enzyme located in the mitochondria, able to hydroxylate the position 26, the terminal methyl group of cholesterol side-chain. It has been shown that phenyl isocyanide is able to inhibit 70% of the enzyme at a concentration of 100 μ M.³³⁰

Methyl and ethyl isocyanide bind to the cytochrome c of many photosynthetic bacteria. Other isocyanides were tested that were less potent, with cyclohexyl and *n*-hexyl being the worst.^{331,332}

6. CONCLUSIONS

In this review article we have summarized the biological activities of both natural and artificial isocyanides to the best of our knowledge. Our hope is for attentive readers to begin considering the isocyano moiety not only as a strategic functional group in multicomponent reactions, polymer, and organometallic chemistry, but also as a pharmacophoric group in medicinal chemistry. Isocyanides have so far received little attention in this field, and this lack of consideration can be ascribed to the following general believes: isocyanides (i) are characterized by an atrocious odor, (ii) have large spectrum of reactivity, (iii) are easily hydrolyzed to formamides, and (iv) finally for the scientist unfamiliar with its chemistry, the isocyanide may be associated with toxicity by way of association with cyanide. Though certain isocyanides might have some of the above-mentioned properties, these should not prevent the application of isocyanide chemistry to other fields of interest, such as medicinal chemistry. Exclusively focusing the attention on such unwanted characteristics may be misleading, as demonstrated by recent findings. Indeed, isocyanides are hydrolytically stable at physiological pH and chemically inert to most abundant nucleophiles in living organism, such as amines, thiols, and alcohols. Our report on the metabolism of a series of isocyanides revealed a strong stability both in plasma and against the oxidative hepatic metabolism for secondary and tertiary ones.¹³ This result was corroborated by other metabolic studies on isocyanide containing molecules presented in this review article.^{219,263} Finally, a variety of findings have shown minimal toxicity on mammalian cells for several antibacterial and antimalarial isocyanides.

The examples reported in this review article show that the isocyano group can impart marked and specific biological activities and that definite structure activity relationships can

be drawn, confirming that the isocyano group is responsible for specific mechanisms of action. In our opinion, a well-trained and sensible medicinal chemist should reevaluate the isocyano functional group as an opportunity, rather than a liability. Furthermore, although most of isocyanides containing molecules were tested as antibacterial, antifungal, and antimalarial agents, it is evident that this functional group can be exploited for other biological targets, thanks to the metal coordinative nature of isocyanides. In many diseases, like cancer and inflammation for example, specific metalloproteins are overexpressed and the exploitation of agents able to elicit their inhibition is a classic strategy. It is therefore clear that novel synthetic isocyanides represent a huge opportunity, since they can be tailored to inhibit specific metal-proteins or against heme containing proteins, both relevant in several diseases or in the survival of pathogens. Isocyanides should be considered on a par with any other functional group used in medicinal chemistry. Drug hunters always felt free to add hydroxamic acids or thiols as warheads in the search of metalloproteins inhibitors notwithstanding their potential toxicity, and in pursuing this strategy, they succeeded in delivering marketed drugs. The imidazole and the 1,2,4-triazole rings are wellknown as the best ligands for iron atom in ferriprotoporphyrins, but this has not prevented their use for the identification of selective inhibitors which exploit the differences in the binding pockets of heme containing proteins. We are convinced that the same paradigm will work for isocyanide containing molecules. Furthermore, despite the fact that many synthetic strategies for the preparation of isocyanides have been devised over the years,³³³ their preparation can still suffer from drawbacks and there is room for medicinal and organic chemists to improve or invent novel and mild procedures for their synthesis, especially for highly functionalized compounds. For example, tertiary isocyanides are not always easy to prepare, especially from alcohols, as the elimination reaction is a competitive path, and in several cases an excess of trimethylsilyl cyanide must be used.^{334–338} The synthesis of molecules containing two or three isocyanide moieties, a prerequisite for metal binding coordination of free iron and copper ions, is always challenging and usually resulting in poor yields. Finally, the identification of a late-stage isocyanide functionalization of complex and densely functionalized molecules is yet to be discovered.

The recent identification of the mechanism of action of xanthocillin shed new light over the antibacterial activity of this fascinating molecule. It would be highly desirable to encourage studies toward the identification of the mechanisms of action for the most potent isocyanide derivatives endowed with antimalarial activity.

Obviously, additional novel isocyanides could be designed and synthesized as agriculturally useful compounds. Moreover, they could be exploited for their metal binding properties in metabolic disorders which raise the concentration of metals, such as copper and iron, to a pathological level.

If the hope is to see an approved drug containing an isocyano group in the XXI century, medicinal chemists will have to appeal to both their knowledge and creativity, together with a bit of courage, and employ them as pharmacophoric groups. To this reason we conclude this manuscript with a sentence of the German philosopher Novalis, which summarizes the scope of this review article on isocyanides in medicinal chemistry. This sentence has been previously cited in the pedagogical book of the Italian writer Gianni Rodari *The* *Grammar of Fantasy: An Introduction to the Art of Inventing Stories*³³⁹ which helps the readers to develop their creative side: "Hypotheses are nets: only he who casts will catch".

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Authors

- Gian Cesare Tron Dipartimento di Scienze del Farmaco, Università del Piemonte Orientale, 28100 Novara, Italy; Email: giancesare.tron@uniupo.it
- Mariateresa Giustiniano Dipartimento di Farmacia, Università degli Studi di Napoli "Federico II", 80131 Napoli, Italy; orcid.org/0000-0002-6856-414X; Email: mariateresa.giustiniano@unina.it

Authors

- Alberto Massarotti Dipartimento di Scienze del Farmaco, Università del Piemonte Orientale, 28100 Novara, Italy; orcid.org/0000-0001-9306-8845
- Francesca Brunelli Dipartimento di Scienze del Farmaco, Università del Piemonte Orientale, 28100 Novara, Italy; orcid.org/0000-0001-8396-5745
- Silvio Aprile Dipartimento di Scienze del Farmaco, Università del Piemonte Orientale, 28100 Novara, Italy; orcid.org/0000-0003-4804-9543

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.1c00143

Author Contributions

[§]A.M. and F.B. contributed equally.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Alberto Massarotti received his M.Sc. in medical and pharmaceutical biotechnology in 2006 and his Ph.D. in 2009 from the Università del Piemonte Orientale. He is currently an associate professor of medicinal chemistry at the same university. In 2014 he cofounded the start up IXTAL. His main research interests concern the development and application of novel computational methodologies to discover new biologically relevant compounds, especially in the realm of cancer treatment. He is also working on retrosynthetic combinatorial analysis algorithms based on multicomponent reactions and machine learning algorithm to predict metalloprotein targets of isocyanides.

Francesca Brunelli is a final year student of Chemistry and Pharmaceutical Technologies at the Università del Piemonte Orientale, Novara, Italy. She spent her period of thesis in Professor Tron's lab working on the synthesis of novel isocyanides endowed with anticancer properties and in the search of original electrochemical syntheses of isocyanides.

Silvio Aprile graduated in Chemistry and Pharmaceutical Technologies at the Università del Piemonte Orientale (Novara, Italy) and received in 2008 his Ph.D. at the same University. He is currently a postdoctoral research fellow. His research focuses on the optimization of ADME properties of novel biologically active compounds, with an emphasis on drug metabolism. Current fields of interest include the metabolic fate of emerging functional groups in medicinal chemistry (e.g., triazoles and isocyanides).

Mariateresa Giustiniano graduated in 2007 in Chemistry and Pharmaceutical Technologies at the University of Naples-Federico II, and in 2010 she obtained her Ph.D. in medicinal chemistry (Supervisor: Prof. E. Novellino). She was a visiting student in the laboratories of Prof. G. C. Tron (Università del Piemonte Orientale, Novara, Italy) and Prof. J. Zhu (CNRS, Gif-sur-Yvette, Paris). From 2011 to 2016 she held postdoctoral fellowships at University of Naples Federico II, and in 2016 she became an assistant professor (RTDB). In 2018 she got National Academic Qualification as an associate professor in medicinal chemistry. Her research interests focus on the development of new isocyanide-based multicomponent reactions and on the study of isocyanides' reactivity as somophiles in visible-light photocatalytic processes.

Gian Cesare Tron is a Professor of Medicinal Chemistry at the Università del Piemonte Orientale, Novara, Italy. He received his degree in 1994 in Chemistry and Pharmaceutical Technologies and his Ph.D. in Organic Chemistry in 2001 at the Università di Torino (Italy) both under the supervision of Prof. Giovanni Appendino. Over the years, he spent sabbatical leaves in the laboratory of Prof. Jieping Zhu (Institut de Chimie des Substances Naturelles - Gif-surYvette, France), Varinder K. Aggarwal (School of Chemistry – Bristol, U.K.) and Valery V. Fokin (The Scripps Institute – La Jolla, U.S.A.). His personal scientific formation and his views on chemistry resulted from all those different experiences. In 2007 he was awarded the Farmindustria Prize for his achievements in medicinal chemistry. His research interests concern both the discovery of new multicomponent reactions using isocyanides and the medicinal chemistry of anticancer drugs.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Financial support from Università del Piemonte Orientale, Novara, and Università degli Studi di Napoli "Federico II" is acknowledged.

ABBREVIATIONS

3T3-L1, mouse embryonic fibroblast cell line; A2780T, taxolresistant human ovarian cancer cell lines; A549, carcinomic human alveolar basal epithelial cell line; ABCG2, broad substrate specificity ATP-binding cassette transporter; ACHN, renal adenocarcinoma cell line; B16-F10, murine skin melanoma cells; BE(2)-M17, human neuroblastoma cell line; Caco-2, human colon carcinoma cell line; CBS, cystathionine- β -synthase; CD₅₀, 50% cytotoxic dose; CEM, human T cell lymphoblastic leukemia cell line; CHO, Chinese hamster ovary cells; COMMD1, COMM domain-containing protein 1; COMMD2, COMM domain-containing protein 2; CYP, cytochrome P450; DICA, diisocyanoadociane; DINCA, 8,15-diisocyano-11(20)-amphilectene; DNA, DNA; Du145, human prostate cancer cell line; EC50, half-maximal effective concentration; EDG, electron donating group; EPR, electron paramagnetic resonance; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; ESI-MS, electrospray ionization mass spectrometry; EWG, electron withdrawing group; FM3A, murine mammary carcinoma cells; Ga, giga annum; GC, guanylate cyclase; GI₅₀, 50% cell growth inhibition; H9c2, rat cardiomyoblasts; HA, hemagglutinin; HCT-116, human colon tumor cell line 116; HeLa, human epithelial carcinoma cell line; HepG2, hepatocellular cancer cell lines; hHO, human heme oxygenase; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; HMOX, heme oxygenase; HO, heme oxygenase; HS683, human brain glioma cell line; HSPA1B, Heat shock protein family A (Hsp70) member 1B; HSPCA, heat shock protein alpha; HT-29, human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line; HTS, high throughput screening; HuCCA-1, human cholangiocarcinoma cell line;

IC₅₀, half-maximal inhibitory concentration; ICSs, isocyanide synthases; IMO, International Maritime organization; ISNs, isonitrile synthases; J774, murine macrophage cell line; KATO III, human gastric cancer cell line; K_{d} , dissociation constant; K_{i} , inhibition constant; L1210, mouse lymphocytic leukemia cell line; LC₅₀, median lethal concentration; LC-MS, liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry; LD₅₀, median lethal dose; LLC, Lewis lung carcinoma cell line; LoVo, human colon adenocarcinoma cell line; MCF-7, Michigan Cancer Foundation-7 (breast cancer cells); MDA-MB-231, triple negative breast cancer cell line; MDA-MB-435, human breast carcinoma cell line: MDCK. Madin-Darby canine kidney cells: MEK, mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase; Meth-A, mouse sarcoma cell line; MIC, minimum inhibitory concentration; MRC. Medical research council cell strain 5 (human fetal lung fibroblast cells); MRSA, methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus; MT1B, metallothionein 1B; MT1E, metallothionein 1E; MT1F, metallothionein 1F; MT2A, metallothionein 2A; MT-4, human T cell leukemia; MTT, 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2yl)-2,5-dimethyltetrazolium bromide; NCI-H187, human non small cell lung carcinoma; NDV, Newcastle disease virus; NFF, neonatal foreskin fibroblasts; NIC, 2-naphthylisocyanide; NMR, nuclear magnetic resonance; P388, mouse leukemia cell line; PC3, prostate adenocarcinoma cell line; PD₅₀, 50% protective dose; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; PLC, phospholipase C; PPM, parts per million; QCY-7701, human hepatoma cell line; RD, human rhabdomyosarcoma; RNA, ribonucleic acid; SDS-PAGE, sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis; SF-268, human glioma and astrocytoma cell; SI, selectivity index; SK-MEL-28, human malignant melanoma cell line; SNU-398, hepatocellular carcinoma cell line; Sp., Species; TEVC, two-electrode voltage clamp; THP, tetrahydropyran; TosMic, toluenesulfonylmethyl isocyanide; TPK-I, tyrosine protein kinase I; TPO, thrombopoietin; TXB2, thromboxane B2; U373, human glioblastoma astrocytoma cell line; VDAC, voltage dependent anion channels; VRSA, vancomycin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus

REFERENCES

(1) Rothe, W. Vorläufige Mitteilung Über Ein Neues Antibioticum. *Pharm.* **1950**, *5*, 190.

(2) Hagedorn, I.; Tonjes, H. Structure of Xanthocillin, a New Antibiotic. *Pharm.* **1956**, *11*, 409–410.

(3) Calderazzo, F. A Celebration of Inorganic Lives: Interview with Lamberto Malatesta. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2005**, *249*, 517–523.

(4) Ugi, I.; Meyr, R.; Fetzer, U.; Steinbrückner, C. Versuche Mit Isonitrilen. Angew. Chem. 1959, 71, 386-388.

(5) Zhu, J.; Bienayme, H. Multicomponent Reactions; Wiley-VCH, 2005.

(6) Ugi, I. Isonitrile Chemistry, 1st ed.; Academic Press.: New York, 1971; Vol. 20.

(7) Nenajdenko, V. G. Isocyanide Chemistry: Applications in Synthesis and Material Science; Wiley-VCH.; Weinheim, Germany, 2012.

(8) Pan, N.; Ling, J.; Zapata, R.; Pulicani, J.-P.; Grimaud, L.; Vitale, M. R. Electrochemical TEMPO-Catalyzed Multicomponent C(Sp3)-H α -Carbamoylation of Free Cyclic Secondary Amines. *Green Chem.* **2019**, 21, 6194–6199.

(9) Cernicharo, J.; Kahane, C.; Guélin, M.; Gomez-Gonzalez, J. Tentative Detection of CH3NC towards SGR B2. *Astron. Astrophys.* **1987**, *189*, L1–L2.

(10) Remijan, A. J.; Hollis, J. M.; Lovas, F. J.; Plusquellic, D. F.; Jewell, P. R. Interstellar Isomers: The Importance of Bonding Energy Differences. *Astrophys. J.* **2005**, *632*, 333–339. (11) Mariani, A.; Russell, D. A.; Javelle, T.; Sutherland, J. D. A Light-Releasable Potentially Prebiotic Nucleotide Activating Agent. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140*, 8657–8661.

(12) Liu, Z.; Wu, L.-F.; Xu, J.; Bonfio, C.; Russell, D. A.; Sutherland, J. D. Harnessing Chemical Energy for the Activation and Joining of Prebiotic Building Blocks. *Nat. Chem.* **2020**, *12*, 1023–1028.

(13) Galli, U.; Tron, G. C.; Purghè, B.; Grosa, G.; Aprile, S. Metabolic Fate of the Isocyanide Moiety: Are Isocyanides Pharmacophore Groups Neglected by Medicinal Chemists? *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* **2020**, *33*, 955–966.

(14) Schäfer, R. J. B.; Monaco, M. R.; Li, M.; Tirla, A.; Rivera-Fuentes, P.; Wennemers, H. The Bioorthogonal Isonitrile-Chlorooxime Ligation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2019**, 141, 18644–18648.

(15) Pirrung, M. C.; Ghorai, S.; Ibarra-Rivera, T. R. Multicomponent Reactions of Convertible Isonitriles. *J. Org. Chem.* 2009, 74, 4110–4117.

(16) Mikherdov, A. S.; Novikov, A. S.; Boyarskiy, V. P.; Kukushkin, V. Y. The Halogen Bond with Isocyano Carbon Reduces Isocyanide Odor. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 2921.

(17) Progress in the Chemistry of Organic Natural Products; Fortschritte der Chemie organischer Naturstoffe Progress in the Chemistry of Organic Natural Products; Springer-Verlag: Wien, 1987.

(18) Chang, C. W. J.; Scheuer, P. J. Marine Isocyano Compounds. In *Marine Natural Products — Diversity and Biosynthesis*; Scheuer, P. J., Ed.; Topics in Current Chemistry; Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg, 1993; pp 33–75.

(19) Zhang, X.; Evanno, L.; Poupon, E. Biosynthetic Routes to Natural Isocyanides. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2020**, 2020, 1919–1929.

(20) Schnermann, M. J.; Shenvi, R. A. Syntheses and Biological Studies of Marine Terpenoids Derived from Inorganic Cyanide. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2015**, *32*, 543–577.

(21) Garson, M. J.; Simpson, J. S. Marine Isocyanides and Related Natural Products - Structure, Biosynthesis and Ecology. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2004**, *21*, 164–179.

(22) Scheuer, P. J. Isocyanides and Cyanides as Natural Products. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **1992**, *25*, 433–439.

(23) Edenborough, M. S.; Herbert, R. B. Naturally Occurring Isocyanides. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **1988**, *5*, 229–245.

(24) Malatesta, L. Isocyanide Complexes of Metals. In Prog. Inorg. Chem.; John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 1959; pp 283-379.

(25) Morrison, R. T.; Boyd, R. N. Organic Chemistry, 6th ed.; p 497.
(26) Ramozzi, R.; Chéron, N.; Braïda, B.; Hiberty, P. C.; Fleurat-Lessard, P. A Valence Bond View of Isocyanides' Electronic Structure. New J. Chem. 2012, 36, 1137–1140.

(27) Ghosh, S. N.; Trambarulo, R.; Gordy, W. Electric Dipole Moments of Several Molecules from the Stark Effect. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1953**, *21*, 308–310.

(28) Turin, L. A Spectroscopic Mechanism for Primary Olfactory Reception. *Chem. Senses* 1996, *21*, 773–791.

(29) Turin, L. A Method for the Calculation of Odor Character from Molecular Structure. *J. Theor. Biol.* **2002**, *216*, 367–385.

(30) von Rauge Schleyer, P.; Allerhand, A. Strong Hydrogen Bonds to Carbon in Isocyanides. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1962**, 84, 1322–1323.

(31) Ferstandig, L. L. Carbon as a Hydrogen Bonding Base and Carbon-Hydrogen-Carbon Bonding. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1962, 84, 3553-3557.

(32) Allerhand, A.; von Rague Schleyer, P. Nitriles and Isonitriles as Proton Acceptors in Hydrogen Bonding: Correlation of Δ vOH with Acceptor Structure. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1963**, 85, 866–870.

(33) Mikherdov, A. S.; Katkova, S. A.; Novikov, A. S.; Efremova, M. M.; Reutskaya, E. Y.; Kinzhalov, M. A. (Isocyano Group)…lone Pair Interactions Involving Coordinated Isocyanides: Experimental, Theoretical and CSD Studies. *CrystEngComm* **2020**, *22*, 1154–1159. (34) For an exhaustive and authoritative review on π -hole see: Wang, H.; Wang, W.; Jin, W. J. σ -Hole Bond vs π -Hole Bond: A Comparison Based on Halogen Bond. *Chem. Rev.* **2016**, *116*, 5072–5104.

(35) Lim, Y.; Stein, A. Acid-Catalyzed Solvolysis of Isonitriles. I. Can. J. Chem. 1971, 49, 2455-2459.

(36) Sung, K.; Chen, C.-C. Kinetics and Mechanism of Acid-Catalyzed Hydrolysis of Cyclohexyl Isocyanide and pka Determination of N-Cyclohexylnitrilium Ion. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 4845–4848.

(37) Cunningham, I. D. Kinetics and Mechanism of Nucleophilic Addition of Hydroxide to Aromatic Isocyanides. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 2 **1988**, 1485–1490.

(38) Cunningham, I. D.; Buist, G. J.; Arkle, S. R. Chemistry of Isocyanides. Part 2. Nucleophilic Addition of Hydroxide to Aromatic Isocyanides in Aqueous Dimethyl Sulfoxide. Correlations of Rate with a Nucleophilicity Function. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 2 1991, 589–593.

(39) Giustiniano, M.; Pelliccia, S.; Galli, U.; Amato, J.; Travagin, F.; Novellino, E.; Tron, G. C. A Successful Replacement of Phenols with Isocyanides in the Bargellini Reaction: Synthesis of 3-Carboxamido-Isobutyric Acids. J. Org. Chem. **2016**, *81*, 11467–11471.

(40) Cotton, F. A.; Zingales, F. The Donor-Acceptor Properties of Isonitriles as Estimated by Infrared Study. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1961**, *83*, 351–355.

(41) Wang, B.; Gao, M.; Uosaki, K.; Taketsugu, T. A Quantum Chemical Study of Substituent Effects on CN Bonds in Aryl Isocyanide Molecules Adsorbed on the Pt Surface. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2020**, *22*, 12200–12208.

(42) Pruchnik, F. P.; Duraj, S. A. Isocyanide Complexes. In *Organometallic Chemistry of the Transition Elements*; Pruchnik, F. P., Duraj, S. A., Eds.; Modern Inorganic Chemistry; Springer US: Boston, MA, 1990; pp 617–645.

(43) Bathocromic shift and hypsochromic effect of the infrared stretching frequency of the isocyano group are used to study which type of bond prevail in the metal-isocyanide complex.

(44) Allen, T. A.; Root, W. S. Partition of Carbon Monoxide and Oxygen Between Air and Whole Blood of Rats, Dogs and Men as Affected by Plasma PH. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **1957**, *10*, 186–190.

(45) Stewart, R. D. The Effect of Carbon Monoxide on Humans. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. **1975**, 15, 409–423.

(46) Knorn, M.; Lutsker, E.; Reiser, O. Isonitriles as Supporting and Non-Innocent Ligands in Metal Catalysis. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2020**, *49*, 7730–7752.

(47) Michelin, R. A.; Pombeiro, A. J. L.; Guedes da Silva, M. F. C. Aminocarbene Complexes Derived from Nucleophilic Addition to Isocyanide Ligands. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2001**, *218*, 75–112.

(48) Chatt, J.; Richards, R. L.; Royston, G. H. D. Isonitrile Complexes of Osmium and Their Reactions to Give Hydride, Amine, and Carbene Complexes. *J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans.* **1973**, 1433– 1439.

(49) Demoulin, C. F.; Lara, Y. J.; Cornet, L.; François, C.; Baurain, D.; Wilmotte, A.; Javaux, E. J. Cyanobacteria Evolution: Insight from the Fossil Record. *Free Radical Biol. Med.* **2019**, *140*, 206–223.

(50) Thompson, J. E.; Walker, R. P.; Wratten, S. J.; Faulkner, D. J. A Chemical Defense Mechanism for the Nudibranch Cadlina Luteomarginata. *Tetrahedron* **1982**, *38*, 1865–1873.

(51) Faulkner, D. J.; Molinski, T. F.; Andersen, R. J.; Dumdei, E. J.; De Silva, E. D. Geographical Variation in Defensive Chemicals from Pacific Coast Dorid Nudibranchs and Some Related Marine Molluscs. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol., C: Comp. Pharmacol.* **1990**, *97*, 233–240.

(52) Fusetani, N.; Wolstenholme, H. J.; Matsunaga, S.; Hirota, H. Two New Sesquiterpene Isonitriles from the Nudibranch, Phyllida Pustulosa. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1991**, *32*, 7291–7294.

(53) Klein, D.; Daloze, D.; Braekman, J. C.; Hoffmann, L.; Demoulin, V. New Hapalindoles from the Cyanophyte Hapalosiphon Laingii. *J. Nat. Prod.* **1995**, *58*, 1781–1785.

(54) Pedras, M. S. C.; Yaya, E. E. The First Isocyanide of Plant Origin Expands Functional Group Diversity in Cruciferous Phytoalexins: Synthesis, Structure and Bioactivity of Isocyalexin A. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2012**, *10*, 3613–3616.

(55) Pedras, M. S. C.; Yaya, E. E. Dissecting Metabolic Puzzles through Isotope Feeding: A Novel Amino Acid in the Biosynthetic Pathway of the Cruciferous Phytoalexins Rapalexin A and Isocyalexin A. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2013**, *11*, 1149–1166.

(56) O'Neil, I. A. Isocyanides and Their Heteroanalogues (RZC). In *Comprehensive Organic Functional Group Transformations*; Katritzky, A. R., Meth-Cohn, O., Rees, C. W., Eds.; Elsevier Science: Amsterdam, 1995; pp 693–726.

(57) Hoffmann, P.; Gokel, G.; Marquarding, D.; Ugi, I. In Organic Chemistry; Ugi, I., Ed.; Elsevier, 1971; Vol. 20, pp 9–39.

(58) Iengo, A.; Santacroce, C.; Sodano, G. Metabolism in Porifera. X. On the Intermediary of a Formamide Moiety in the Biosynthesis of Isonitrile Terpenoids in Sponges. *Experientia* **1979**, *35*, 10–11.

(59) Hagadone, M. R.; Scheuer, P. J.; Holm, A. On the Origin of the Isocyano Function in Marine Sponges. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1984**, 106, 2447–2448.

(60) Garson, M. J. Biosynthesis of the Novel Diterpene Isonitrile Diisocyanoadociane by a Marine Sponge of the Amphimedon Genus: Incorporation Studies with Sodium [14C]Cyanide and Sodium [2– 14C]Acetate. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1986**, 35–36.

(61) Fookes, C. J. R.; Garson, M. J.; MacLeod, J. K.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. Biosynthesis of Diisocyanoadociane, a Novel Diterpene from the Marine Sponge Amphimedon Sp. Crystal Structure of a Monoamide Derivative. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 1 **1988**, 1003– 1011.

(62) Karuso, P.; Poiner, A.; Scheuer, P. J. Isocyanoneopupukeanane, a New Tricyclic Sesquiterpene from a Sponge. *J. Org. Chem.* **1989**, *54*, 2095–2097.

(63) Simpson, J. S.; Garson, M. J. Biosynthetic Pathways to Isocyanides and Isothiocyanates; Precursor Incorporation Studies on Terpene Metabolites in the Tropical Marine Sponges Amphimedon Terpenensis and Axinyssa n. Sp. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2004**, *2*, 939– 948.

(64) Achenbach, H.; König, F. Zur Biogenese des Xanthocillins, II: Die Herkunft des Stickstoffs der Isonitril-Gruppen. *Experientia* **1971**, 27, 1250–1251.

(65) Brady, S. F.; Clardy, J. Systematic Investigation of the Escherichia Coli Metabolome for the Biosynthetic Origin of an Isocyanide Carbon Atom. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44*, 7045–7048.

(66) Drake, E. J.; Gulick, A. M. Three-Dimensional Structures of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa PvcA and PvcB, Two Proteins Involved in the Synthesis of 2-Isocyano-6,7-Dihydroxycoumarin. *J. Mol. Biol.* **2008**, 384, 193–205.

(67) Zhu, J.; Lippa, G. M.; Gulick, A. M.; Tipton, P. A. Examining Reaction Specificity in PvcB, a Source of Diversity in Isonitrile-Containing Natural Products. *Biochemistry* **2015**, *54*, 2659–2669.

(68) Clarke-Pearson, M. F.; Brady, S. F. Paerucumarin, a New Metabolite Produced by the Pvc Gene Cluster from Pseudomonas Aeruginosa. J. Bacteriol. 2008, 190, 6927–6930.

(69) Harris, N. C.; Sato, M.; Herman, N. A.; Twigg, F.; Cai, W.; Liu, J.; Zhu, X.; Downey, J.; Khalaf, R.; Martin, J.; et al. Biosynthesis of Isonitrile Lipopeptides by Conserved Nonribosomal Peptide Synthetase Gene Clusters in Actinobacteria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2017**, *114*, 7025–7030.

(70) Li, H.; Liu, Y. Mechanistic Investigation of Isonitrile Formation Catalyzed by the Nonheme Iron/ α -KG-Dependent Decarboxylase (ScoE). ACS Catal. **2020**, 10, 2942–2957.

(71) Pishchany, G.; Mevers, E.; Ndousse-Fetter, S.; Horvath, D. J.; Paludo, C. R.; Silva-Junior, E. A.; Koren, S.; Skaar, E. P.; Clardy, J.; Kolter, R. Amycomicin Is a Potent and Specific Antibiotic Discovered with a Targeted Interaction Screen. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2018**, *115*, 10124–10129.

(72) Hillwig, M. L.; Zhu, Q.; Liu, X. Biosynthesis of Ambiguine Indole Alkaloids in Cyanobacterium Fischerella Ambigua. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2014**, *9*, 372–377.

(73) Hillwig, M. L.; Fuhrman, H. A.; Ittiamornkul, K.; Sevco, T. J.; Kwak, D. H.; Liu, X. Identification and Characterization of A Welwitindolinone Alkaloid Biosynthetic Gene Cluster in Stigonematalean Cyanobacterium Hapalosiphon Welwitschii. *ChemBioChem* **2014**, *15*, 665–669.

(74) Goda, M.; Hashimoto, Y.; Shimizu, S.; Kobayashi, M. Discovery of a Novel Enzyme, Isonitrile Hydratase, Involved in

Nitrogen-Carbon Triple Bond Cleavage. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 23480-23485.

(75) Zhu, M.; Wang, L.; Zhang, Q.; Ali, M.; Zhu, S.; Yu, P.; Gu, X.; Zhang, H.; Zhu, Y.; He, J. Tandem Hydration of Diisonitriles Triggered by Isonitrile Hydratase in Streptomyces Thioluteus. *Org. Lett.* **2018**, *20*, 3562–3565.

(76) Sato, H.; Hashimoto, Y.; Fukatsu, H.; Kobayashi, M. Novel Isonitrile Hydratase Involved in Isonitrile Metabolism. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2010**, 285, 34793–34802.

(77) Taniguchi, K.; Murata, K.; Murakami, Y.; Takahashi, S.; Nakamura, T.; Hashimoto, K.; Koshino, H.; Dohmae, N.; Yohda, M.; Hirose, T.; et al. Novel Catalytic Activity of Nitrile Hydratase from Rhodococcus Sp. N771. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.* **2008**, *106*, 174–179.

(78) Crawford, J. M.; Portmann, C.; Zhang, X.; Roeffaers, M. B. J.; Clardy, J. Small Molecule Perimeter Defense in Entomopathogenic Bacteria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2012**, *109*, 10821–10826.

(79) Qaisar, U.; Kruczek, C. J.; Azeem, M.; Javaid, N.; Colmer-Hamood, J. A.; Hamood, A. N. The Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Extracellular Secondary Metabolite, Paerucumarin, Chelates Iron and Is Not Localized to Extracellular Membrane Vesicles. *J. Microbiol.* **2016**, *54*, 573–581.

(80) Rothe, W. A Process for Producing an Antibiotic. DE 882139 C, July 6, 1953.

(81) Later this antibiotic has been isolated in other penicillums (Penicillum expansum, Eupenicillum egyptiacum, Penicillum chrysogenum, Penicillum puberullum, Penicillum nilense), aspergillus, and dichotomyces.

(82) Rothe, W.; Sous, H.; Keller, H.; Muckter, H. Xanthocillin Experimental and Clinical Studies. *Antibiot. Annu.* **1956**, 140–143.

 $(\hat{8}3)$ Beiersdorf, R.; Ahrens, W. Studies on antibacterial and pharmacodynamic properties of a new antibiotic xanthocillin. *Pharm.* **1953**, *8*, 796–801.

(84) Ahrens, C. B. F. W.; Bärwald, G. Zur Frage Der In-Vitro-Aktivität Und Der Therapeutischen Wirksamkeit Des Lokalantibioticums Brevicid. *Pharm.* **1971**, *26*, 100–107.

(85) Sous, H.; Keller, H.; Kleine-Natrop, H. E.; Krupe, W.; Rothe, W.; Muckter, H. Experimental basis of the use of a tyrothricinxanthocillin combination in local therapy of bacterial infections. *Arzneimittelforschung.* **1957**, *7*, 98–103.

(86) The trade name of a mixture of xanthocillin and tyrothricin was Tyrocid.

(87) Lim, F. Y.; Won, T. H.; Raffa, N.; Baccile, J. A.; Wisecaver, J.; Rokas, A.; Schroeder, F. C.; Keller, N. P. Fungal Isocyanide Synthases and Xanthocillin Biosynthesis in Aspergillus Fumigatus. *mBio* **2018**, *9*, No. e00785-18.

(88) For a review on regulation of copper homeostasis in cell and the role of copper in host-fungal interactions see: Raffa, N.; Osherov, N.; Keller, N. P. Copper Utilization, Regulation, and Acquisition by Aspergillus Fumigatus. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2019**, *20*, 1980.

(89) Zuck, K. M.; Shipley, S.; Newman, D. J. Induced Production of N-Formyl Alkaloids from Aspergillus Fumigatus by Co-Culture with Streptomyces Peucetius. J. Nat. Prod. 2011, 74, 1653–1657.

(90) Tsunakawa, M.; Ohkusa, N.; Kobaru, S.; Narita, Y.; Murata, S.; Sawada, Y.; Oki, T. BU-4704, a New Member of the Xanthocillin Class. J. Antibiot. **1993**, 46, 687–688.

(91) A recent Chinese patent claimed antitubercular activity for Bu-4704 against *Mycobacterium Tuberculosis* (MIC 1 μ g/mL): Guan, Y.; Hao, X.; Liu, Z.; Xiao, C.; Zhang, M.; Zhang, Y. Methylophtocillin Ester and Its Salts, and Preparation Method, Application and Pharmaceutical Composition Thereof. CN 101265214 B, July 23, 2014.

(92) Shang, Z.; Li, X.; Meng, L.; Li, C.; Gao, S.; Huang, C.; Wang, B. Chemical Profile of the Secondary Metabolites Produced by a Deep-Sea Sediment-Derived Fungus Penicillium Commune SD-118. *Chin. J. Oceanol. Limnol.* **2012**, *30*, 305–314.

(93) Zhao, Y.; Chen, H.; Shang, Z.; Jiao, B.; Yuan, B.; Sun, W.; Wang, B.; Miao, M.; Huang, C. SD118-Xanthocillin X (1), a Novel Marine Agent Extracted from Penicillium Commune, Induces Autophagy through the Inhibition of the MEK/ERK Pathway. Mar. Drugs 2012, 10, 1345–1359.

(94) Futamura, Y.; Yamamoto, K.; Osada, H. Phenotypic Screening Meets Natural Products in Drug Discovery[†]. *Biosci., Biotechnol., Biochem.* **201**7, *81*, 28–31.

(95) Hübner, I.; Shapiro, J. A.; Hoßmann, J.; Drechsel, J.; Hacker, S. M.; Rather, P. N.; Pieper, D. H.; Wuest, W. M.; Sieber, S. A. Broad Spectrum Antibiotic Xanthocillin X Effectively Kills Acinetobacter Baumannii via Dysregulation of Heme Biosynthesis. *ACS Cent. Sci.* **2021**, *7*, 488–498.

(96) Khan, I.; Zhang, H.; Liu, W.; Zhang, L.; Peng, F.; Chen, Y.; Zhang, Q.; Zhang, G.; Zhang, W.; Zhang, C. Identification and Bioactivity Evaluation of Secondary Metabolites from Antarctic-Derived Penicillium Chrysogenum CCTCC M 2020019. *RSC Adv.* **2020**, *10*, 20738–20744.

(97) Ando, K.; Tamura, G.; Arima, K. A New Antibiotic, 1-(p-Hydroxyphenyl)-2,3-Diisocyano-4-(p-Methoxyphenyl)-Buta-1,3-Diene. II. Elucidation of the Structure. (Studies on Antiviral and Antitumor Antibiotics. 3.). J. Antibiot. **1968**, 21, 587–591.

(98) Takatsuki, A.; Tamura, G.; Arima, K. Mode of Action of Xanthocillin X Monomethylether on Multiplication of Newcastle Disease Virus in Cultured Cells. (Studies on Antiviral and Antitumor Antibiotics. XV). J. Antibiot. **1969**, *22*, 151–160.

(99) Kitahara, N.; Endo, A. Xanthocillin X Monomethyl Ether, a Potent Inhibitor of Prostaglandin Biosynthesis. J. Antibiot. **1981**, 34 (12), 1556–1561.

(100) Fukuyasu, H.; Kawaharajo, K.; Koyama, M.; Kurihara, H.; Tsuruoka, T. Method of Inhibiting Tumor Growth Using Xanthocillin X Dimethylether. EP 0486944 A2, May 27, 1992.

(101) Huang, L.-H.; Xu, M.-Y.; Li, H.-J.; Li, J.-Q.; Chen, Y.-X.; Ma, W.-Z.; Li, Y.-P.; Xu, J.; Yang, D.-P.; Lan, W.-J. Amino Acid-Directed Strategy for Inducing the Marine-Derived Fungus Scedosporium Apiospermum F41–1 to Maximize Alkaloid Diversity. *Org. Lett.* **2017**, *19*, 4888–4891.

(102) Isaka, M.; Boonkhao, B.; Rachtawee, P.; Auncharoen, P. A Xanthocillin-like Alkaloid from the Insect Pathogenic Fungus Cordyceps Brunnearubra BCC 1395. J. Nat. Prod. **2007**, 70, 656–658. (103) Sakai, R.; Nakamura, T.; Nishino, T.; Yamamoto, M.; Miyamura, A.; Miyamoto, H.; Ishiwata, N.; Komatsu, N.; Kamiya, H.; Tsuruzoe, N. Xanthocillins as Thrombopoietin Mimetic Small Molecules. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2005**, *13*, 6388–6393.

(104) Tatsuta, K.; Yamaguchi, T. The First Stereoselective Total Synthesis of Antiviral Antibiotic, Xanthocillin X Dimethylether and Its Stereoisomer. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2005**, *46*, 5017–5020.

(105) Tatsuta, K.; Hosokawa, S. Total Syntheses of Polyketide-Derived Bioactive Natural Products. *Chem. Rec.* **2006**, *6*, 217–233.

(106) Yamaguchi, T.; Miyake, Y.; Miyamura, A.; Ishiwata, N.; Tatsuta, K. Structure-Activity Relationships of Xanthocillin Derivatives as Thrombopoietin Receptor Agonist. *J. Antibiot.* **2006**, *59*, 729– 734.

(107) Takahashi, C.; Sekita, S.; Yoshihira, K.; Natori, S. The Structures of Toxic Metabolites of Aspergillus Candidus. II. The Compound B (Xanthoascin), a Hepato- and Cardio-Toxic Xanthocillin Analog. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1976**, *24*, 2317–2321.

(108) Zhang, W.; Wei, W.; Shi, J.; Chen, C.; Zhao, G.; Jiao, R.; Tan, R. Natural Phenolic Metabolites from Endophytic Aspergillus Sp. IFB-YXS with Antimicrobial Activity. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2015**, *25*, 2698–2701.

(109) Itoh, J.; Takeuchi, Y.; Gomi, S.; Inouye, S.; Mikawa, T.; Yoshikawa, N.; Ohkishi, H. MK4588, a New Antibiotic Related to Xanthocillin. J. Antibiot. **1990**, 43, 456–461.

(110) Bills, G. F.; De La Cruz, M. M.; El Aouad, N.; Genilloud, R. O.; Gonzalez Mendez, V. M.; Monteiro De Aiguar, M. C. N.; Reyes, B. J. F.; Tormo, B. J. R.; Vicente Perez, M. F. Compounds with Antibacterial Activity. EP 2821394 A1, January 7, 2015.

(111) Zapf, S.; Hossfeld, M.; Anke, H.; Velten, R.; Steglich, W. Darlucins A and B, New Isocyanide Antibiotics from Sphaerellopsis Filum (Darluca Filum). *J. Antibiot.* **1995**, *48*, 36–41.

(112) Vijayakumar, E. K.; Roy, K.; Hiremath, C. P.; Deshmukh, S. K.; Mukhopadhyay, T.; Kogler, H. L 970843 and L 970844, Two New Antifungal Metabolites from an Unidentified Fungal Species HIL Y-903146. *J. Antibiot.* **2001**, *54*, 973–976.

(113) Nobuhara, M.; Tazima, H.; Shudo, K.; Itai, A.; Okamoto, T.; Iitaka, Y. A Fungal Metabolite, Novel Isocyano Epoxide. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1976**, *24*, 832–834.

(114) Brewer, D.; Gabe, E. J.; Hanson, A. W.; Taylor, A.; Keeping, J. W.; Thaller, V.; Das, B. C. Isonitrile Acids from Cultures of the Fungus Trichoderma Hamatum(Bon.) Bain. Aggr., X-Ray Structure. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1979**, 1061–1062.

(115) Naruta, Y.; Uno, H.; Maruyama, K. Synthesis of (\pm) -Eleutherin, (\pm) -Isoeleutherin, and Their Demethoxy Analogues. A Novel Synthetic Approach. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1981, 1277–1278.

(116) Baldwin, J. E.; Adlington, R. M.; Chondrogianni, J.; Edenborough, M. S.; Keeping, J. W.; Ziegler, C. B. Structure and Synthesis of New Cyclopentenyl Isonitriles from Trichoderma Hamatum(Bon.) Bain. Aggr. HLX 1379. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 816–817.

(117) Boyd, R. K.; McAlees, A. J.; Taylor, A.; Walter, J. A. Isolation of New Isocyanide Metabolites of Trichoderma Hamatum as Their (H5-Pentamethylcyclopentadienyl)- or (H5-Ethyltetramethylcyclopentadienyl)-Di-µ-Thiocyanato-Rhodium Complexes. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 1461–1465.

(118) Fujiwara, A.; Okuda, T.; Masuda, S.; Shiomi, Y.; Miyamoto, C.; Sekine, Y.; Tazoe, M.; Fujiwara, M. Fermentation, Isolation and Characterization of Isonitrile Antibiotics. *Agric. Biol. Chem.* **1982**, *46*, 1803–1809.

(119) Liss, S. N.; Brewer, D.; Taylor, A.; Jones, G. A. Antibiotic Activity of an Isocyanide Metabolite of Trichoderma Hamatum against Rumen Bacteria. *Can. J. Microbiol.* **1985**, *31*, 767–772.

(120) Ichida, J.; Ohsugi, K.; Takahashi, E. Antibiotische verbindung. DE 3326518 C2, September 19, 1985.

(121) Brewer, D.; Calder, F. W.; Jones, G. A.; Tanguay, D.; Taylor, A. Effect of Nickelous and Other Metal Ions on the Inhibition of Rumen Bacterial Metabolism by 3-(3'-Isocyanocyclopent-2-Enylidene)Propionic Acid and Related Isocyanides. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **1986**, *51*, 138–142.

(122) Lee, C. H.; Koshino, H.; Chung, M. C.; Lee, H. J.; Kho, Y. H. MR304A, a New Melanin Synthesis Inhibitor Produced by Trichoderma Harzianum. *J. Antibiot.* **1995**, *48*, 1168–1170.

(123) Lee, C. H.; Chung, M. C.; Lee, H. J.; Bae, K. S.; Kho, Y. H. MR566A and MR56.6B, New Melanin Synthesis Inhibitors Produced by Trichoderma Harzianum I. Taxonomy, Fermentation, Isolation and Biological Activities. J. Antibiot. **1997**, *50*, 469–473.

(124) Yamamoto, S.; Hiraga, K.; Abiko, A.; Hamanaka, N.; Oda, K. A New Function of Isonitrile as an Inhibitor of the PdrSp Multidrug ABC Transporter in Saccharomyces Cerevisiae. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2005**, 330, 622–628.

(125) Marconi, G. G.; Molloy, B. B.; Nagarajan, R.; Martin, J. W.; Deeter, J. B.; Occolowitz, J. L. A32390A, a New Biologically Active Metabolite. II. Isolation and Structure. *J. Antibiot.* **1978**, *31*, 27–32.

(126) Gloer, J. B.; Poch, G. K.; Short, D. M.; McCloskey, D. V. Structure of Brassicicolin A: A Novel Isocyanide Antibiotic from the Phylloplane Fungus Alternaria Brassicicola. *J. Org. Chem.* **1988**, *53*, 3758–3761.

(127) Pedras, M. S. C.; Chumala, P. B.; Jin, W.; Islam, M. S.; Hauck, D. W. The Phytopathogenic Fungus Alternaria Brassicicola: Phytotoxin Production and Phytoalexin Elicitation. *Phytochemistry* **2009**, *70*, 394–402.

(128) Pedras, M. S. C.; Park, M. R. The Biosynthesis of Brassicicolin A in the Phytopathogen Alternaria Brassicicola. *Phytochemistry* **2016**, 132, 26–32.

(129) Fuller, R. W.; Ho, P. P. K.; Matsumoto, C.; Clemens, J. A. New Inhibitors of Dopamine β -Hydroxylase. *Adv. Enzyme Regul.* 1977, 15, 267–281.

(130) Pedras, M. S. C.; Chumala, P. B. Maculansins, Cryptic Phytotoxins from Blackleg Fungi. *Nat. Prod. Commun.* **2011**, *6*, 617–620.

(131) Asif, A.; Iftikhar, A.; Hamood, A.; Colmer-Hamood, J. A.; Qaisar, U. Isonitrile-Functionalized Tyrosine Modulates Swarming Motility and Quorum Sensing in Pseudomonas Aeruginosa. *Microb. Pathog.* **2019**, *127*, 288–295.

(132) Wang, L.; Zhu, M.; Zhang, Q.; Zhang, X.; Yang, P.; Liu, Z.; Deng, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Huang, X.; Han, L.; et al. Diisonitrile Natural Product SF2768 Functions As a Chalkophore That Mediates Copper Acquisition in Streptomyces Thioluteus. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2017**, *12*, 3067–3075.

(133) Zhu, M.; Wang, L.; Zhang, W.; Liu, Z.; Ali, M.; Imtiaz, M.; He, J. Diisonitrile-Mediated Reactive Oxygen Species Accumulation Leads to Bacterial Growth Inhibition. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2020**, *83*, 1634– 1640.

(134) Xu, Y.; Tan, D. S. Total Synthesis of the Bacterial Diisonitrile Chalkophore SF2768. *Org. Lett.* **2019**, *21*, 8731–8735.

(135) Marquez, J. A.; Horan, A. C.; Kalyanpur, M.; Lee, B. K.; Loebenberg, D.; Miller, G. H.; Patel, M.; Waitz, J. A. The Hazimicins, a New Class of Antibiotics. Taxonomy, Fermentation, Isolation, Characterization and Biological Properties. *J. Antibiot.* **1983**, *36*, 1101–1108.

(136) Horan, A. C.; Marquez, J. A.; Patel, M. G.; Waitz, J. A. Broad Spectrum Antibiotic Complex Produced by a Novel Micromonospora. US 4440751 A, April 3, 1984.

(137) Isshiki, K.; Takahashi, Y.; Okada, M.; Sawa, T.; Hamada, M.; Naganawa, H.; Takita, T.; Takeuchi, T.; Umezawa, H.; Yamamoto, M.; Tatsuta, K. A New Antibiotic Indisocin and N-Methylindisocin. *J. Antibiot.* **1987**, *40*, 1195–1198.

(138) Parker, W. L.; Rathnum, M. L.; Johnson, J. H.; Wells, J. S.; Principe, P. A.; Sykes, R. B. Aerocyanidin, a New Antibiotic Produced by Chromobacterium Violaceum. *J. Antibiot.* **1988**, *41*, 454–460.

(139) Sugawara, T.; Tanaka, A.; Imai, H.; Naga, K.; Suzuki, K. YM-47515, a Novel Isonitrile Antibiotic from Micromonospora Echinospora Subsp. Echinospora. J. Antibiot. **1997**, *50*, 944–948.

(140) Ernouf, G.; Wilt, I. K.; Zahim, S.; Wuest, W. M. Epoxy Isonitriles, A Unique Class of Antibiotics: Synthesis of Their Metabolites and Biological Investigations. *ChemBioChem* **2018**, *19*, 2448–2452.

(141) Evans, J. R.; Napier, E. J.; Yates, P. Isolation of a New Antibiotic from a Species of Pseudomonas. *J. Antibiot.* **1976**, *29*, 850–852.

(142) Kobayashi, J.; Tsuda, M.; Nemoto, A.; Tanaka, Y.; Yazawa, K.; Mikami, Y. Brasilidine A, a New Cytotoxic Isonitrile-Containing Indole Alkaloid from the Actinomycete Nocardia Brasiliensis. *J. Nat. Prod.* **1997**, *60*, 719–720.

(143) Hoppe, I.; Schöllkopf, U. Synthesis and Biological Activities of the Antibiotic B 371 and Its Analogs. *Liebigs Ann. Chem.* **1984**, *1984*, 600–607.

(144) Suzuki, M.; Nunami, K.; Matsumoto, K.; Yoneda, N.; Kasuga, O.; Yoshida, H.; Yamaguchi, T. Syntheses and Antimicrobial Activities of α -Isocyanoacrylic Acid Derivatives. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1980**, *28*, 2374–2383.

(145) Ittiamornkul, K.; Zhu, Q.; Gkotsi, D. S.; Smith, D. R. M.; Hillwig, M. L.; Nightingale, N.; Goss, R. J. M.; Liu, X. Promiscuous Indolyl Vinyl Isonitrile Synthases in the Biogenesis and Diversification of Hapalindole-Type Alkaloids. *Chem. Sci.* **2015**, *6*, 6836–6840.

(146) Moore, R. E.; Cheuk, C.; Patterson, G. M. L. Hapalindoles: New Alkaloids from the Blue-Green Alga Hapalosiphon Fontinalis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1984**, *106*, 6456–6457.

(147) Becher, P. G.; Keller, S.; Jung, G.; Süssmuth, R. D.; Jüttner, F. Insecticidal Activity of 12-Epi-Hapalindole J Isonitrile. *Phytochemistry* **2007**, *68*, 2493–2497.

(148) Mo, S.; Krunic, A.; Santarsiero, B. D.; Franzblau, S. G.; Orjala, J. Hapalindole-Related Alkaloids from the Cultured Cyanobacterium Fischerella Ambigua. *Phytochemistry* **2010**, *71*, 2116–2123.

(149) Mo, S.; Krunic, A.; Chlipala, G.; Orjala, J. Antimicrobial Ambiguine Isonitriles from the Cyanobacterium Fischerella Ambigua. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2009**, *72*, 894–899.

(150) Smitka, T. A.; Bonjouklian, R.; Doolin, L.; Jones, N. D.; Deeter, J. B.; Yoshida, W. Y.; Prinsep, M. R.; Moore, R. E.; Patterson, G. M. L. Ambiguine Isonitriles, Fungicidal Hapalindole-Type Alkaloids from Three Genera of Blue-Green Algae Belonging to the Stigonemataceae. J. Org. Chem. **1992**, *57*, 857–861.

(151) Park, A.; Moore, R. E.; Patterson, G. M. L. Fischerindole L, a New Isonitrile from the Terrestrial Blue-Green Alga Fischerella Muscicola. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *33*, 3257–3260.

(152) Walton, K.; Gantar, M.; Gibbs, P. D. L.; Schmale, M. C.; Berry, J. P. Indole Alkaloids from Fischerella Inhibit Vertebrate Development in the Zebrafish (Danio Rerio) Embryo Model. *Toxins* **2014**, *6*, 3568–3581.

(153) Jimenez, J. I.; Huber, U.; Moore, R. E.; Patterson, G. M. L. Oxidized Welwitindolinones from Terrestrial Fischerella Spp. J. Nat. Prod. **1999**, 62, 569–572.

(154) Schwartz, R. E.; Hirsch, C. F.; Springer, J. P.; Pettibone, D. J.; Zink, D. L. Unusual Cyclopropane-Containing Hapalindolinones from a Cultured Cyanobacterium. *J. Org. Chem.* **1987**, *52*, 3704– 3706.

(155) Stratmann, K.; Moore, R. E.; Bonjouklian, R.; Deeter, J. B.; Patterson, G. M. L.; Shaffer, S.; Smith, C. D.; Smitka, T. A. Welwitindolinones, Unusual Alkaloids from the Blue-Green Algae Hapalosiphon Welwitschii and Westiella Intricata. Relationship to Fischerindoles and Hapalinodoles. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1994**, 116, 9935–9942.

(156) Li, S.; Lowell, A. N.; Yu, F.; Raveh, A.; Newmister, S. A.; Bair, N.; Schaub, J. M.; Williams, R. M.; Sherman, D. H. Hapalindole/ Ambiguine Biogenesis Is Mediated by a Cope Rearrangement, C-C Bond-Forming Cascade. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137*, 15366–15369.

(157) Raveh, A.; Carmeli, S. Antimicrobial Ambiguines from the Cyanobacterium Fischerella Sp. Collected in Israel. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2007**, 70, 196–201.

(158) Moore, R. E.; Patterson, G. M. L. Hapalindoles. EP 0171283 A2, February 12, 1986.

(159) Kim, H.; Lantvit, D.; Hwang, C. H.; Kroll, D. J.; Swanson, S. M.; Franzblau, S. G.; Orjala, J. Indole Alkaloids from Two Cultured Cyanobacteria, Westiellopsis Sp. and Fischerella Muscicola. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2012**, *20*, 5290–5295.

(160) Bonjouklian, R.; Moore, R. E.; Patterson, G. M. L.; Smitka, T. A. Hapalindole Alkaloids as Antifungal and Antitumor Agents. EP 0543516 A1, May 26, 1993.

(161) Thanh Doan, N.; Rickards, R. W.; Rothschild, J. M.; Smith, G. D. Allelopathic Actions of the Alkaloid 12-Epi-Hapalindole E Isonitrile and Calothrixin A from Cyanobacteria of the Genera Fischerella and Calothrix. *J. Appl. Phycol.* **2000**, *12*, 409–416.

(162) Doan, N. T.; Stewart, P. R.; Smith, G. D. Inhibition of Bacterial RNA Polymerase by the Cyanobacterial Metabolites 12-Epi-Hapalindole E Isonitrile and Calothrixin A. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **2001**, *196*, 135–139.

(163) Acuña, U. M.; Zi, J.; Orjala, J.; Carcache de Blanco, E. J. Ambiguine I Isonitrile from Fischerella Ambigua Induces Caspase-Independent Cell Death in MCF-7 Hormone Dependent Breast Cancer Cells. *Int. J. Cancer Res.* **2015**, *49*, 1655–1662.

(164) Schwartz, R. E.; Hirsch, C. F.; Sigmund, J. M.; Pettibone, D. J. Hapalindolinone Compounds as Vassopressin Antagonists. US 4803217 A, February 7, 1989.

(165) Koodkaew, I.; Sunohara, Y.; Matsuyama, S.; Matsumoto, H. Isolation of Ambiguine D Isonitrile from Hapalosiphon Sp. and Characterization of Its Phytotoxic Activity. *Plant Growth Regul.* **2012**, *68*, 141–150.

(166) Carmeli, S.; Moore, R. E.; Patterson, G. M. L.; Mori, Y.; Suzuki, M. Isonitriles from the Blue-Green Alga Scytonema Mirabile. *J. Org. Chem.* **1990**, *55*, 4431–4438.

(167) Han, B.-N.; Hong, L.-L.; Gu, B.-B.; Sun, Y.-T.; Wang, J.; Liu, J.-T.; Lin, H.-W. Natural Products from Sponges. In Symbiotic

Microbiomes of Coral Reefs Sponges and Corals; Li, Z., Ed.; Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht, 2019; pp 329-463.

(168) Garson, M. J.; Thompson, J. E.; Larsen, R. M.; Battershill, C. N.; Murphy, P. T.; Bergquist, P. R. Terpenes in Sponge Cell Membranes: Cell Separation and Membrane Fractionation Studies with the Tropical Marine SpongeAmphimedon Sp. *Lipids* **1992**, *27*, 378–388.

(169) Burreson, B. J.; Scheuer, P. J.; Finer, J.; Clardy, J. 9-Isocyanopupukeanane, a Marine Invertebrate Allomone with a New Sesquiterpene Skeleton. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1975**, 97, 4763–4764.

(170) Scheuer, P. J. Across Two Oceans onto the Reef—The Genesis of Marine Natural Products. In *Culture of Chemistry: The Best Articles on the Human Side of 20th-Century Chemistry from the Archives of the Chemical Intelligencer;* Hargittai, B., Hargittai, I., Eds.; Springer US: Boston, MA, 2015; pp 215–228.

(171) Fusetani, N.; Wolstenholme, H. J.; Matsunaga, S. Co-Occurrence of 9-Isocyanopupukeanane and Its C-9 Epimer in the Nudibranch Phyllidia Bourguini. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 5623–5624.

(172) Manzo, E.; Carbone, M.; Mollo, E.; Irace, C.; Di Pascale, A.; Li, Y.; Ciavatta, M. L.; Cimino, G.; Guo, Y.-W.; Gavagnin, M. Structure and Synthesis of a Unique Isonitrile Lipid Isolated from the Marine Mollusk Actinocyclus Papillatus. *Org. Lett.* **2011**, *13*, 1897– 1899.

(173) Kassuhlke, K. E.; Potts, B. C. M.; Faulkner, D. J. New Nitrogenous Sesquiterpenes from Two Philippine Nudibranchs, Phyllidia Pustulosa and P. Varicosa, and from a Palauan Sponge, Halichondria Cf. Lendenfeldi. *J. Org. Chem.* **1991**, *56*, 3747–3750.

(174) Cafieri, F.; Fattorusso, E.; Magno, S.; Santacroce, C.; Sica, D. Isolation and Structure of Axisonitrile-1 and Axisothiocyanate-1 Two Unusual Sesquiterpenoids from the Marine SpongeAxinella Cannabina. *Tetrahedron* **1973**, *29*, 4259–4262.

(175) Minale, L.; Riccio, R.; Sodano, G. Acanthellin-1, an Unique Isonitrile Sesquiterpene from the Sponge Acanthella Acuta. *Tetrahedron* **1974**, *30*, 1341–1343.

(176) Ciminiello, P.; Fattorusso, E.; Magno, S.; Mayol, L. New Nitrogenous Sesquiterpenes from the Marine Sponge Axinella Cannabina. J. Org. Chem. **1984**, 49, 3949–3951.

(177) Ciminiello, P.; Fattorusso, E.; Magno, S.; Mayol, L. Sesquiterpenoids Based on the Epi-Maaliane Skeleton from the Marine Sponge Axinella Cannabina. J. Nat. Prod. **1985**, 48, 64–68.

(178) Braekman, J. C.; Daloze, D.; Gregoire, F.; Popov, S.; van Soest, R. Two New Kalihinenes from the Marine Sponge Acanthella Cavernosa. *Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg.* **1994**, *103*, 187–191.

(179) Miyaoka, H.; Shimomura, M.; Kimura, H.; Yamada, Y.; Kim, H.-S.; Yusuke, W. Antimalarial Activity of Kalihinol A and New Relative Diterpenoids from the Okinawan Sponge, Acanthella Sp. *Tetrahedron* **1998**, *54*, 13467–13474.

(180) Iwashima, M.; Terada, I.; Iguchi, K.; Yamori, T. New Biologically Active Marine Sesquiterpenoid and Steroid from the Okinawan Sponge of the Genus Axinyssa. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **2002**, *50*, 1286–1289.

(181) Baker, J. T.; Wells, R. J.; Oberhaensli, W. E.; Hawes, G. B. A New Diisocyanide of Novel Ring Structure from a Sponge. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1976**, 98, 4010–4012.

(182) Burreson, B. J.; Christophersen, C.; Scheuer, P. J. Cooccurrence of a Terpenoid Isocyanide-Formamide Pair in the Marine Sponge Halichondria Species. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 201–202.

(183) Chang, C. W. J.; Patra, A.; Roll, D. M.; Scheuer, P. J.; Matsumoto, G. K.; Clardy, J. Kalihinol-A, a Highly Functionalized Diisocyano Diterpenoid Antibiotic from a Sponge. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1984**, *106*, 4644–4646.

(184) Patra, A.; Chang, C. W. J.; Scheuer, P. J.; Van Duyne, G. D.; Matsumoto, G. K.; Clardy, J. An Unprecedented Triisocyano Diterpenoid Antibiotic from a Sponge. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1984**, *106*, 7981–7983. (185) Wright, A. D.; Lang-Unnasch, N. Diterpene Formamides from the Tropical Marine Sponge Cymbastela Hooperi and Their Antimalarial Activity in Vitro. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2009**, *72*, 492–495.

(186) Braekman, J. C.; Daloze, D.; Deneubourg, F.; Huysecom, J.; Vandevyver, G. I-Isocyanoaromadendrane, A New Isonitrile Sesquiterpene from the Sponge Acanthella Acuta. *Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg.* **1987**, *96*, 539–543.

(187) Pais, M.; Fontaine, C.; Lauren, D.; La Barre, S.; Guittet, E. Stylotelline, a New Sesquiterpene Isocyanide from the SpongeStylotella Sp. Application of 2D-NMR in Structure Determination. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1987**, *28*, 1409–1412.

(188) Capon, R. J.; Macleod, J. K. New Isothiocyanate Sesquiterpenes From the Australian Marine Sponge Acanthella Pulcherrima. *Aust. J. Chem.* **1988**, *41*, 979–983.

(189) Ciminiello, P.; Fattorusso, E.; Magno, S.; Mayol, L. New Nitrogenous Sesquiterpenes Based on Alloaromadendrane and Epi-Eudesmane Skeletons from the Marine Sponge Axinellacannabina. *Can. J. Chem.* **1987**, *65*, 518–522.

(190) Mayol, L.; Piccialli, V.; Sica, D. Nitrogenous Sesquiterpenes from the Marine Sponge Acanthella Acuta: Three New Isocyanide-Isothiocyanate Pairs. *Tetrahedron* **1987**, *43*, 5381–5388.

(191) Molinski, T. F.; Faulkner, D. J.; Van Duyne, G. D.; Clardy, J. Three New Diterpene Isonitriles from a Palauan Sponge of the Genus Halichondria. *J. Org. Chem.* **1987**, *52*, 3334–3337.

(192) Fusetani, N.; Wolstenholme, H. J.; Shinoda, K.; Asai, N.; Matsunaga, S.; Onuki, H.; Hirota, H. Two Sesquiterpene Isocyanides and a Sesquiterpene Thiocyanate from the Marine Sponge Acanthella Cf. Cavernosa and the Nudibranch Phyllidia Ocellata. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *33*, 6823–6826.

(193) Sharma, H. A.; Tanaka, J.; Higa, T.; Lithgow, A.; Bernardinelli, G.; Jefford, C. W. Two New Diterpene Isocyanides from a Sponge of the Family Adocidae. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *33*, 1593–1596.

(194) Rodríguez, J.; Nieto, R. M.; Hunter, L. M.; Diaz, M. C.; Crews, P.; Lobkovsky, E.; Clardy, J. Variation among Known Kalihinol and New Kalihinene Diterpenes from the Sponge Acanthella Cavernosa. *Tetrahedron* **1994**, *50*, 11079–11090.

(195) Trimurtulu, G.; Faulkner, D. J. Six New Diterpene Isonitriles from the Sponge Acanthella Cavernosa. *J. Nat. Prod.* **1994**, *57*, 501– 506.

(196) Hirota, H.; Tomono, Y.; Fusetani, N. Terpenoids with Antifouling Activity against Barnacle Larvae from the Marine Sponge Acanthella Cavernosa. *Tetrahedron* **1996**, *52*, 2359–2368.

(197) Wolf, D.; Schmitz, F. J. New Diterpene Isonitriles from the Sponge Phakellia Pulcherrima. J. Nat. Prod. 1998, 61, 1524–1527.

(198) Clark, R. J.; Stapleton, B. L.; Garson, M. J. New Isocyano and Isothiocyanato Terpene Metabolites from the Tropical Marine Sponge Acanthella Cavernosa. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 3071–3076.

(199) Petrichtcheva, N. V.; Duque, C.; Dueñas, A.; Zea, S.; Hara, N.; Fujimoto, Y. New Nitrogenous Eudesmane-Type Compounds Isolated from the Caribbean Sponge Axinyssa Ambrosia. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2002**, *65*, 851–855.

(200) Uy, M. M.; Ohta, S.; Yanai, M.; Ohta, E.; Hirata, T.; Ikegami, S. New Spirocyclic Sesquiterpenes from the Marine Sponge Geodia Exigua. *Tetrahedron* **2003**, *59*, 731–736.

(201) Ciavatta, M. L.; Gavagnin, M.; Manzo, E.; Puliti, R.; Mattia, C. A.; Mazzarella, L.; Cimino, G.; Simpson, J. S.; Garson, M. J. Structural and Stereochemical Revision of Isocyanide and Isothiocyanate Amphilectenes from the Caribbean Marine Sponge Cribochalina Sp. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, *61*, 8049–8053.

(202) Sun, J.-Z.; Chen, K.-S.; Liu, H.-L.; van Soest, R.; Guo, Y.-W. New Epoxy-Substituted Nitrogenous Bisabolene-Type Sesquiterpenes from a Hainan Sponge Axinyssa Sp. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **2010**, *93*, 517– 521.

(203) Ota, K.; Hamamoto, Y.; Eda, W.; Tamura, K.; Sawada, A.; Hoshino, A.; Mitome, H.; Kamaike, K.; Miyaoka, H. Amitorines A and B, Nitrogenous Diterpene Metabolites of Theonella Swinhoei: Isolation, Structure Elucidation, and Asymmetric Synthesis. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2016**, *79*, 996–1004. (204) Yan, X.-H.; Zhu, X.-Z.; Yu, J.-L.; Jin, D.-Z.; Guo, Y.-W.; Mollo, E.; Cimino, G. 3-Oxo-Axisonitrile-3, a New Sesquiterpene Isocyanide from the Chinese Marine Sponge Acanthella Sp. *J. Asian Nat. Prod. Res.* **2006**, *8*, 579–584.

(205) Compagnone, R. S.; Faulkner, D. J. Metabolites of the Palauan Sponge Axinyssa Aplysinoides. J. Nat. Prod. **1995**, 58, 145–148.

(206) Iengo, A.; Mayol, L.; Santacroce, C. Minor Sesquiterpenoids from the Sponge Axinella Cannabina. *Experientia* **1977**, *33*, 11–12.

(207) Prawat, H.; Mahidol, C.; Wittayalai, S.; Intachote, P.; Kanchanapoom, T.; Ruchirawat, S. Nitrogenous Sesquiterpenes from the Thai Marine Sponge Halichondria Sp. *Tetrahedron* **2011**, *67*, 5651–5655.

(208) Sun, J.-Z.; Chen, K.-S.; Yao, L.; Liu, H.-L.; Guo, Y.-W. A New Kalihinol Diterpene from the Hainan Sponge Acanthella Sp. Arch. Pharmacal Res. 2009, 32, 1581–1584.

(209) König, G. M.; Wright, A. D.; Sticher, O.; Angerhofer, C. K.; Pezzuto, J. M. Biological Activities of Selected Marine Natural Products. *Planta Med.* **1994**, *60*, 532–537.

(210) Pham, A. T.; Ichiba, T.; Yoshida, W. Y.; Scheuer, P. J.; Uchida, T.; Tanaka, J.; Higa, T. Two Marine Sesquiterpene Thiocyanates. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1991**, *32*, 4843–4846.

(211) König, G. M.; Wright, A. D.; Franzblau, S. G. Assessment of Antimycobacterial Activity of a Series of Mainly Marine Derived Natural Products. *Planta Med.* **2000**, *66*, 337–342.

(212) Angerhofer, C. K.; Pezzuto, J. M.; König, G. M.; Wright, A. D.; Sticher, O. Antimalarial Activity of Sesquiterpenes from the Marine Sponge Acanthella Klethra. *J. Nat. Prod.* **1992**, *55*, 1787–1789.

(213) Ohta, E.; Uy, M. M.; Ohta, S.; Yanai, M.; Hirata, T.; Ikegami, S. Anti-Fertilization Activity of a Spirocyclic Sesquiterpene Isocyanide Isolated from the Marine Sponge Geodia Exigua and Related Compounds. *Biosci., Biotechnol., Biochem.* **2008**, *72*, 1764–1771.

(214) Ishiyama, H.; Hashimoto, A.; Fromont, J.; Hoshino, Y.; Mikami, Y.; Kobayashi, J. Halichonadins A-D, New Sesquiterpenoids from a Sponge Halichondria Sp. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, *61*, 1101–1105.

(215) Ishiyama, H.; Kozawa, S.; Aoyama, K.; Mikami, Y.; Fromont, J.; Kobayashi, J. Halichonadin F and the Cu(I) Complex of Halichonadin C from the Sponge Halichondria Sp. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2008**, *71*, 1301–1303.

(216) Li, C.-J.; Schmitz, F. J.; Kelly-Borges, M. A New Lysine Derivative and New 3-Bromopyrrole Carboxylic Acid Derivative from Two Marine Sponges. *J. Nat. Prod.* **1998**, *61*, 387–389.

(217) Nogata, Y.; Yoshimura, E.; Shinshima, K.; Kitano, Y.; Sakaguchi, I. Antifouling Substances Against Larvae of the Barnacle Balanus Amphitrite from the Marine Sponge, Acanthella Cavernosa. *Biofouling* **2003**, *19*, 193–196.

(218) Nishikawa, K.; Nakahara, H.; Shirokura, Y.; Nogata, Y.; Yoshimura, E.; Umezawa, T.; Okino, T.; Matsuda, F. Total Synthesis of 10-Isocyano-4-Cadinene and Its Stereoisomers and Evaluations of Antifouling Activities. *J. Org. Chem.* **2011**, *76*, 6558–6573.

(219) Daub, M. E.; Prudhomme, J.; Ben Mamoun, C.; Le Roch, K. G.; Vanderwal, C. D. Antimalarial Properties of Simplified Kalihinol Analogues. *ACS Med. Chem. Lett.* **2017**, *8*, 355–360.

(220) Hirota, H.; Okino, T.; Yoshimura, E.; Fusetani, N. Five New Antifouling Sesquiterpenes from Two Marine Sponges of the Genus Axinyssa and the Nudibranch Phyllidia Pustulosa. *Tetrahedron* **1998**, *54*, 13971–13980.

(221) Prawat, H.; Mahidol, C.; Kaweetripob, W.; Prachyawarakorn, V.; Tuntiwachwuttikul, P.; Ruchirawat, S. Sesquiterpene Isocyanides, Isothiocyanates, Thiocyanates, and Formamides from the Thai Sponge Halichondria Sp. *Tetrahedron* **2016**, *72*, 4222–4229.

(222) Tada, H.; Tozyo, T.; Shiro, M. A New Isocyanide from a Sponge. Is the Formamide a Natural Product? *J. Org. Chem.* **1988**, *53*, 3366–3368.

(223) Yang, L. H.; Lee, O. O.; Jin, T.; Li, X. C.; Qian, P. Y. Antifouling Properties of 10beta-Formamidokalihinol-A and Kalihinol A Isolated from the Marine Sponge Acanthella Cavernosa. *Biofouling* **2006**, *22*, 23–32.

(224) Okino, T.; Yoshimura, E.; Hirota, H.; Fusetani, N. Antifouling Kalihinenes from the Marine Sponge Acanthella Cavernosa. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, *36*, 8637–8640.

(225) Okino, T.; Yoshimura, E.; Hirota, H.; Fusetani, N. New Antifouling Kalihipyrans from the Marine Sponge Acanthella Cavernosa. J. Nat. Prod. **1996**, 59, 1081–1083.

(226) Ohta, E.; Ohta, S.; Hongo, T.; Hamaguchi, Y.; Andoh, T.; Shioda, M.; Ikegami, S. Inhibition of Chromosome Separation in Fertilized Starfish Eggs by Kalihinol F, a Topoisomerase I Inhibitor Obtained from a Marine Sponge. *Biosci., Biotechnol., Biochem.* **2003**, 67, 2365–2372.

(227) Xu, Y.; Lang, J.-H.; Jiao, W.-H.; Wang, R.-P.; Peng, Y.; Song, S.-J.; Zhang, B.-H.; Lin, H.-W. Formamido-Diterpenes from the South China Sea Sponge Acanthella Cavernosa. *Mar. Drugs* **2012**, *10*, 1445–1458.

(228) Fusetani, N.; Yasumuro, K.; Kawai, H.; Natori, T.; Brinen, L.; Clardy, J. Kalihinene and Isokalihinol B, Cytotoxic Diterpene Isonitriles from the Marine Sponge Acanthella Klethra. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 3599–3602.

(229) Bugni, T. S.; Singh, M. P.; Chen, L.; Arias, D. A.; Harper, M. K.; Greenstein, M.; Maiese, W. M.; Concepción, G. P.; Mangalindan, G. C.; Ireland, C. M. Kalihinols from Two Acanthella Cavernosa Sponges: Inhibitors of Bacterial Folate Biosynthesis. *Tetrahedron* **2004**, *60*, 6981–6988.

(230) Sandoval, I. T.; Manos, E. J.; Van Wagoner, R. M.; Delacruz, R. G. C.; Edes, K.; Winge, D. R.; Ireland, C. M.; Jones, D. A. Juxtaposition of Chemical and Mutation-Induced Developmental Defects in Zebrafish Reveal a Copper-Chelating Activity for Kalihinol F. *Chem. Biol.* **2013**, *20*, 753–763.

(231) Zubía, E.; Ortega, M. J.; Carballo, J. L. Sesquiterpenes from the Sponge Axinyssa Isabela. J. Nat. Prod. 2008, 71, 2004–2010.

(232) Wu, Q.; Chen, W.-T.; Li, S.-W.; Ye, J.-Y.; Huan, X.-J.; Gavagnin, M.; Yao, L.-G.; Wang, H.; Miao, Z.-H.; Li, X.-W.; Guo, Y.-W. Cytotoxic Nitrogenous Terpenoids from Two South China Sea Nudibranchs Phyllidiella Pustulosa, Phyllidia Coelestis, and Their Sponge-Prey Acanthella Cavernosa. *Mar. Drugs* **2019**, *17*, 56.

(233) Gulavita, N. K.; De Silva, E. D.; Hagadone, M. R.; Karuso, P.; Scheuer, P. J.; Van Duyne, G. D.; Clardy, J. Nitrogenous Bisabolene Sesquiterpenes from Marine Invertebrates. *J. Org. Chem.* **1986**, *51*, 5136–5139.

(234) White, A. M.; Dao, K.; Vrubliauskas, D.; Könst, Z. A.; Pierens, G. K.; Mándi, A.; Andrews, K. T.; Skinner-Adams, T. S.; Clarke, M. E.; Narbutas, P. T.; Sim, D. C.-M.; Cheney, K. L.; Kurtán, T.; Garson, M. J.; Vanderwal, C. D. Catalyst-Controlled Stereoselective Synthesis Secures the Structure of the Antimalarial Isocyanoterpene Pustulosaisonitrile-1. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 82, 13313–13323.

(235) Avilés, E.; Rodríguez, A. D.; Vicente, J. Two Rare-Class Tricyclic Diterpenes with Antitubercular Activity from the Caribbean Sponge Svenzea Flava. Application of Vibrational Circular Dichroism Spectroscopy for Determining Absolute Configuration. *J. Org. Chem.* **2013**, 78, 11294–11301.

(236) Mitome, H.; Shirato, N.; Miyaoka, H.; Yamada, Y.; van Soest, R. W. M. Terpene Isocyanides, Isocyanates, and Isothiocyanates from the Okinawan Marine Sponge Stylissa Sp. J. Nat. Prod. 2004, 67, 833–837.

(237) Mayer, A. M. S.; Avilés, E.; Rodríguez, A. D. Marine Sponge Hymeniacidon Sp. Amphilectane Metabolites Potently Inhibit Rat Brain Microglia Thromboxane B2 Generation. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2012**, 20, 279–282.

(238) Carbone, M.; Ciavatta, M. L.; Manzo, E.; Li, X.-L.; Mollo, E.; Mudianta, I. W.; Guo, Y.-W.; Gavagnin, M. Amphilectene Diterpene Isonitriles and Formamido Derivatives from the Hainan Nudibranch Phyllidia Coelestis. *Mar. Drugs* **2019**, *17*, 603.

(239) Ciavatta, M. L.; Fontana, A.; Puliti, R.; Scognamiglio, G.; Cimino, G. Structures and Absolute Stereochemistry of Isocyanide and Isothiocyanate Amphilectenes from the Caribbean Sponge Cribochalina Sp. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 12629–12636. (240) König, G. M.; Wright, A. D.; Franzblau, S. G. Assessment of Antimycobacterial Activity of a Series of Mainly Marine Derived Natural Products. *Planta Med.* **2000**, *66*, 337–342.

(241) König, G. M.; Wright, A. D.; Angerhofer, C. K. Novel Potent Antimalarial Diterpene Isocyanates, Isothiocyanates, and Isonitriles from the Tropical Marine Sponge Cymbastela Hooperi. *J. Org. Chem.* **1996**, *61*, 3259–3267.

(242) Nieves, K.; Prudhomme, J.; Le Roch, K. G.; Franzblau, S. G.; Rodríguez, A. D. Natural Product-Based Synthesis of Novel Anti-Infective Isothiocyanate- and Isoselenocyanate-Functionalized Amphilectane Diterpenes. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2016**, *26*, 854–857.

(243) Pierluissi, A. D. R.; Merced, K. N. Natural Product-Based Synthesis of Novel Anti-Infective Isothiocyanate- and Isoselenocyanate-Functionalized Amphilectane Diterpenes. US 10173974 B1, January 8, 2019.

(244) Longley, R. E.; McConnell, O. J.; Essich, E.; Harmody, D. Evaluation of Marine Sponge Metabolites for Cytotoxicity and Signal Transduction Activity. *J. Nat. Prod.* **1993**, *56*, 915–920.

(245) Laurent, D.; Pietra, F. Antiplasmodial Marine Natural Products in the Perspective of Current Chemotherapy and Prevention of Malaria. A Review. *Mar. Biotechnol.* **2006**, *8*, 433–447.

(246) Wright, A. D.; McCluskey, A.; Robertson, M. J.; MacGregor, K. A.; Gordon, C. P.; Guenther, J. Anti-Malarial, Anti-Algal, Anti-Tubercular, Anti-Bacterial, Anti-Photosynthetic, and Anti-Fouling Activity of Diterpene and Diterpene Isonitriles from the Tropical Marine Sponge Cymbastela Hooperi. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2011**, *9*, 400–407.

(247) Karns, A. S.; Ellis, B. D.; Roosen, P. C.; Chahine, Z.; Le Roch, K. G.; Vanderwal, C. D. Concise Synthesis of the Antiplasmodial Isocyanoterpene 7,20-Diisocyanoadociane. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2019**, 58, 13749–13752.

(248) Lamoral-Theys, D.; Fattorusso, E.; Mangoni, A.; Perinu, C.; Kiss, R.; Costantino, V. Evaluation of the Antiproliferative Activity of Diterpene Isonitriles from the Sponge Pseudoaxinella Flava in Apoptosis-Sensitive and Apoptosis-Resistant Cancer Cell Lines. J. Nat. Prod. 2011, 74, 2299–2303.

(249) Wright, A. D.; Wang, H.; Gurrath, M.; König, G. M.; Kocak, G.; Neumann, G.; Loria, P.; Foley, M.; Tilley, L. Inhibition of Heme Detoxification Processes Underlies the Antimalarial Activity of Terpene Isonitrile Compounds from Marine Sponges. *J. Med. Chem.* **2001**, *44*, 873–885.

(250) Go, M.-L. Novel Antiplasmodial Agents. Med. Res. Rev. 2003, 23, 456-487.

(251) Young, R. M.; Adendorff, M. R.; Wright, A. D.; Davies-Coleman, M. T. Antiplasmodial Activity: The First Proof of Inhibition of Heme Crystallization by Marine Isonitriles. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **2015**, *93*, 373–380.

(252) Lu, H.-H.; Pronin, S. V.; Antonova-Koch, Y.; Meister, S.; Winzeler, E. A.; Shenvi, R. A. Synthesis of (+)-7,20-Diisocyanoadociane and Liver-Stage Antiplasmodial Activity of the Isocyanoterpene Class. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2016**, 138, 7268–7271.

(253) Avilés, E.; Rodríguez, A. D. Monamphilectine A, a Potent Antimalarial β -Lactam from Marine Sponge Hymeniacidon Sp: Isolation, Structure, Semisynthesis, and Bioactivity. *Org. Lett.* **2010**, *12*, 5290–5293.

(254) Avilés, E.; Prudhomme, J.; Le Roch, K. G.; Rodríguez, A. D. Structures, Semisyntheses, and Absolute Configurations of the Antiplasmodial α -Substituted β -Lactam Monamphilectines B and C from the Sponge Svenzea Flava. *Tetrahedron* **2015**, *71*, 487–494.

(255) Avilés, E.; Prudhomme, J.; Le Roch, K. G.; Franzblau, S. G.; Chandrasena, K.; Mayer, A. M. S.; Rodríguez, A. D. Synthesis and Preliminary Biological Evaluation of a Small Library of Hybrid Compounds Based on Ugi Isocyanide Multicomponent Reactions with a Marine Natural Product Scaffold. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2015**, *25*, 5339–5343.

(256) Burreson, B. J.; Scheuer, P. J. Isolation of a Diterpenoid Isonitrile from a Marine Sponge. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1974, 1035–1036. (257) Takada, K.; Imamura, N.; Gustafson, K. R.; Henrich, C. J. Synthesis and Structure-Activity Relationship of Botryllamides That Block the ABCG2Multidrug Transporter. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2010**, *20*, 1330–1333.

(258) Henrich, C. J.; Robey, R. W.; Takada, K.; Bokesch, H. R.; Bates, S. E.; Shukla, S.; Ambudkar, S. V.; McMahon, J. B.; Gustafson, K. R. Botryllamides: Natural Product Inhibitors of ABCG2. ACS Chem. Biol. **2009**, *4*, 637–647.

(259) White, A. M.; Pierens, G. K.; Skinner-Adams, T.; Andrews, K. T.; Bernhardt, P. V.; Krenske, E. H.; Mollo, E.; Garson, M. J. Antimalarial Isocyano and Isothiocyanato Sesquiterpenes with Triand Bicyclic Skeletons from the Nudibranch Phyllidia Ocellata. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2015**, 78 (6), 1422–1427.

(260) Maimone, T. J.; Ishihara, Y.; Baran, P. S. Scalable Total Syntheses of (–)-Hapalindole U and (+)-Ambiguine H. *Tetrahedron* **2015**, 71, 3652–3665.

(261) Davis, D. C.; Mohammad, H.; Kyei-Baffour, K.; Younis, W.; Creemer, C. N.; Seleem, M. N.; Dai, M. Discovery and Characterization of Aryl Isonitriles as a New Class of Compounds versus Methicillin- and Vancomycin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **2015**, *101*, 384–390.

(262) Kyei-Baffour, K.; Mohammad, H.; Seleem, M. N.; Dai, M. Second-Generation Aryl Isonitrile Compounds Targeting Multidrug-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2019, 27, 1845–1854.

(263) Mohammad, H.; Kyei-Baffour, K.; Abutaleb, N. S.; Dai, M.; Seleem, M. N. An Aryl Isonitrile Compound with an Improved Physicochemical Profile That Is Effective in Two Mouse Models of Multidrug-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus Infection. J. Glob. Antimicrob. Resist. 2019, 19, 1–7.

(264) Mohammad, H.; Kyei-Baffour, K.; Younis, W.; Davis, D. C.; Eldesouky, H.; Seleem, M. N.; Dai, M. Investigation of Aryl Isonitrile Compounds with Potent, Broad-Spectrum Antifungal Activity. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2017**, *25*, 2926–2931.

(265) Kyei-Baffour, K.; Seleem, M.; Dai, M.; Mohammad, H. T. Aryl Isonitrile Compounds as a New Class of Potent, Broad-Spectrum Antifungal Compounds. US 20170181997 A1, June 29, 2017.

(266) Yamada, A.; Kitamura, H.; Yamaguchi, K.; Fukuzawa, S.; Kamijima, C.; Yazawa, K.; Kuramoto, M.; Wang, G.-Y.-S.; Fujitani, Y.; Uemura, D. Development of Chemical Substances Regulating Biofilm Formation. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1997**, *70*, 3061–3069.

(267) Leusen, A. M. V.; Akkerboom, P. J. Isocyanoalkenes, Process and Useful Intermediates for Their Preparation, Pharmaceutical and Fungicidal Preparations Containing Those Isocyanoalkenes and the Use of the Fungicidal Preparations in Agriculture. EP 0007672 A1, February 6, 1980.

(268) Singh, C.; Srivastav, N. C.; Puri, S. K. In Vivo Active Antimalarial Isonitriles. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2002, 12, 2277–2279.

(269) Schwarz, O.; Brun, R.; Bats, J. W.; Schmalz, H.-G. Synthesis and Biological Evaluation of New Antimalarial Isonitriles Related to Marine Diterpenoids. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 1009–1013.

(270) Kyei-Baffour, K.; Davis, D. C.; Boskovic, Z.; Kato, N.; Dai, M. Natural Product-Inspired Aryl Isonitriles as a New Class of Antimalarial Compounds against Drug-Resistant Parasites. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2020**, *28*, 115678.

(271) Wu, S.; Huang, J.; Gazzarrini, S.; He, S.; Chen, L.; Li, J.; Xing, L.; Li, C.; Chen, L.; Neochoritis, C. G.; Liao, G. P.; Zhou, H.; Dömling, A.; Moroni, A.; Wang, W. Isocyanides as Influenza A Virus Subtype H5N1 Wild-Type M2 Channel Inhibitors. *ChemMedChem* **2015**, *10*, 1837–1845.

(272) Faraj, A.; Maillard, M.; Lemaître, M.; Letellier, S.; Frappier, F.; Florent, J.; Grierson, D.; Monneret, C.; Zerial, A. Synthesis and Evaluation of New 2',3'-Dideoxynucleoside Analogs as Potential Anti-AIDS and Anti-Herpes Drugs. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **1992**, *27*, 141–148.

(273) Maillard, M.; Faraj, A.; Frappier, F.; Florent, J.-C.; Grierson, D. S.; Monneret, C. Synthesis of 3'-Substituted-2',3'-Dideoxynucleoside Analogs as Potential Anti-Aids Drugs. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, *30*, 1955–1958.

(274) Hiebl, J.; Zbiral, E.; Balzarini, J.; De Clercq, E. Synthesis, Antiretrovirus Effects and Phosphorylation Kinetics of 3'-Isocyano-3'-Deoxythymidine and 3'-Isocyano-2',3'-Dideoxyuridine. *J. Med. Chem.* **1990**, 33, 845–848.

(275) Hiebl, J.; Zbiral, E.; Balzarini, J.; De Clercq, E. Synthesis and Antiretrovirus Properties of 5'-Isocyano-5'-Deoxythymidine,5'-Isocyano-2',5'-Dideoxyuridine,3'-Azido-5'-Isocyano-3',5'-Dideoxythymidine, and 3'-Azido-5'-Isocyano-2',3',5'-Trideoxyuridine. *J. Med. Chem.* **1991**, *34*, 1426–1430.

(276) Matsuda, A.; Dan, A.; Minakawa, N.; Tregear, S. J.; Okazaki, S.; Sugimoto, Y.; Sasaki, T. Nucleosides and Nucleotides. 123. Synthesis of 1-(2-Deoxy-2-Isocyano-Beta-D-Arabinofuranosyl)-Cytosine and Related Nucleosides as Potential Antitumor Agents. *J. Med. Chem.* **1993**, *36*, 4190–4194.

(277) Takiguchi, K.; Yamada, K.; Suzuki, M.; Nunami, K.; Hayashi, K.; Matsumoto, K. Antifungal Activities of α -Isocyanoacetanilides. *Agric. Biol. Chem.* **1989**, *53*, 69–76.

(278) Takiguchi, K.; Yamada, K.; Suzuki, M.; Nunami, K.; Hayashi, K.; Matsumoto, K. Antifungal Activities of α -Isocyano- β -Phenyl-propionamides. *Agric. Biol. Chem.* **1989**, *53*, 77–82.

(279) Kapteyn, J. C.; Milling, R. J.; Simpson, D. J.; De Waard, M. A. Inhibition of Sterol Biosynthesis in Cell-Free Extracts of Botrytis Cinerea by Prochloraz and Prochloraz Analogues. *Pestic. Sci.* **1994**, *40*, 313–319.

(280) Ulrich, E.; Ivar, U.; Ingeborg, H.; Gunter, U. Xenyl-Alkyl Isonitriles. US 3405160 A, October 8, 1968.

(281) Booth, D. L. Isocyanophenyl Carbamates. US 3952106 A, April 20, 1976.

(282) Eholzer, U.; Ugi, I.; Hammann, I. Biocidal Quaternary Ammonium Salts with Isonitrile Groups. BE 671557 A, February 14, 1966.

(283) Bussert, J. F. Compositions and Methods Employing Insecticidal Oil Soluble Organic Carbylamines. US 3012932 A, December 12, 1961.

(284) Imoto, M.; Isshika, K.; Takeuchi, T.; Tatsuta, K.; Umezawa, H. Physiologically Active Erbstatin Analogue Compounds and Compositions. US 4925877 A, May 15, 1990.

(285) Choudhary, M. I.; Haq, Z.-U.; Shaikh, N. N.; Yousuf, M. Insilico Based Techniques in the Identification of Potent ßglucoronidase Inhibitors. US 2017009272 A1, January 12, 2017.

(286) Chupp, J. P. Isocyanoacylamides. US 4098600 A, July 4, 1978. (287) Matsumoto, K.; Suzuki, M.; Nunami, K.; Yoneda, N.;

Takiguchi, K. Syntheses and Biological Activities of α -Isocyanoacetic Acid Derivatives. Bull. Inst. Chem. Res. Kyoto Univ. **1983**, 61, 79–88.

(288) Schroeder, R. D.; Luerssen, K. D. Mittel zur regulierung des pflanzenwachstums. DE 2751782 A1, May 23, 1979.

(289) Schroeder, R. D.; Luerssen, K. D. Alpha-isocyanocarbonsaeure-salze, verfahren zu ihrer herstellung und ihre verwendung als pflanzenwachstumsregulatoren. DE 2751783 A1, May 23, 1979.

(290) Nunami, K.-I.; Suzuki, M.; Hayashi, K.; Matsumoto, K.; Yoneda, N.; Kazuo, T. Synthesis and Herbicidal Activities of α -Isocyanocycloalkylideneacetamides. *Agric. Biol. Chem.* **1985**, *49*, 3023–3028.

(291) Nunami, K.-I.; Suzuki, M.; Matsumoto, K.; Yoneda, N.; Takiguchi, K. Syntheses and Biological Activities of Isonitrile Dipeptides. *Agric. Biol. Chem.* **1984**, *48*, 1073–1075.

(292) Fusetani, N.; Hiroto, H.; Okino, T.; Tomono, Y.; Yoshimura, E. Antifouling Activity of Isocyanoterpenoids and Related Compounds Isolated from a Marine Sponge and Nudibranchs. *J. Nat. Toxins* **1996**, *5*, 249–259.

(293) Kitano, Y.; Yokoyama, A.; Nogata, Y.; Shinshima, K.; Yoshimura, E.; Chiba, K.; Tada, M.; Sakaguchi, I. Synthesis and Anti-Barnacle Activities of Novel 3-Isocyanotheonellin Analogues. *Biofouling* **2003**, *19*, 187–192.

(294) Kitano, Y.; Ito, T.; Suzuki, T.; Nogata, Y.; Shinshima, K.; Yoshimura, E.; Chiba, K.; Tada, M.; Sakaguchi, I. Synthesis and Antifouling Activity of 3-Isocyanotheonellin and Its Analogues. *J. Chem. Soc. Perkin 1* 2002, 2251–2255. (295) Nogata, Y.; Kitano, Y.; Yoshimura, E.; Shinshima, K.; Sakaguchi, I. Antifouling Activity of Simple Synthetic Isocyanides against Larvae of the Barnacle Balanus Amphitrite. *Biofouling* **2004**, *20*, 87–91.

(296) Kitano, Y.; Nogata, Y.; Matsumura, K.; Yoshimura, E.; Chiba, K.; Tada, M.; Sakaguchi, I. Design and Synthesis of Anti-Barnacle Active Fluorescence-Labeled Probe Compounds and Direct Observation of the Target Region in Barnacle Cypris Larvae for Dimethyl-Isocyanoalkyl Compounds. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, *61*, 9969–9973.

(297) Kitano, Y.; Akima, C.; Yoshimura, E.; Nogata, Y. Anti-Barnacle Activity of Novel Simple Alkyl Isocyanides Derived from Citronellol. *Biofouling* **2011**, *27*, 201–205.

(298) Zhang, Y.-F.; Kitano, Y.; Nogata, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Qian, P.-Y. The Mode of Action of Isocyanide in Three Aquatic Organisms, Balanus Amphitrite, Bugula Neritina and Danio Rerio. *PLoS One* **2012**, 7, No. e45442.

(299) Eguchi, K.; Ohira, A.; Kitano, Y.; Kuramata, K. Marine Sessile Organism-Repelling Composition. US 20190161439, May 30, 2019.

(300) Fukuda, T.; Wagatsuma, H.; Kominami, Y.; Nogata, Y.; Yoshimura, E.; Chiba, K.; Kitano, Y. Anti-Barnacle Activity of Isocyanides Derived from Amino Acids. *Chem. Biodiversity* **2016**, *13*, 1502–1510.

(301) Inoue, Y.; Takashima, S.; Nogata, Y.; Yoshimura, E.; Chiba, K.; Kitano, Y. Isocyanides Derived from α,α -Disubstituted Amino Acids: Synthesis and Antifouling Activity Assessment. *Chem. Biodiversity* **2018**, *15* (3), No. e1700571.

(302) Umezawa, T.; Hasegawa, Y.; Novita, I. S.; Suzuki, J.; Morozumi, T.; Nogata, Y.; Yoshimura, E.; Matsuda, F. Design, Synthesis, and Antifouling Activity of Glucosamine-Based Isocyanides. *Mar. Drugs* **2017**, *15* (7), 203.

(303) Olson, J. S.; McKinnie, R. E.; Mims, M. P.; White, D. K. Mechanisms of Ligand Binding to Pentacoordinate Protoheme. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1983**, 105, 1522–1527.

(304) Kimmerle, G.; Lorke, D.; Machemer, L. Inhalationstoxikologische Untersuchungen mit tertiärem Butylisonitril an Ratten und Mäusen. *Arch. Toxicol.* **1975**, 33, 241–250.

(305) George, R. C. C. S.; Pauling, L. The Combining Power of Hemoglobin for Alkyl Isocyanides, and the Nature of the Heme-Heme Interactions in Hemoglobin. *Science* **1951**, *114*, 629–634.

(306) Lein, A.; Pauling, L. The Combining Power of Myoglobin for Alkyl Isocyanides and the Structure of the Myoglobin Molecule. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1956**, 42, 51–54.

(307) Gilman, J. G. Carbon-13 Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Study of the Motional Behavior of Ethyl Isocyanide Bound to Myoglobin and Hemoglobin. *Biochemistry* **1979**, *18*, 2273–2279.

(308) Rang, H.; Kann, J.; Bellott, E. M. Isonitriles (Isocyanides) as Model Compounds in the Investigation of the Reaction Mechanism and Kinetics of the Ligands with Heme Iron in Hemoglobins, Myoglobins, and Cytochromes. *Proc. Est. Acad. Sci.* **1998**, *47*, 128– 140.

(309) Reisberg, P. I.; Olson, J. S. Rates of Isonitrile Binding to the Isolated Alpha and Beta Subunits of Human Hemoglobin. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1980**, 255, 4151–4158.

(310) Wood, M. A.; Dickinson, K.; Willey, G. R.; Dodd, G. H. Binding of Aromatic Isonitriles to Haemoglobin and Myoglobin. *Biochem. J.* **1987**, 247, 675–678.

(311) Traylor, T. G.; Stynes, D. V. Isocyanide Binding to Chelated Protoheme. Kinetic Criteria for Distal Steric Effects in Hemoproteins. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1980**, *102*, 5938–5939.

(312) Mims, M. P.; Porras, A. G.; Olson, J. S.; Noble, R. W.; Peterson, J. A. Ligand Binding to Heme Proteins. An Evaluation of Distal Effects. J. Biol. Chem. **1983**, 258, 14219–14232.

(313) Blouin, G. C.; Schweers, R. L.; Olson, J. S. Alkyl Isocyanides Serve as Transition State Analogues for Ligand Entry and Exit in Myoglobin. *Biochemistry* **2010**, *49*, 4987–4997.

(314) Smith, R. D. Correlations between Bound N-Alkyl Isocyanide Orientations and Pathways for Ligand Binding in Recombinant Myoglobins, Thesis, 1999. (315) Imai, Y.; Sato, R. Behavior of Two States of the Ethyl Isocyanide Compound of Reduced P-450 in Oxidation-Reduction Cycle. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) **1968**, 63, 370–379.

(316) Imai, Y.; Sato, R. Dual Effect of Ethyl Isocyanide on Drug Hydroxylation by Liver Microsomes. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) **1968**, 63, 380–389.

(317) Ichikawa, Y.; Yamano, T. The Electron Spin Resonance and Absorption Spectra of Microsomal Cytochrome P-450 and Its Isocyanide Complexes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Bioenerg.* **1968**, *153*, 753–765.

(318) Wood, E. J.; Bannister, W. H. Reaction of Ethyl Isocyanide with Haemocyanin. *Nature* **1967**, *215*, 1091.

(319) Shima, S.; Ataka, K. Isocyanides Inhibit [Fe]-Hydrogenase with Very High Affinity. *FEBS Lett.* **2011**, *585*, 353–356.

(320) Rubinson, J. F.; Corbin, J. L.; Burgess, B. K. Nitrogenase Reactivity: Methyl Isocyanide as Substrate and Inhibitor. *Biochemistry* **1983**, *22*, 6260–6268.

(321) Kumar, M.; Ragsdale, S. W. N-Butyl Isocyanide: A Structural and Functional Analog of Carbon Monoxide for Carbon Monoxide Dehydrogenase from Clostridium Thermoaceticum. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1995**, *117*, 11604–11605.

(322) Sono, M. Spectroscopic and Equilibrium Studies of Ligand and Organic Substrate Binding to Indolamine 2,3-Dioxygenase. *Biochemistry* **1990**, *29*, 1451–1460.

(323) Reedy, B. J.; Murthy, N. N.; Karlin, K. D.; Blackburn, N. J. Isocyanides as Ligand-Directed Indicators of Cu(I) Coordination in Copper Proteins. Probing the Inequivalence of the Cu(I) Centers in Reduced Dopamine-. Beta.-Monooxygenase. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1995**, 117, 9826–9831.

(324) Vadon-Le Goff, S.; Delaforge, M.; Boucher, J.-L.; Janosik, M.; Kraus, J. P.; Mansuy, D. Coordination Chemistry of the Heme in Cystathionine β -Synthase: Formation of Iron(II)-Isonitrile Complexes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2001**, 283, 487–492.

(325) Rhames, F. C.; Murthy, N. N.; Karlin, K. D.; Blackburn, N. J. Isocyanide Binding to the Copper(I) Centers of the Catalytic Core of Peptidylglycine Monooxygenase (PHMcc). *JBIC, J. Biol. Inorg. Chem.* **2001**, *6*, 567–577.

(326) Derbyshire, E. R.; Marletta, M. A. Butyl Isocyanide as a Probe of the Activation Mechanism of Soluble Guanylate Cyclase. J. Biol. Chem. 2007, 282, 35741–35748.

(327) Evans, J. P.; Kandel, S.; Ortiz de Montellano, P. R. Isocyanides Inhibit Human Heme Oxygenases at the Verdoheme Stage. *Biochemistry* **2009**, *48*, 8920–8928.

(328) Tamura, H.; Salomone-Stagni, M.; Fujishiro, T.; Warkentin, E.; Meyer-Klaucke, W.; Ermler, U.; Shima, S. Crystal Structures of [Fe]-Hydrogenase in Complex with Inhibitory Isocyanides: Implications for the H2-Activation Site. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 9656–9659.

(329) Holmer, S. A.; Houlton, C. L.; David Westmoreland, T. A New Irreversibly Inhibited Form of Xanthine Oxidase from Ethylisonitrile. *J. Inorg. Biochem.* **1997**, *66*, 63–65.

(330) Taniguchi, S.; Hoshita, N.; Okuda, K. Enzymatic Characteristics of CO-Sensitive 26-Hydroxylase System for 5β -Cholestane- 3α , 7α , 12α -Triol in Rat-Liver Mitochondria and Its Intramitochondrial Localization. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1973**, 40, 607–617.

(331) Rubinow, S. C.; Kassner, R. J. Cytochromes c' in Their Reaction with Ethyl Isocyanide. *Biochemistry* **1984**, *23*, 2590–2595.

(332) Patel, M. J.; Kassner, R. J.; Meyer, T. E.; Cusanovich, M. A. Steric and Hydrophobic Effects in Alkyl Isocyanide Binding to Rhodospirillum Molischianum Cytochrome c'. *Biochemistry* **1989**, *28*, 2140–2144.

(333) Suginome, M.; Ito, Y. Three Carbon—Heteroatom Bonds: Nitriles, Isocyanides, and Derivatives. *Science of Synthesis Category 3* **2004**, *19*, 445–530.

(334) Yurino, T.; Ohkuma, T. Nucleophilic Isocyanation. ACS Omega 2020, 5, 4719–4724.

(335) Pronin, S. V.; Reiher, C. A.; Shenvi, R. A. Stereoinversion of Tertiary Alcohols to Tertiary-Alkyl Isonitriles and Amines. *Nature* **2013**, *501*, 195–199.

(336) Kitano, Y.; Chiba, K.; Tada, M. A Direct Conversion of Alcohols to Isocyanides. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 1911–1912.

- (337) Kitano, Y.; Chiba, K.; Tada, M. Highly Efficient Conversion of Alcohols to Isocyanides. *Synthesis* **2001**, *2001*, 0437–0443.
- (338) Okada, I.; Kitano, Y. One-Pot Synthesis of Isocyanides from Alcohols. *Synthesis* 2011, 2011 (24), 3997-4002.
- (339) Rodari, G. The Grammar of Fantasy: An Introduction to the Art of Inventing Stories; Teachers & Writers Collaborative, 1996.